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			FOREWORD

			By Jim Munchel

			When I was asked by William Sanderson to write a foreword for his memoir, I was initially stunned, then flattered. Here, after all, is a man who has worked with many of the most famous and talented people in Hollywood. Bill has created so many memorable roles over the course of almost a half-century, while I have been honored to serve as his admiring friend, fan and comrade.

			In every role that Bill was chosen for, he accepted the challenge, digging into the character and demonstrating uncommon tenacity and intensity. He’s someone who has survived decades in the acting trenches and lived to tell the tale.

			“Uncle Bill,” as my six-year-old son James calls him, has experienced the good, the bad, and on occasion the ugliness of show business. His massive body of work speaks to his ability to persevere in a hugely competitive field.

			From his humble beginnings down South to his nights of bartending and his “salad days” while striving to make a name for himself in an industry notorious for being unforgiving, Bill is an inspiration – eager to go the distance without questioning the outcome.

			The first time I met Bill, I was co-managing a bookstore in Harrisburg, PA. He was accompanied by his wife Sharon, wearing his hat down a bit on his head and pressing a notebook close to his chest. They asked for the AUTOBIOGRAPHY section, to which I escorted them and left them to browse.

			I didn’t initially recognize Bill. But when he spoke, his voice prodded my memory. I figured that I had to be mistaken. You just don’t see guys like him wandering around Harrisburg. But when they approached the counter, I decided to take a chance and ask if he was THE William Sanderson.

			By now, a small group of bookstore associates had gathered around Mr. and Mrs. Bill, and he confirmed my suspicion, explaining that the two of them moved here to be closer to family. It is, after all, Sharon’s hometown.

			I began to see Bill in the store more and more over the course of the next few weeks, each time carrying his notebook, sitting in the café and sipping a cup of coffee. On occasion, I would join him, and we would chat about the store and its stock and about his acting life.

			What struck me during our discussions was that Bill was always more interested in talking about me and my family than he was himself and his career. That’s rare for someone so famed and successful. He was driven by a genuine humility.

			I finally got up the nerve to ask him what was in the notebook.

			“It’s a coloring book,” he quipped with a laugh, before admitting he was scribbling stories and recollections about his life for a possible memoir. Of course, I encouraged him, as he regaled me with amazing tales of his decades in show business.

			This man and the life he has lived completely captivated me. But I imagined that his note-taking might not be the ideal method for documenting his thoughts. So, I decided to buy for Bill a small recording device, so that as the situations and moments in his life came back to him, he could express them and store them instantly without all of the muss and fuss.

			Now that the dust has mostly settled and the smoke has cleared, the life of Bill Sanderson can finally be shared not only with his loyal fans but with anyone who might be inspired to follow his lead and get into the acting profession. I think he would agree that if he could do it, anyone can. That’s the modest kind of guy he is.

			When we sit together and talk, Bill and I have the kind of bond that inspires him to refer to me as “my psychiatrist.” I assume this is because we can discuss things going on in our lives and seek solutions or just some solace that resides deep in both of our souls. The funny thing is, I consider him my psychiatrist as well.

			But that’s the thing with Bill. When you really get to know him, he peers into your heart and allows you to peer into his. We early on moved past the small talk to discuss the bigger issues in a way that proved rather profound and cathartic. It’s the kind of connection that happens only when two guys let down their guard to allow the real stuff to be exchanged.

			They say that what doesn’t kill us makes us stronger, and Bill is the strongest guy I know. He is still standing – sometimes in the ruins of situations he had no control over, other times in debris of his own creation. I know that he has a wild past and did plenty of things he isn’t proud of, which makes for provocative reading in the book you’re about to dig into.

			All I can tell you is that today, Bill Sanderson is the best of men. He has become one of my closest friends, and I tell him all of the time that I am a better man for knowing him.

			Prepare to meet one of the most fascinating fellows you’ll ever encounter. But hang on tight. The ride promises to get a little bumpy.
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			Chapter 1

			MAKING MY CASE IN THE COURT OF POSTERITY

			It’s an overcast, sixty-four-degree morning in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, the place where I’ve called home for the past few months in 2015. I’m taking my daily walk to get the newspaper.

			That’s how old I am. I still like to walk rather than drive everyplace, and I still enjoy reading a paper the old-fashioned way on actual paper instead of a screen. Call me crazy.

			My destination is the Citgo gas station and convenience store a couple of blocks away. That’s where I pick up a copy of the New York Post. I clutch it in my hand as I walk around scanning the shelves in the Citgo, the Hershey bars and the Tasty Kakes and the Utz Honey Barbecue Chips that I never buy.

			The cover of the Post reads, “IT AIN’T OVER ’TIL IT’S OVER,” the famous quote from the great Yankees catcher, Yogi Berra, who died the day before. Usually the cover is about a murder rather than passing by natural causes. This is why tabloids are fun to read; it’s a nice escape. It makes your own life seem pretty good by comparison.

			Anyway, as I’m examining the rows of junk food, I notice that another customer at the counter is staring at me. And staring. And staring some more.

			While it’s unsettling, this isn’t necessarily a strange thing for me. I get recognized a lot from my years working in Hollywood. I’m trying to imagine how the conversation will go after I get to the register.

			Once I arrive, he’s still staring. Not saying anything. So, I plop my Post on the counter and break the ice.

			“Hi.”

			He smiles broadly at me.

			“How ya doin’?” I ask.

			“I know you,” he says loudly and with certainty, wagging his finger.

			I’m thinking the man knows my face from my eight seasons on the CBS comedy series Newhart between 1982 and 1990, where I played Larry, the vocal third of the backwoods brothers Larry, Darryl and Darryl.

			Maybe he recognizes me from the classic 1982 science fiction film Blade Runner, in which I portrayed the toymaker J.F. Sebastian.

			Or perhaps he has seen me on the HBO western Deadwood between 2004 and 2006 that found me playing E.B. Farnum, or on HBO’s vampire series True Blood as the hated Sheriff Bud Dearborne between 2008 and 2010 – with a brief return engagement in 2012.

			He may even know me from one of more than a dozen A&W Root Beer TV commercials in the mid-1980s when I served as the brand’s corporate spokesman.

			The truth is that this guy could have recognized me from any of dozens of films and TV shows over the past nearly forty years.

			As my peerless publicist Lori De Waal once put it, I’ve made my mark playing “simpleminded backwoodsmen and snide n’er-do-wells.” My official website once broke down my career into five sections: Drama Guy, Western Guy, Sci-Fi Guy, Comedic Guy and Disturbed Guy.

			I’ve enjoyed a character acting career that’s blessed me with roles in projects featuring a slew of Oscar-winning actors including Alan Arkin, George Clooney, Jennifer Connelly, Chris Cooper, Patty Duke, Faye Dunaway, Robert Duvall, Clint Eastwood, Jose Ferrer, Helen Hunt, Anjelica Huston, Angelina Jolie, Tommy Lee Jones, George Kennedy, Cloris Leachman, Jack Lemmon, Lee Marvin, Kevin Spacey, Anna Paquin, Susan Sarandon, George C. Scott, Sissy Spacek, Octavia Spencer, Jon Voight, Mira Sorvino, Christopher Walken, Robin Williams and Reese Witherspoon.

			Not that any of them call me.

			I’ve had a chance to work with many of my heroes. It’s all led up to a gas station convenience store in Harrisburg, PA, and this moment with this customer, who assures me, “I know you.”

			“You do?”

			“Yes. (Dramatic pause.) You’re Sharon’s husband!”

			Here we have Exhibit A for why you should never assume.

			I had a great time in Hollywood. But where I am today sits 2,625.2 miles (and honestly light years) away. My wife, who never acted, is recognized just as often as I am, having grown up in Harrisburg. I was raised in Memphis as rock ‘n’ roll was dawning.

			But that’s another story.

			A person is always greater than the sum of his or her public persona. Mine is that of a guy with a heavy Tennessee twang, droopy eyes and stringy hair who has portrayed an enormous collection of eccentrics, oddballs, prairie scumbags, garden variety louts and lowlife hicks. It’s provided me a nice living and paved the way for a comfortable semi-retirement.

			Yet I’ve been forever driven to be known for more than just a collection of journeyman roles. Call it a character flaw or whatever you want, but I have this need to leave behind a legacy. Maybe it’s for my son, Andrew. Maybe it’s for my wife. Maybe it’s for me. Maybe it’s all of the above.

			All I know is that I made my wife’s life a little bit nuts for several years talking about writing a memoir. She finally helped me to tap memories from the dangerous and unreliable organ that is my brain and craft a series of outlines.

			Sharon has also worked with me to organize thoughts and events – first onto index cards, then into lists like “People Who Have Impacted My Life,” “My Ten Most Embarrassing Moments in Hollywood” and “Memorable Things That Happened in Auditions.”

			Another of those lists was “Reasons to Write a Book.” Those included:

			• Vanity.

			• Wife wants me out of her hair.

			• I’m not doing anything else.

			• A great way to dig my own grave.

			After several failed attempts to put the book together myself, however, I finally came to the conclusion that I needed some guidance and that it might make sense to hire a professional with whom to collaborate. So, I did. It turned out to be a good idea, since I really wasn’t sure how to organize my own memories.

			Sorting out the details of my life was harder than I thought.

			Getting serious about doing the book inspired some unexpected things to bubble to the surface. I didn’t, for example, anticipate that revisiting the entirety of my life would stir such raw emotions in me, particularly when recalling childhood experiences with my parents.

			It also caught me somewhat off-guard to realize that I have lived something of a miracle, succeeding at a fairly high level despite often being my own worst enemy.

			My self-destructive impulses as a younger man led to a series of booze-fueled incidents, barroom fights and arrests. I was constantly being bailed out of jams by helpful friends and some sort of divine providence I can’t otherwise explain.

			It’s only been while engaged in the process of writing this that I understood my story may be instructive in demonstrating the power of persistence and fortitude in overcoming oneself. Not to put too self-analytical a spin on it, but I’ve somehow managed to channel my hostility and insecurity into a successful career and, much later, a positive life.

			I suppose this is a long-winded way of admitting I am not a perfect man. Surprised, huh?

			That aside, my journeys through Memphis, New York, Hollywood and elsewhere inspired me to do more than just talk about putting together this book. My adventures in show business have surpassed my dreams by a wide margin. As you traverse these pages, it will become clear how fascinating this voyage has been for me. I’ve had one heck of a lot of fun.

			At the core of it all, however, resides a paradox. As an actor, praise is the fuel that propels me, egomaniac that I am. Yet I have trouble buying into it. The late great Jackie Gleason was so right when he said, “Self-deception thrives in the compost of flattery.” I try always to remember that.

			Another irrefutable truth is that most of us have an almost insatiable need for our lives to matter. A memoir is, to my mind, a perfect means to illustrate the ways in which I made a difference in the world – good, bad and otherwise. It’s a way to announce, “Hey everybody, I was here!”

			Lastly, this memoir is the product of my yearning to be taken seriously.

			Because of my voice and the characters I’ve played, I’ve too often been dismissed as a dumb Southerner by the industry and the public. It’s important to me that people know I’m an educated man with a law degree.

			I take pride in changing up and surpassing expectations.

		

	
		
			Chapter 2

			RIGHT FOR THE ROLE

			New York City – 1976

			I’m late for the audition, dammit. I’m never late. But there was more than the usual traffic heading in to Soho and now, well, shit. I’m screwed. But I can’t be screwed! I’m perfect for this part. This director, Sande Shurin, has to know that. But how do I let her know?

			I’m buzzing and buzzing her number at the front door to her loft. And she’s ignoring me. The goddamned nerve! I’m determined to keep buzzing until she answers. I know she’s got to be in there.

			(Bzzzzzz!) (Bzzzzzzzz!) (Bzzzzzzzzz!) (Bzzzzzzzzzzzzz!) (Buzzzzzzzzzzzzzzzzzzzzzzzz!)

			Finally, “Hello?”

			“Hey, it’s William Sanderson. I’m here for the audition. Let me upstairs, please.”

			“I’m sorry, you’re too late.”

			“I can’t be too late,” I persist. “I’m perfect to play a bum in your play. I’m basically a bum already. I’m your man. Come on, let me in!”

			“Forget it,” Sande says. “You’re too late. Go away.”

			I am not going to take “No” for an answer. 

			“Just let me in!”

			“I said ‘No!’ Go home.”

			There’s more than one way to get into a security building. Fortunately, someone is coming out just then so I push my way inside and bolt upstairs.

			(Knock! Knock! Knock!)

			“Who is it?” asks a male voice through the door. 

			“It’s William Sanderson! Open up!” 

			Through the door: “No. Auditions are over. Sorry.” 

			“Just open the door!” I yell. 

			The door opens. In front of me stands Bruce Levy, whom I will soon learn is Sande Shurin’s husband as well as the play’s producer.

			“As my wife told you, you’re too late,” he informs me. “Kindly leave.”

			I take this as my cue to pop him in the mouth, pretty hard. After attacking Levy, I resume my hard-sell. “Did you not hear me? I said I’m perfect for your damn play. I’m standing here now. Audition me!”

			“OK fine,” Ms. Shurin says with resignation as her husband clutches his face in pain. “You can come in and read if you promise not to hit Bruce again.”

			“It’s a deal,” I agree. Turning to Bruce, I add, “Oh, sorry about punching you. I just had to make sure you shut up about my being late.”

			Bruce simply glares, still holding his mouth.

			So, I read the pages that have been provided. And I nail it, much as I’d just nailed Mr. Levy. No one had bothered to tell me that the term “fighting for the part” isn’t literal in the New York theatre community. Yet I wind up getting the job, anyway.

			It turns out that simple assault is an effective way to persuade directors that you’re right for a role.

			“You’re extraordinary,” Sande tells me, due either to my talent or the fear I might hit her next if she hires somebody else.

			• • •

			Insect Comedy is the name of Sande’s show. We’re playing at a church on Park Avenue in Midtown East. And we’re a smash hit. Diane Keaton – who basically owned Manhattan at the time – comes to see us. Every performance is sold out.

			I play a tramp in the show, a drunk who’s a touch insane. Layers of ragged clothes. A bottle in a paper bag. I channel my inner derelict and essentially inhabit one on the street in my look, my mannerisms, everything.

			At times, I lose a sense of distinction between playing the role and living it. I often spend my free time wearing my tattered costume and lingering on street corners. I’m so believable that people are sufficiently concerned to regularly call the cops.

			“There’s a bum out here who is obviously drunk and harassing people,” barks a woman into a public telephone. “I think you need to send a car.”

			Within minutes, the car is there, and a couple of New York’s finest are rousting me from my spot.

			“Move it along, buddy, or come with us,” one officer tells me. 

			“But I’m in the show,” I insist. 

			“Sure you are, pal. Sure you are.”

			By the time the show closes, not only have I avoided incarceration; I’ve retained my first agent, J. Michael Bloom. I’m on my way, thanks to a well-timed right hand to the jaw.

			I love New York. It’s my kind of town.

		

	
		
			Chapter 3

			BEGINNINGS

			Paducah, Kentucky – 1948

			My first memory is on my grandparents’ tobacco farm. I’m four years old. I call from upstairs, “Can I have a glass of water?”

			My father hollers in a voice that rattles the windows, “Hey Lib, your baby’s yelling! He wants you to let him come suck your tit!”

			It scares me half to death.

			Memphis, Tennessee – 1949

			We live in a one-room attic inside a boarding house at 1104 Court Street. There are three of us staying here – Mom, whom I call Lib (short for Elizabeth), my big brother John, who’s twelve, and me. I’m five. The landlady, Mrs. Fitzgerald, from our church lets us stay here, probably rent-free, because Lib needs some distance from my abusive father, whom I call Milt.

			The only window in the attic is next to where I sleep. There’s no bathroom, no kitchen, not really much of anything except the room and a few beds. When I take a bath, it’s with Mrs. Fitzgerald’s kids.

			I’m just starting school at Springdale Elementary in North Memphis about ten miles away. It’s where Lib teaches third grade. On the way to kindergarten, Lib and I sometimes stop off at the Toddle House to grab waffles with magic syrup. I call it “magic” because you pour it out of a log cabin, and it seems miraculous to me that a mini tin cabin can be turned and produce maple syrup on demand.

			After school, I take a taxi to get home. Mrs. Fitzgerald keeps an eye on me until Lib and John arrive. I love Mrs. Fitzgerald. She’s incredibly kind to all of us. And even though the attic is tiny and cramped, I don’t really mind it at all.

			The three months in that attic will be the last time I feel secure until the day I join the Army.

			We then move to 932 N. Hollywood Street, across from where Lib teaches and I attend kindergarten. But despite the snazzy street name, there isn’t much that’s glamorous about where we live. It’s a $65-a-month apartment that’s sparsely furnished. It keeps a roof over our head but not much else.

			Milt is also back with us now. He has a job doing landscaping and serving as head groundskeeper at Kennedy Veterans Hospital. But he isn’t great about staying employed.

			His chief occupation seems to be terrorizing his wife.

			My father doesn’t allow my mother to drive. So, she’s trapped. We are all scared to death of him, though it’s her who bears the brunt of it. Milt locks Lib out of the house when he feels like it. We know he hits her, though she does her best to shield my brother and me from it.

			One time, though, she can’t. I remember it vividly. Too vividly. Milt calls my mother names I can’t repeat and throws plates of spaghetti, which shatter against the walls of the kitchen. Then he beats her until her eyes are black. Right in front of us.

			For days, Lib has to walk into her third-grade classroom wearing heavy pancake makeup and dark glasses. But everyone knows.

			At least John is with us now. He’s been away for a lot of years living with my grandmother and grandfather on their Kentucky farm, for reasons I’ll never know. He’s seven years older and far taller than I am. And he has my back, if not our mother’s.

			There comes the day when a group of teenage thugs came down to throw bricks onto a giant shed where I’m raking leaves. John rushed outside to investigate.

			“Don’t do that,” he warns the thugs.

			“What are ya gonna do?” taunts one of them.

			“Just stop it.”

			The guys wind up jumping John. One holds onto him while a couple of guys pummel him. All I can do is watch him get the shit kicked out of him – for me.

			Paducah – 1952

			I love it here on my grandparents’ farm. It’s where I spend most of the summer. Papa and Mama Lena are wonderful, generous people, and most of the time, Milt isn’t here yelling at and humiliating Lib.

			There are lakes nearby and a pond on the farm that’s always freshly stocked with fish. Big fields of tobacco. An orchard with apples, pears, strawberries, watermelons and blackberries. Two mules stand in the shade of the trees. There’s a big sandbox to play in. It’s all magical to my eight-year-old eyes.

			A kindly black fellow named Arly is on hand to help out. And dogs, the cocker spaniels Honey and Dusty and a collie named Andy. Of course, they have a tractor as well as one of those old-style wagons.

			Papa takes me fishing on weekends at a big local lake, helping me to bait my hook with worms and minnows. He spends what we now call “quality time” with me, playing Canasta and bringing me surprises every weekend when he comes back from town.

			It makes sense to me now why John lived here for so long. He probably wishes he still did. I know I do.

			Memphis – 1952

			“What mood is he in?”

			I quietly ask this question of Lib every day after Milt pulls his pickup truck into the driveway and heads through the front door. It’s the truck my mother bought him new so he would be able to work as a landscaper on his own. That is, until the day he announced, “I can’t work with dishonest people” and stopped looking for jobs.

			Instead, my father now goes out to the bar to drink and philander most nights.

			Even so, Lib covers for him.

			“He’s going out to buy a newspaper,” she tells me.

			But it apparently takes hours for him to find a paper. And it seems to do a number on his breath.

			This is to say nothing of the women who evidently help my father to buy the newspaper and kindly remove their clothes while doing it. One morning when I was older, I found the underwear of the waitress from the bar Milt frequents in the front seat of his truck.

			I decide this is not the kind of example I plan to set for my son.

		

	
		
			Chapter 4

			SPORTS AND DELINQUENCY

			Memphis – 1952

			I’m basically a Chihuahua, a scrawny kid who thinks he’s tough. I want to hang out with the pit bulls. So that means playing sandlot football games with some very tough kids in my neighborhood.

			One day, I’m settling under a punt booted by one of the high school kids. Mind you, I’m all of eight. As it settles into my arms, I feel my left wrist snap. As soon as no one is watching, I duck behind the bushes and start crying my eyes out. No one can see me acting my age.

			I start playing baseball in church leagues as soon as I’m old enough to compete. It keeps me out of trouble. Until it doesn’t. Fortunately, this is a city with plenty of church leagues. I’m being raised Baptist in a city with more churches than service stations.

			1958

			Size doesn’t matter, I’ve decided. Even six years later, I haven’t learned yet.

			I’m running back a kickoff in an eighth grade B-team game when Ceylon Blackwell flattens me. Just lays me out. This is a particularly unfortunate thing, since Ceylon outweighs me by a hundred pounds. The same arm that broke in 1952 breaks again, this time near the bicep. Coach Keith said it feels like buckshot.

			This injury sends me to Campbell’s Clinic and forces me to sleep siting up for weeks.

			At this point in my athletic life, I’m something of a tackling dummy. But I don’t care. I understand that sports are the ticket to girls and glory, in that order. And at Snowden Junior High, I excel in a way that guys of my stature and weight rarely do. I make up in scrappy what I lack in bulk.

			Regrettably, football and basketball aren’t quite enough to keep me from causing trouble. Call it overexuberance. I know the right crowd, but I love the wrong crowd. That leads me one day to the junkyard, where a buddy and I go and steal rearview mirrors from the cars. At least a couple of dozen.

			This is one of the few times when Milt behaves like an actual father. He makes me return the mirrors to the junkyard and apologize to the owner.

			I’m conflicted. I want to hang out with the athletes and with the guys stealing hubcaps. It’s tough to make the time for both.

			1959

			Ninth grade turns out to be the pinnacle of my athletic life as well as a key year for coming into my own, as I am starting to overcome my shyness. I also earn my first felony charge.

			I make Honorable Mention All-City in basketball at Snowden, which is quite the big deal. There is also the basketball game against our arch-rival Longview. I’m at the free throw line to shoot two shots in double overtime with the game on the line and no time left.

			Swish! Swish! I sink them both and emerge a hero.

			The father of my pal Charles Burson – a kid who would grow up to become the Chief of Staff for Vice President Al Gore – comes up to me in the locker room to shake my hand.

			“Son,” he says to me, “you have ice water in your veins.”

			For a while, it’s really, really great to be me. I play first string on the Snowden Junior High Greenies football, basketball and baseball teams. I’m even lucky enough to have the prettiest cheerleader in the school as my girlfriend. And I win the school’s Best Dressed Award two years in a row. The basketball coach nicknames me Little Lord Fauntleroy. I’m a jock and a fashion maven.

			Unfortunately, the run of greatness doesn’t last.

			The first problem happens on a Friday night when I stop in the Esso service station, as I often do. Some seedy-looking men are hanging around outside. They call out to me.

			“Hey kid,” says one, “how’d you like some wine?”

			Being a reckless fifteen-year-old with a nose for trouble, this sounds somehow appealing to me. I guzzle down some of the cheap wine they supply me. It’s called Silver Satin, and it’s plenty potent to a kid who would stand as a lightweight even through adulthood.

			I stumble into the house, my eyes glassy and unfocused. My father sees this and instantly understands what I’ve done.

			“Where’d you get it?” he demands.

			“Um, some guys down at the gas station gave it to me,” I reply.

			Instead of giving me a whipping, Milt goes after the guys who fueled my delinquency, driving to the gas station to dispense some paternal justice.

			Knowing I have to be up at 3:30 a.m. to deliver newspapers, I go straight to bed. And I pass out immediately. When the alarm goes off, I wake up feeling cloudy and off-balance. I manage to pick up my papers. As I begin my route, I notice that riding my bike is more difficult than usual. I almost topple over once or twice while making a turn.

			This is my first hangover – and my last Silver Satin.

			Another time when Milt rises to the occasion follows the most serious infraction of my youth. Stupid doesn’t even begin to describe it.

			I get in with this gang of would-be criminals who think it’s a terrific idea to hotwire cars and go joyriding. And not only do they think it’s cool; they think it’s cool enough to make it a ritual. I’m right there with them, following a ringleader named Bobby.

			On the fateful day when it all goes horribly wrong, I’m driving our seventh stolen car – a crime we liked to call “borrowing,” since we weren’t really keepin’ ’em.

			Anyway, the fact I’m driving this Ford should be a tipoff for just how nuts it is. It’s a stick shift, and I haven’t the first clue how to work a clutch or stick. So much for our brilliant idea.

			“How do I work this thing?” I ask Bobby, panicked.

			“I don’t know,” he replies, “just drive it.”

			“But I don’t know how!” I blurt.

			Bobby obviously isn’t getting that this is about to go south very quickly. We’re heading down Cooper Street when the best method for stopping dawns on me: Ram it into the nearest and highest curb. Fortunately, that’s also the same moment when I lose control.

			Bam!

			The car is banged up. No one gets hit. Nobody gets hurt. I figure my best option is to get out of the car and run like hell, hauling ass north on Cooper.

			We escape for the moment. But when Bobby gets caught without me a few weeks later, he implicates me, because there is evidently little honor among fifteen-year-old thieves. I find this out the day that police officers enter one of my ninth-grade classes and place me under arrest right then and there.

			In one fell swoop, I’m fired from my paper route and charged with seven counts of grand larceny. Bobby, snitch that he is, gets sentenced to reform school. I’m incredibly fortunate to receive a suspended sentence and probation by the judge. But I also have to spend five nights in juvenile court, which scares me off of my delinquent path, at least temporarily.

			This prompts one of my teachers, Mrs. Riley, to tell a classmate, “Bill is either going to prison or he’ll be a big success.”

			Milt steps in to help me get rehired for my paper route but also forces me to honor the probation, giving me a 9 p.m. curfew that entire summer. He also makes me apologize for slugging a popular Safety Council boy in the face after I see him flirting with my girlfriend.

			Unfortunately, Milt doesn’t carry the same moral standards for himself. That same year, he takes to staying out at the bar every night while I field phone calls from his adulterous women at our house.

			One afternoon, I pick up the ringing telephone.

			“I want to speak with Milt,” slurs the woman on the other end. 

			“Who is this?”

			“Just tell him I called.”

			“Well, wait. What about me?” 

			“What about you?”

			“Wanna meet me somewhere?”

			“What, your dad’s getting some so now you want some?” 

			“Yeah!” I snap, hanging up the phone.

			Some nights when I’m in high school, my father doesn’t bother coming home at all. It makes me seethe with anger for what he’s doing to Lib.

			High School – 1960-62

			My three years at Central High in Memphis are a comparative breeze and relatively uneventful after the growing pains of junior high. I start hanging with a better crowd, which makes my life significantly easier. The only heartbreak is the realization that size matters more in high school sports than in junior high.

			I still manage to letter in basketball at Central but can’t play football. I’m just too damn small. The pretty cheerleader crushingly leaves me for a linebacker. I run cross country and track, but it’s not the same. The thrill is gone.

			My career as a jock somewhat stunted, I turn my attention to the world around me – or at least the surrounding city. It’s now the early 1960s, and I’m noticing the class struggle and the racial prejudice in the South that would soon spawn the civil rights movement.

			I’m also surprised that at least one of my teachers suspects my acting-out behavior stems from family issues.

			“I think you have problems at home,” my Spanish teacher says within earshot of other students.

			“No, I don’t,” I lie. “My home is perfectly fine.” 

			Inside, though, this gets me to thinking, “Wow, someone understands.”

			Being raised poor begins to take more of a toll in embarrassment. I can’t afford a car, and when my friends give me a ride home, I ask to be dropped off a few blocks from our apartment so they won’t see how I live. Without sports to level the playing field, as it were, I struggle to branch out and measure up to my peers.

			This leads me in twelfth grade to do something completely out of character. I’m known as a beer chugger and hell raiser rather than an achiever. So, it opens some eyes when I decide to run for a spot on the Central High Student Council. My opponent: The star varsity fullback.

			I give my campaign speech in front of more than fifteen-hundred students gathered in the auditorium for an assembly. My heart is racing a hundred miles an hour. I’m the same pathologically shy kid I’ve always been. But I decide it’s time to change up that narrative.

			“If elected, I will always keep the stamp machine in the principal’s office filled up,” I promise.

			This draws a laugh, my first in a public forum. I like it. I may even be hooked on it.

			Somehow, I win the election, beating out the far more popular sports superstar.

			It’s almost as good as making the football team.

			Later, despite having the rep of being a common delinquent, I’m able to blow everyone’s mind by saying a prayer to open select meetings. I quote a passage from Ecclesiastes: “Remember now thy Creator, In the days of thy youth, When the evil days come not, Nor the years draw high.”

			You could hear a pin drop in that room. Everyone stares at me with a mix of alarm and amazement. Screwing with everyone’s mind never felt so magnificent.

			My graduation from high school proves to be both a relief and a trauma for me. Milt and Lib are there, and while I receive my diploma along with all of the other students, I earn none of the merit scholarships, awards or honors many of the others are picking up.

			“I’ll make this up to you,” I assure them.

			“You have nothing to apologize for,” my mother replies. “We’re so proud of you.”

			My father remains silent.

			Following graduation in 1962, my friend Charles’ dad foots part of the bill for four of us to set off on a road trip west and even provides the car. It’s a big, new, light-colored Cadillac. It’s quite the experience for a kid who hasn’t spent much time outside of Tennessee and Kentucky. Charles’s dad, a lawyer, wrote an introduction letter for us to carry on the trip in case we get into any trouble. We do use that letter, at the police station in Salinas, California, to see if they will let us bunk there for one night to save money on a motel room. And they do.

			Over two weeks, we visit Yellowstone National Park, Oregon, the Grand Canyon, Las Vegas, L.A., Disneyland and even the World’s Fair in Seattle. I somehow get separated from the guys and lost at the World’s Fair. I head back to the car and go to sleep on the hood.

			My friends have their favorite places they want to visit. All I really care about is getting to Southern California to see Beverly Hills, check out Hollywood, buy a UCLA sweatshirt and feel the heat of show business. Even back when I’m eighteen, the pull of entertainment is already there.

			The most memorable part of the sojourn for me by far is a fancy dinner show at the Cocoanut Grove in L.A., inside the Ambassador Hotel where Robert Kennedy will be assassinated just six years later.

			It’s impossible to oversell just what an experience the Grove is. It’s a sprawling, garish, thousand-seat paradise. Mechanical monkeys with glowing eyes hang from papier-maché palm trees. The towering ceiling is lit with stars. A real waterfall cascades down the back wall. It is such a trip. It’s the place where everyone played from the Twenties through the Sixties – Judy Garland, Frank Sinatra, Ella Fitzgerald, Louis Armstrong, the Supremes, Nat King Cole, Sonny and Cher. Everyone who was anyone.

			Meanwhile, here we are, four hick teenage boys from Memphis in the middle of Hollywood history. And it’s all unfolding right in front of us.

			As we eat our fancy dinner on silver plates – prime rib au jus with all the trimmings – I look to my left and there’s the singer and actor Ricky Nelson, still a teen idol and starring on The Adventures of Ozzie and Harriet at the time. I look to my right and there’s the legendary gossip columnist Walter Winchell.

			Right in front of me, onstage, is Eddie Fisher, who is still married at the time to Liz Taylor. He’s singing “Tonight” from West Side Story and “Arrivederci, Roma.”

			Suddenly, Winchell calls out to Fisher.

			“Hey Eddie, where’s your wife tonight?” he yells good-naturedly. Fisher just smiles in response.

			“C’mon Eddie, gimme something for the column!”

			We’re having loads of fun taking all of this in – until the check comes. Looking it over, I notice it’s roughly double the price it should be. And we can’t afford it.

			It’s clear to me they’re trying to rip us off. They probably see four hillbilly rubes and figure we’re an easy mark. Except we’re not.

			I walk over to the maître d’ and point out that they’ve overcharged us. He in turn calls over the waiter, who looks at the check and says, “Let me see.”

			“There’s nothing to see,” the maître d’ shoots back. “Reduce the bill. We’re wrong.”

			It’s a win-win. We get to hang out with the big shots and have the satisfaction of standing up for ourselves. I feel like it’s a moment worthy of a Winchell item.

		

	
		
			Chapter 5

			ELVIS

			Memphis – 1954

			As my mundane boyhood plays out on the sleepy canvas of this city of 450,000 – segregated like everywhere else in the South, with a population that’s sixty-two percent white and thirty-eight percent of what at the time is called Negro – something else is stirring that I can feel in my bones.

			I’m ten years old. Rock ‘n’ roll is about to be born. And I happen to be living at Ground Zero.

			The stories are now legendary. Sam Phillips opens a recording studio in 1950 and founds Sun Records two years later. It’s Phillips who one day declares, “If I could find a white man who has the Negro sound and the Negro feel, I could make a billion dollars.”

			He soon found that man.

			On July 18, 1953, an eighteen-year-old truck driver named Elvis Aron Presley drops into the studio to record an acetate for his mother’s birthday. It has “My Happiness” and “That’s When Your Heartaches Begin” on it.

			A lady named Marion Keisker, who works for Phillips and happens to be there that day, hears something in the kid’s voice. She convinces her boss to invite Presley back in on July 5, 1954 for a session where he plays with guitarist Scotty Moore and bass player Bill Black. It’s a disaster – until Elvis starts fooling around with Moore and Black on an old blues tune called “That’s All Right (Mama)” by Arthur “Big Boy” Crudup.

			Suddenly, the room comes alive. A star is born. A genre is born. Phillips and Sun will launch not only Elvis but Jerry Lee Lewis, Carl Perkins, Johnny Cash, Roy Orbison and many others.

			It’s not long after the release of “That’s All Right” that I want to look and act like Elvis. I listen to that song constantly on my transistor radio. My most prized possession is the turquoise rock ‘n’ roll shirt my mother buys me, the one with short sleeves and white piping.

			As much as I want to be an athlete, I also want to be a rock ‘n’ roll star. I want to be Chuck Berry and Little Richard and Ike Turner and Bill Haley and Buddy Holly and Elvis rolled into one.

			August 5, 1955

			Elvis, twenty, is still just kind of a regional sensation when I see he’s going to play my town at the open-air Overton Park Shell. It’s the most exciting thing I’ve ever had to look forward to in my entire life, and I am not going to be denied.

			After following his fledging career for the past year, I’m basically an Elvis fanatic – which soon will become even clearer.

			I manage to scare up my fifty cents for a ticket (adults are a full buck) and arrive as early as they’ll let me in. It’s a good thing. “Bob Neal’s Eighth Annual Country Music Jamboree” is a complete sellout, with twenty-seven country and comedy performers on the slate. A guy named Webb Pierce gets top billing, with Elvis second and a new twenty-two-year-old Memphis singer named Johnny Cash down the list.

			Think of the Shell as a radically scaled-down version of the Hollywood Bowl. Whereas the Bowl has 17,500 seats, the Shell has 4,000. An overflow audience files in, and I find out later that hundreds are turned away. Hey, it’s the future of music, and it’s $1 for the top ticket. Try finding that today.

			Though I’m just eleven, I’ve hitchhiked to get here on my own. You can do that stuff in Memphis in ’55 without worrying about kidnapping or worse.

			My parents are cool with it. I have no other friends who are interested in going, if you can imagine that. And where am I sitting? In the very first row, that’s where.

			Obsession and determination have their privileges.

			There’s a palpable electricity in the air as the show gets ready to start. The sun still hasn’t quite set. The music begins, but it’s a good while before Elvis gets out there, since he’s one of the main acts.

			Little do I know some of the drama playing out behind the scenes, which will later be described by a local photographer named Robert Dye.

			“I was standing backstage,” Dye recalled to the Official Elvis Presley Fan Club website, “and when it got time for Elvis to come out, it was, ‘Where’s Elvis? Where’s Elvis?’ Nobody could find him. Turns out he was outside gabbing with the girls. Well, they finally located him, and he comes in running, asking, ‘Where’s my guitar?’ He can’t find it anywhere.”

			One of the other performers loans Elvis his guitar. Finally, there’s Elvis. He’s in one of the zoot suits he picked up at Lansky Brothers on Beale Street, including pants with the peg legs and cuffs along with a see-through lace shirt. Nice, if nothing too fancy.

			But the girls start screaming and hollering as soon as Elvis gets out onstage. I spy Sam Phillips and his two young boys right near me. Phillips is starting to get famous himself, so it’s kind of a big deal.

			Elvis sings “That’s All Right (Mama)” of course as well as “Baby Let’s Play House,” “I’m Left, You’re Right, She’s Gone,” “I Forgot to Remember to Forget” and “Mystery Train.” I’m in heaven. It’s exciting as all get-out, almost more than I can handle.

			After Elvis finishes, Dye recalled that he gave the guy back his guitar with two broken strings hanging off of it. The dude’s furious.

			“That guy will never get another guitar from me!” the mystery musician apparently says. “I don’t care who he is.”

			Hopefully, he hangs onto the broken-string guitar. Within a few years, I’m sure it’ll be worth thousands.

			April 1956

			My Elvis fixation continues to escalate by the week, sometimes by the day. I’m thrilled when Bob Neal, Elvis’ first manager, disc jockey at WMPS radio and the guy who sponsored the August ’55 show, opens Bob Neal’s Record Shop on Main Street in March. It’s basically a shrine to Elvis, crammed with his records (and plenty of others) as well as Elvis photos, Elvis posters, Elvis banners and probably samples of Elvis’ naturally light-brown hair for all I know.

			Imagine my shock, then, to one day be riffling through the LPs and singles when who should walk in but The Man himself. I guess it isn’t really that shocking considering Neal manages him – or at least did until Colonel Tom Parker stole him away – but for my twelve-year-old self, it’s like seeing God.

			Elvis! In the flesh! Within ten feet of me! I figure I must be dreaming. One minute, I’m staring at his photo. The next minute, I’m staring at him.

			It seems that Elvis is here to speak with Neal. They chat animatedly for a couple of minutes as I sneak peeks at them. Then Elvis leaves the store. Just like that. Gone. As far as I can tell, it’s the first documented instance of Elvis having “left the building.”

			My mind starts to race. Did I imagine it? Should I run and follow Elvis down the street?

			This is all careening through my head when, ten minutes later, Elvis walks back in the store. But now he’s accompanied by a buddy and carrying a bag of socks for some random reason. I guess he’s just purchased them down the street at Lowenstein’s Department Store. Maybe Bob Neal asked Elvis to buy him a bunch of socks. I can’t figure it out.

			Elvis dumps a dozen or so pair of socks on the record store counter. Then Neal speaks up.

			“What do you do, wear ’em once and then throw ’em out?” Neal asks. 

			“Yeah,” Elvis snaps back, “they’re too much trouble to wash.”

			I guess it’s a joke. Both men chuckle. So, I chuckle too, at least to myself.

			Right about then, four very pretty teenage girls enter the store dressed in sweaters, poodle skirts and white bobby sox. The typical fashion of the time.

			A smiling Elvis approaches the young ladies, who can’t be more than sixteen or seventeen. He motions for them to come closer and line up against a nearby wall. Walking toward the first girl, he leans in and sticks out his tongue. She sticks out hers as well, as if on cue. He moves close enough to gently touch her tongue with his.

			The girl moves back and giggles as Elvis flashes a triumphant grin.

			“Next,” he recites with practiced flair.

			The whole thing repeats with the second girl. He sticks out his tongue. She sticks out hers. The tongues touch, gently and briefly. More giggles. More grins.

			Moving to the third girl, Elvis leans in and sticks out his tongue. But this time the girl draws back.

			“Nope,” she offers teasingly.

			Elvis stands in front of her with playful determination.

			“I get anything I want,” he maintains, looking straight into the girl’s eyes. “Not from me,” she replies, shaking her head.

			Giving up, Elvis turns his attention to the fourth girl, who clearly wants the tongue dance. His tongue flicks out. Hers emerges from her mouth. They meet for a moment. The young lady squeals in excitement.

			The female quartet starts chattering excitedly with one another as Elvis bids Neal a quick goodbye. He and his buddy exit the store in a flash.

			I immediately depart the store myself to follow Elvis and his friend north on Main Street, keeping a safe distance behind so they don’t have me arrested for, well, something. I watch as they enter the Piccadilly Cafeteria.

			Peering inside, I quickly determine that going in the restaurant and watching them eat doesn’t really do much to advance my life. Still walking on air, I rush home with memories of my close Elvis encounter dancing through my head.

			May 15, 1956

			By the time my second live Elvis show rolls around, he’s becoming a national sensation – and no way am I going to get to sit in the first row like I did before.

			I arrive for “Bob Neal’s Cotton Pickin’ Jamboree” right when the doors open at 7:30. But there are no cheaper tickets for kids at Ellis Auditorium in Downtown Memphis. I settle for a $1.50 ticket way up in the cheap seats. Can’t afford the downstairs cost of $2.50. (There is also a separate section set aside for “Colored.”)

			Fans easily fill the 7,000-seat hall. There’s no specific show time set, so I have to wait there a few hours by myself. It’s just Elvis, Hank Snow and the gospel group The Jordanaires at the Jamboree.

			But there is no question now surrounding who the main attraction is.

			“Heartbreak Hotel” is number one on the Billboard charts and Elvis just signed a contract to star in movies for Paramount.

			The show is billed as a triumphant return of the hometown boy. And man, what a homecoming. Elvis’ police-escorted limo roars to a stop right in front of the auditorium. Girls standing nearby stare transfixed. The man is no longer a mere entertainer but something closer to royalty.

			Between acts, the crowd starts to get impatient, chanting, “We want Elvis!”. We finally get Elvis, and he doesn’t disappoint. He whips through spirited renditions of “Heartbreak Hotel,” “Long Tall Sally,” “All Shook Up,” “Blue Suede Shoes,” “Don’t Be Cruel,” “I Was the One” and “Hound Dog.” He does a few others, too, but those are the ones I remember.

			If you look at the reviews of the show in the two Memphis papers, the Commercial Appeal and the Press-Scimitar, it paints a vivid picture of the raw power in The King’s performance in front of a crowd packed with swooning teenage girls – and me.

			A lot of the girls are so overwhelmed to be in the presence of Elvis that they scream themselves hoarse and a few even pass out. That’s what the critics notice, too.

			“When Presley slouched on stage,” observed Paul Molloy in the Commercial Appeal, “his pants too tight and his violently green jacket too wide, the kids uttered a bittersweet moan. When he broke into ‘Heartbreak Hotel,’ some fell to their knees, some clasped their heads, some threw their arms about themselves in a sort of self-embrace and jiggled their knees.”

			Molloy went on, “Presley is plainly a salesman of masculine sex, and the reaction it created was spontaneous. Some of it was terrifying…He gave them everything, including the erotic bumps and grinds associated with the Gypsy Rose Lee School.”

			Robert Johnson went even further in his Press-Scimitar review.

			“Elvis strikes sparks, and something in his fans catches fire – sometimes literally,” Johnson wrote. “One fourteen-year-old girl screamed as if suddenly scalded. From the throat of her companion came a weird, guttural whine, like that of a hurt puppy.

			“Across the aisle, another girl was literally scratching her arms with her fingernails, leaving long red welts. Tears coursed down her cheeks, mussing her makeup…Some girls were actually striking each other with their fists, apparently unaware of what they were doing.”

			Talk about a powerful reaction on his fans. It’s like I’m treated to an advance look of what Beatlemania must have been like. And as journalist Johnson added, “Elvis was greeted with a fire and enthusiasm never in memorable history granted a native son (of Memphis).”

			After the show ends, I sneak off my balcony perch, head down the back stairs and through the auditorium to the front of the stage. Emboldened, I climb up on the stage to rumble around and see what I might see when a beefy security guard with peroxided hair stops me.

			“Hey kid! Where do you think you’re goin’?” 

			“Uh, I…”

			“You can’t be up here!” the guard barks.

			Just then, a dissenting voice comes out of nowhere.

			“Yes he can be up here,” the unidentified male insists. “Why can’t he?”

			The voice belongs to Hank Snow, the country crooner who just played on the bill. He overrules Mr. Peroxide and gives me carte blanche to wander the empty stage to my heart’s content. Which I do.

			I don’t really have any agenda up there, of course. But the incident turns me into a lifelong fan of Snow, who saw fit to defend a twelve-year-old kid for no reason other than he could.

			July 4, 1956

			It’s just six weeks later, but Elvis is back. Naturally, so am I. This time, it’s on the Fourth of July at Russwood Park, the stadium where the minor league baseball Memphis Chicks (farm team for the Chicago White Sox) play.

			I don’t know it, but this is the last time I’ll see Elvis perform live – at least in a formal concert setting. Memphis is losing him. He’s about to belong to the world. If the May show was a homecoming, this one’s a home-going. His popularity will soon soar so high that, between August and November, no other singer in America will have a number one record.

			But first things first. It’s America’s birthday, and I am here for this concert benefitting several charities on a blisteringly hot (ninety-seven degrees) and muggy summer night.

			Fans are crammed onto the stadium playing field. As soon as Elvis takes the stage in an all-black outfit accented with a red tie and red socks, pandemonium ensues. We all leave our seats and rush to the centerfield stage. The screaming is so loud I can barely hear him, since there’s no roof to hold in the sound.

			Local police, firemen and Shore Patrol work security for the show. It’s a good thing they’re tough and good at holding back the crowd or they’d mob Elvis.

			As the screaming continues, before he even starts to sing Elvis politely requests, “Please go back to your seats. It’s gonna be hard to do the show if you folks are climbing on each other and the people behind you can’t see. Thank you for cooperating.”

			The people mostly do as they’re told. No one has any interest in defying this man. Not today. Not ever.

			Elvis finally settles in and, despite the heat, he’s cool as a cucumber. As a door prize, he gives away a $600 gold ring he owned with his initials set in diamonds to one lucky attendee (not me). Then he assures the crowd, “You know those people in New York aren’t going to change me none. I’m going to show you what the real Elvis is like tonight.”

			He then proceeds to launch into a litany of his hits, the crowd shrieking all the while.

			After the show ends, Elvis beats a retreat through a cordon of police and Shore Patrolmen to a squad car backed up to the rear of the stage. As soon as the crowd sees what’s going on, fans charge up and surround the vehicle, rolling over it in a wave of humanity. But the car finally pushes through and safely removes the man of the hour from the premises.

			It dawns on me that this guy has come a long way in two years.

			1957

			It’s exciting to be in Memphis because Elvis has taken the country by storm, but he still belongs to us. Or at least, we can claim credit for having launched him.

			I want to be just like Elvis. That’s all there is to it. I want to look like him, act like him, sing like him (that’s never going to happen). Since I’m only thirteen, however, my Presley addiction is restricted to dressing like him. I hang out at Lansky’s on Beale Street, where I know Elvis shops for his duds, and buy the same peg-leg pants he favors. I stride around what’s known to be a “black street” and peek inside all of the pawn shops.

			Today, I’m at the back of the store owned by Bernard and Guy Lansky. I’m always there checking out the racks of shirts, slacks and suits that I can’t afford to buy simply because I know the place is touched by the Elvis pixie dust.

			They tolerate my regular presence in part because Bernard’s son Hal is a student in my mother’s third-grade class at Springdale Elementary. That puts me on the store radar in a positive way.

			Usually, the brothers ignore me as a harmless mini-nuisance. But today, Guy Lansky has a question for me.

			“How would you like to drive out with me to Graceland? I need to deliver a load of clothes to Elvis, and it’ll only take a few minutes. I’m sure you could even meet him. What do you say?”

			This is another of those moments where I think I must be hallucinating. I search my mind for a word stronger than “Yes,” which initially catches in my throat.

			“Yeah. Y-yeah. Sure. Of course. When? Now?”

			“Well,” Guy replies, “I need to go in a few minutes. It shouldn’t take too long. Do you think it would be all right with your folks?”

			What? Folks? Oh, that’s right. I have parents. I think, well, I guess I should ask permission. Then I think, what if they say “No”? That isn’t really an option. I’m thirteen. I can make my own decisions. I’m going.

			Mind you, this internal dialogue requires all of three seconds to process.

			“Yes. It’s fine. I’m sure. Absolutely. Let’s go.” 

			“Great.”

			We pile into the Lansky Brothers truck. My heart is basically beating out of my chest. I have trouble believing this is really happening. But because this is me, I worry. What if Elvis isn’t home? What if he doesn’t like the way I look? What if he thinks I’m dressed badly?

			The eight-mile drive from Lansky’s to Graceland is only fifteen minutes but seems to take hours.

			“We almost there?” I inquire.

			“Yes. Just make sure you do what I say once we get there.” 

			“Yes sir.”

			We finally arrive at the front gate, which automatically opens as soon as we pull up. They’re expecting us.

			Our truck proceeds up a long driveway and winds its way to the back of the house. There’s a deep-purple Cadillac and a Harley motorcycle (probably the same one on which he would later give a ride to Natalie Wood) near the back door.

			I get out and take a closer look inside the Cadi. The initials “EP” are woven into the carpet in front. Yep, I figure, this must be the place.

			Mr. Lansky hurries us inside, leading me toward the den just off of a huge living room. I see there are teddy bears on the couch, on the floor, everywhere. I’m assuming they came from fans who loved his recent song “(Let Me Be Your) Teddy Bear.”

			“Sit right over there,” Mr. Lansky directs, pointing me toward a den chair. I do as I’m told.

			It’s only now that I notice there is a small group of men gathered around a lone figure sitting at the piano in the den, which is white with gold trim. I hear music coming from it. Yet it still takes a few seconds for my brain to come to terms with the fact I’m seeing and hearing Elvis himself playing and singing mere feet from me.

			This is what heaven must be like, I figure. Except that I’m not dead.

			I cannot believe what’s happening right in front of me. Can. Not. Believe. It. Elvis is smiling broadly and performing for an audience of maybe four – five counting me, though I don’t really count.

			I am in surrealistic awe.

			“You know I can be found,

			“Sitting home all alone.

			“If you can’t come around, 

			“At least please telephone.

			“Don’t be cruel to a heart that’s true.”

			Yes, Elvis is singing “Don’t Be Cruel” six feet from me. It can’t possibly get any better than this.

			When he finishes the song, one of Elvis’s friends remarks of the tune, “That motherfucker will never get old.”

			As this is happening, Mr. Lansky makes trips back and forth from the truck, carrying clothes to a room upstairs. And Elvis shifts into playing Fats Domino’s “Blueberry Hill.”

			“I found my thrill, 

			“On Blueberry Hill; 

			“On Blueberry Hill,

			“When I found you.”

			Just then, a woman I recognize as Elvis’ mother wanders in and leans against the doorway to the den as she listens to her son play. She looks exactly like the pictures I’ve seen, and a spitting image of her boy – especially her eyes.

			The mini-concert continues while my mind reels. I try to take it all in, understanding I’ll remember this for the rest of my life. But it’s too much.

			After another couple of songs, Mr. Lansky stirs me from my dream state.

			“OK William, time to go.”

			Elvis stops playing and looks up from his piano at Guy and then at me, a bit confused.

			“He’s with me,” Mr. Lansky informs Elvis, pointing my way.

			Elvis chuckles, “I wondered who that was in my house that I didn’t know.”

			Just like that, we take off. But my mind will stay there forever.

			1962

			Elvis’ two-year hitch in the Army (1958-60) doesn’t dissuade me from following his life and career. But it does convince me it might be a good move to enlist in the Army myself.

			My Presley fix has been restricted to seeing his movies and listening to his records, which I do repeatedly. Without an automobile, though, my Elvis stalking career has slowed to a trickle. That all ends when my brother loans me his car while he serves his first tour in Vietnam, which coincides with the summer after high school graduation when I’m eighteen.

			Jackpot.

			Elvis doesn’t know it, but I’m back in his life. And it’s about to ratchet up big time thanks to Max Wardlow, a friend who shares my love of everything King of Rock ‘n’ Roll.

			It begins with our curious decision to hang around outside the gates of Graceland with the other Elvis fans hoping for a sighting or an autograph. Except that isn’t good enough for Max. He dares me one day to head over with him to the northern side of the estate grounds and climb the stone wall that’s higher than my head.

			“Come on,” he challenges. “Don’t be a chicken.”

			Well, I can’t very well turn that down.

			We scale the wall, cross a vast lawn and head to the main Graceland quarters to ring the doorbell. A man I will later learn is named Alan Fortas, a member of the famed Memphis Mafia, opens the door warily and stares at us with a furrowed brow for a few seconds.

			“Yes?”

			“Um,” Max replies, “we were just wondering if Elvis was home.” 

			“How’d you get onto the property?” Fortas asks.

			“We climbed the fence,” I offer. 

			“Why?”

			“Well, the guard wouldn’t let us in through the gate.”

			“You two have trespassed onto private property. You know that, right?”

			“Yes,” I admit, pointing at Max and throwing him under the metaphoric bus with, “but it was his idea.”

			“I don’t care whose idea it was,” says Fortas, stepping out and taking us each by the arm. “I’m escorting you off of the property right now. Or I can call the cops and they can do it. You choose.”

			“I think you doing it is probably better,” says Max.

			I blame Max for this mess, even though I had a choice. Fortunately, the guy will more than redeem himself in the weeks ahead.

			Max, you see, has a hotline to the Blackwood Brothers gospel group, whose members seem to sense every move Elvis makes even before he does. They know, for example, that he’s a big-time night owl who likes to do most of his socializing after hours to avoid being recognized and mobbed.

			Max knows which Sunday evenings Elvis plans to show up for pickup football games in a little community called Whitehaven. Because he’s Elvis, he can get the lights turned on at this local high school playing field whenever he wants. I show up, grab a jersey and play on whatever team opposes Elvis’ team of friends.

			One time, I go there and see Elvis hanging out beside his limousine between games with a few cases of Pepsi on ice. I walk by there, marveling at the vehicle, when he asks, “Would you like to come sit in here?”

			I sometimes don’t take the cue all that well. What I should say, of course, is “Absolutely! Thank you!”

			Instead, in a state of shock, I decline.

			“Aw, I don’t want to get it all dirty,” I mumble, kicking the dirt.

			“Hey,” Elvis replies, “if Bardahl won’t get it dirty, you won’t hurt it, either.” 

			“Nah, that’s OK. Thanks though.”

			It’s only later that I learn “Bardahl” is the nickname Elvis gave to his pal Will McDaniel. But my shyness gets the best of me. I walk away dumbfounded, hating myself. I’ll kick myself every day for years for passing up this opportunity to share a Pepsi and a chat with my idol in his limo. It’s probably why I’ll always have an obsession with limos and town cars, too.

			There are other opportunities to share time with him, always after midnight. That’s when Elvis likes to rent out the Memphian Theater in Midtown Memphis for special very early-morning screenings of feature films.

			Max tells me when Elvis will be there. He’s never wrong. And dutifully, I go.

			It’ll usually be just a handful of us who have been clued in that Elvis is taking over the theater, along with his entourage of six or eight guys. I do everything I can to just sort of blend in. I never get stopped or hassled. I even get Elvis’ autograph one night (I still have it). He signed the back of a business card from the Julius Lewis clothing store in Memphis – the only thing I had for him to sign.

			What I love doing is eavesdropping and taking in the vibe. There’s this one night when Elvis’ guys are talking about something that happened on the set of the John Wayne movie Hatari! that had just been released.

			“Did you hear about the lady on the Hatari! crew?”

			“No, what?”

			“I think it was a couple of years back when they started filming. She enters the cage of one of the lions and it just sprang on her. Mauled her to death. Didn’t have a chance.”

			“Oh my God! Why do you think it did that?”

			“’Cause it’s a lion. I also hear the lady was on her period. Beasts like that smell blood, it’s all over, man.”

			“Whoa.”

			My favorite thing, though, is when Max tells me about the secret parties Elvis has where he rents out the amusement park at the Memphis Fairgrounds, goes on the rides and plays on the bumper cars with his buddies all night. Of course, there are lots of girls there too, but they don’t ride the bumper cars.

			Elvis is just a big kid. And I am too. We have that in common.

			One time, I find out there’s an unofficial after-hours fairgrounds thing planned, as usual starting at midnight, and I meet his gang there. I’m on the scene so often at unofficial Elvis events that they probably think I’m one of them at this point.

			I climb in one of the bumper cars, which Elvis and his guys call Dodge ‘Em. Everyone always likes to gang up on Elvis and slam playfully into his car. But tonight, I guess I’m getting a little too rambunctious and I hit his car head-on pretty hard.

			Elvis is not pleased.

			“Man, how many times have I told you guys not to do that?” he fumes, uncharacteristically raising his voice.

			I think I must be screwed now. I finally went too far. Now I’ll be outed as the party crasher I am.

			“Shoot, I’m sorry,” I say, mortified. “I’m so sorry Elvis. I…”

			Elvis shakes his head and looks at me warmly, flashing an impish smile.

			“Aw, it’s OK,” he says, raising his hands dismissively. “It’s just that I don’t want to have to keep replacing the motors.”

			Whew. Bullet dodged.

			We stay there for hours horsing around. Elvis never seems to get tired of doing the Dodge ‘Em, riding the Pippin Rollercoaster and the Whip Ride, zooming around on the Rockets and twirling on the Ferris Wheel. He’s still going strong at 6 a.m. when he sends someone across the street to the Dairy Queen to pick up ice cream for everybody.

			Like I said, he’s just a big kid.

			It’s a blast being one of Elvis’ gang, even if he’s got no idea that I am.

			But I’m not just blowing off steam at these things. I’m studying Elvis and every move he makes. How he dresses. How he treats his friends. How he is with strangers. How he signs his autograph.

			I take note that he’s unfailingly caring, respectful, generous. I decide that’s how I’m going to be, too – one of these days.

		

	
		
			Chapter 6

			IF IT’S GOOD ENOUGH FOR ELVIS, IT’S GOOD ENOUGH FOR ME

			Memphis – Fall 1962

			After wishing that my Summer of Stalking Elvis could go on forever, by August I figure it’s time to think about moving forward. Mostly it’s because I have to. I’m calling around looking for work before heading off to college, but no bites so far.

			Then comes the day when I run into a guy who tries to sell me on the military. I’m already thinking about it, since my brother John is in Vietnam and on his way to becoming a career soldier. But this man seems to know a lot about how the whole Army thing works and believes that’s my best move.

			“The thing is,” I explain to him, “I don’t want to be tied to the service for three years before hitting college. That’s too damn long.”

			“Oh, you don’t need to do three years,” he explains. “You can enlist and get out in two. That’s a guarantee.”

			“Are you sure about that?” 

			“I am.”

			If it was good enough for Elvis, it’s good enough for me. So, I head down and enlist at Kennedy Veterans Hospital, the place where my father once worked and the same induction center where Elvis had been four years before.

			Except it seems there’s a little glitch. The seven-count grand larceny rap I was charged with three years before is still on my record. Even though it was dismissed and I got off with probation, it’s still kind of a red flag. I guess the military isn’t real keen on giving the greenlight to young criminals.

			“What about this grand larceny thing?” the man at the induction center asks.

			“Oh, well, I was just a stupid kid who liked to hotwire and joyride cars around town. There was no actual theft involved.” 

			The guy isn’t convinced.

			“Uh huh,” he says evenly, his face evoking concern. 

			The man steps aside to confer with another soldier.

			“He seems like a decent young man,” I hear one of them say.

			The man walks back over to me and says, “Wait here” before walking to a nearby office. He’s joined by what looks to be a superior. They stand talking quietly maybe twenty-five feet away. The superior keeps flashing looks at me and nods occasionally in response to whatever the guy is telling him. They examine papers and keep looking up at me.

			I try not to look at them but can’t help it. And I can only imagine how this conversation is going. My worst fears go something like this:

			“What’d you say he was charged with?” 

			“Grand larceny. Seven times.”

			“When did you say it happened?”

			“Junior high.”

			“Hell, he still looks like he’s in junior high.” 

			“Yes sir.”

			“So, does he look nuts to you?”

			“A little, sir.”

			‘Well, nobody’s perfect. We’ll let him in.” 

			“Yes sir.”

			Both men walk back to me after their conversation, looking me up and down. The superior does the talking.

			“All right, Sanderson, we’re going to presume this trouble in your past is behind you and that you’re mentally fit to be a soldier.”

			“I am, sir,” I reply, “very much. Thank you. I won’t let you down.”

			He replies, “We’ll need to give you a waiver to get in. So, don’t screw up.”

			“I won’t. Thank you, sir.”

			South Carolina, Texas, Georgia and Alabama – 1962-64

			One way or the other, I’m on my way to Fort Jackson in South Carolina for a battery of tests to figure out what I might be best at and then, finally, to Fort Gordon, Georgia for basic training. It feels a little weird, heading off to serve while all of my friends go to college. But I knew I was going to do a hitch anyway, so it might as well be now.

			What’s decided in South Carolina is that I’m most qualified to be a combat medic, which then requires I do eight weeks of medical training at Fort Sam Houston in San Antonio. I quickly realize that this Army thing involves lots and lots of training, which is good since the only thing I’d really trained for prior to this is to be an Elvis expert.

			The Army gives me an education in discipline and survival as soon as I arrive. Basic training is of course notorious for arbitrary harassment and semi-torture. I’m hardly immune.

			I remember having one situation at three in the morning where we’re up early doing a drill on bivouac. I’m running when this very large black gentleman suddenly grabs me and tosses me off a bridge into a deep creek.

			Quickly, I scramble out of the water and arrive back in formation. But my weapon is wet, my wallet is soaked and most of the rest of me is drenched. It’s only later that I hear the sergeant had, unknown to me, said to this guy, “If you see any stragglers, kick ‘em in the ass!”

			He winds up doing that and more, tossing me like a football. But he’s just following orders. Or maybe he doesn’t like short, white Southern boys from Tennessee.

			Once I’m mercifully done with basic – having qualified with an M1 and learned to march in lockstep – I’m off to serve at Fort Benning in Georgia by way of Fort Sam Houston. I’m in an infantry unit, Second Division. It all goes well until I’m assigned for two months to Martin Army Hospital and I contract the mumps, preventing me from accompanying my unit on a three-month tour of Germany. This would be the very same Germany where Elvis was stationed for an even longer tour.

			It still breaks my heart.

			I didn’t have long to dwell on my sorrow because my unit soon moved to Fort McClellan, Alabama for riot control training.

			The training, by the way, is necessitated by the fact we’re in the South, it’s the early Sixties and the civil rights movement is dawning. In ’63, we load onto helicopters, bayonets and all, waiting for the order to go in if needed.

			It’s pretty exciting stuff for a nineteen-year-old. But it’s also probably for the best that it isn’t necessary. The chaos and heartbreak of those situations is pretty intense.

			One of the ways I pass my time and prepare myself for the outside world is to serve as a money lender. From Fort Gordon through Fort Benning, I learn how to make dough as a small-time loan shark.

			Early on, I deduce that many of my fellow soldiers are spending their paycheck within a day or two after receiving it. As a private first class who isn’t netting even $100 per pay period, I’m nonetheless able to pull in a decent chunk of change by lending a little here, a little there, and collecting interest. I’m my own mini savings and loan.

			The guys pay right up when the bill comes due, too. Only once does it get out of hand, when I have to draw a knife on a PFC named Federer. It’s an incredibly stupid thing to do.

			“Where’s my money, man?” I demand, brandishing my blade.

			“Hey,” Federer answers, “calm down, buddy. I’m just a little late. I’ll pay you in a couple of days, I promise.”

			“Fine,” I reply with a menacing glare. “You’d better or there’s gonna be problems.”

			Just call me Mr. Tough Guy.

			Prince George’s County, Maryland – 1965

			After my two years of regular Army duty are up, I still have two more years of active reserve time to go. But with my medical training, I’m able to land a job with Baptist Memorial Hospital in Memphis working a graveyard shift.

			Martial arts is also starting to catch my interest. And because I’m still in the reserves, I can wear an Army Reserve uniform and catch what they call a “hop,” where you basically hitch a ride free with Air Force or other military air transit if they have any empty seats.

			The hop works just fine getting to New York. On the way back, I hitchhike to Andrews Air Force Base in Maryland. I’m strolling around the base in my uniform as casually as you please, looking to get a hop back to Memphis.

			There’s nothing technically illegal about what I’m doing. But it’s also a little risky, since I’m only in the reserves.

			Five minutes after arriving at the base, this gum-smacking enlisted man in an Air Force uniform pulls up alongside of me in a Jeep. He’s got the dark sunglasses and everything. Looks like one of those racist Southern sheriffs. He parks and leans over to me as smug as can be, just dripping with attitude.

			You know the type.

			“Where are you going, soldier?” he jabbers at me.

			Thinking the truth might be my best option, I come right out with it: “I’m trying to get a hop.”

			“A hop?” he replies. “Why is that?”

			“Well, I need to get back home to Memphis,” I say, pleading my case. 

			“Get in,” he orders.

			Now I know I’m kind of screwed, because the guy is obviously out to nail me for something – what, I don’t know.

			In the vehicle, he starts asking questions.

			“What are you doing here?”

			“I told you, I’m trying to get a hop.” 

			“Why do you want a hop?”

			“To get back home to Memphis, like I said.” 

			“I don’t believe you.”

			“Why not?”

			“You’re under arrest, soldier.”

			Now I’m just in disbelief. I laugh to myself. 

			“What for, Sergeant?” I politely inquire.

			The guy doesn’t answer but keeps right on driving until we arrive at his headquarters. He takes me to an officer, who intensifies the questioning.

			“What are you doing on this base?” he asks accusingly.

			“As I told your guy, I’m just a reservist trying to get a hop home. I guess I made a mistake by coming here and I’m sorry for that but…”

			“Why are you really here?”

			“I have no ulterior motive. I just want to get home.” 

			“Hand over your wallet.”

			I do as I’m told. The officer rummages through it and finds an expired weekend pass from Fort Benning along with an old military ID that I’d used back home to buy beer.

			“What’s this?” the officer asks, holding up the old pass.

			“It’s just a pass from when I was on active duty,” I maintain. 

			“I don’t believe you,” he charges. “I think you’re a deserter.”

			“What? No. I’m in the reserves. See this uniform? It’s a reserve uniform. I’ve got a job back home. I just hitchhiked here from New York to catch a hop.”

			“Why were you in New York?”

			“To see a martial arts tournament.” 

			“Sounds like a tall tale to me.”

			Nothing I say convinces these guys that I’m not some sort of scofflaw. So, they call the FBI. Seriously, the Federal Bureau of Investigation. Because I’m trying to get a lift home. Seems a little extreme and insane to me, but I guess they have their reasons.

			Anyway, now I’m starting to freak out. There’s even more questioning.

			“What was your real purpose in trying to sneak onto this base?” questions the FBI agent.

			“I just walked on, nobody stopped me,” I persist. “My only purpose was to catch a hop and get home, I swear, that’s it.”

			He shoots back, “Look, if you’re going to lie about this, it’s not going to turn out well for you, buddy.”

			“Do you want me to make something up?” I plead. “All I’ve got is the truth. Do I look like a criminal to you?”

			“Maybe, yes,” he says. “We think you’re AWOL.”

			“I’m not AWOL,” I argue, “I’m a vet, I’m in the reserves.” 

			“Don’t lie to us!” the agent barks.

			The interrogation continues for another hour or so. They finally figure that even if I’m hiding something, they probably aren’t going to get it out of me. The FBI agent gives me back my wallet and drives me to the Greyhound Bus Station, where he takes whatever money I have to buy a ticket to Nashville because I don’t have enough cash to make it all the way to Memphis. Then he watches me board the bus and stares at me through the window until it pulls away.

			Talk about an ordeal. I manage to hitchhike from Nashville to Memphis and vow to never again wear my uniform and walk onto a military base where I don’t know anyone.

			Unfortunately, that’s not quite the end of it.

			The FBI guy places a call to my commanding officer explaining what I’d done and how they had to bust me. It winds up OK. But it’s a problem I didn’t need and, to my mind, didn’t deserve.

			I doubt they’d have done this to me if I were Elvis. Of course, if I were Elvis, I also probably could have afforded a plane ticket home.

			So, I didn’t get away with walking onto Andrews Air Force Base, just like I didn’t get away with trespassing onto Graceland. But that’s not to say that hitchhiking and sneaking never worked out for me.

			In fact, the Commercial Appeal once published an entire article about how good I was at getting into places and events I wanted to be at, whether I was supposed to be there or not. They even praised me as “Memphis’ most spectacular spectator,” citing the many sporting events I managed to attend, even without a ticket.

			They mentioned one occasion when I was so desperate to see a Memphis State University football game that I hid among a bunch of tubas and drums and snuck in disguised as a band instrument (one of my more clever and creative schemes).

			It cheered me up one day when, while I was at Fort Benning, a friend mailed a copy of the article to me. Anyway, maybe if I could have shown the FBI guys at Andrews that article, they would’ve seen that I wasn’t a deserter at all. This was just the kind of thing I do.

			Still, I doubt they would have been amused.

		

	
		
			Chapter 7

			COLLEGE BOY

			Dallas, Texas – Fall 1964

			Fresh out of the Army, I’m ready for my two-year-delayed college career. The question is whether it’s ready for me.

			The problem is that I’m aiming too high. I can go to Memphis State relatively cheaply, so naturally I choose a much more expensive private school where rich families send their kids: Southern Methodist University, better known as SMU, in Dallas.

			A key reason I want to go here is that one of my best friends from Memphis, Bob Watkins, is attending as a pre-med major. Bob will one day become Dr. Robert G. Watkins III, one of the most renowned sports medicine doctors in the country. As an orthopedic spinal surgeon, he’s destined to operate on more professional athletes than any physician in the world.

			But that isn’t the Bob I know in 1964. Now, he’s just my dorm roommate. He’s a junior. I’m an incoming freshman. And we’re basically Felix and Oscar. I’m the neat freak. He’s the slob (rhymes with Bob).

			Here’s the kind of stuff Bob does. See if it wouldn’t drive you out of your mind.

			He basically lives out of a huge suitcase. On one side of it are the clean clothes he plans to wear. On the other side are the dirties that he’s worn. As soon as he runs out of clothes, he closes up the suitcase and hightails it back to Memphis so his mother can wash them.

			I wish I were making this up.

			Meanwhile, I have to make sure that Bob’s unclean ways don’t pollute my half of the room. The Army taught me how to keep everything straight, make my bed with military corners, all of that. I don’t think Bob has made a bed in his life.

			So I finally decide I need to lay down some rules to my roomie. He may be good at fixing the human body, but I’m far better at keeping our room in order.

			“You see this piece of tape?” I ask Bob rhetorically, laying it down in the precise middle of the room. “You need to stay on this side of it.”

			I point at where his bed and suitcase are.

			“And over here,” I say, pointing to my feet, “is my side. I think it would be a good idea for you to keep to your side and then we’ll get along much better.”

			Bob is amused rather than threatened by this. He smiles and scratches his head.

			“Let me see if I’ve got this straight,” he begins. “That over there (pointing) is your side. This over here (pointing) is my side. And out there (pointing to the door) is neither of our sides.”

			“Yes,” I agree, “that would be correct.”

			“And what happens, then,” continues Bob, “if I venture onto your side?”

			“I can’t really say,” I reply, “but I can assure you that it’s better for our friendship if you don’t.”

			I take my cleanliness seriously.

			But it isn’t like I can’t let my hair down. Bob convinces me to pledge a fraternity at SMU, which helps get me invited to a lot of parties and access to plenty of beer.

			A day I’ll never forget is the one when I pledge that frat and head down to South Dallas with some of my brothers in order to pick up a tree for the frat house.

			Getting the tree back proves challenging. We have to stick it onto the back bumper of a VW Bug. Then they tie belts around my arms and have me stand on the bumper pressing the tree against the car as it drives down the Central Expressway in Dallas. In hindsight, it seems it may have been a mite dangerous.

			There’s no question that I specialize in partying during my short time at SMU. It leads to the second arrest of my life.

			How it happens is, a bunch of us are partying like always – you know, just downing beers, making a racket, raising hell, the usual. The neighbors call the cops to complain about the noise coming from our apartment. When the police get there, we’re a little toasty, so we give them some lip.

			“We don’t have any idea what you’re talking about, officer,” I offer. “We’ve been quiet as mice here. I’m sure you must have the wrong apartment.”

			I don’t know about you, but in my experience police officers don’t generally respond well to well-heeled college students trying to make fools of them. They haul several of us into the station and charge us with disorderly conduct.

			This is when I start going into my pity act.

			“You don’t understand, officer,” I moan. “I’m not rich like all of them. I just got out of the Army. I’m not even sure what I’m doing at this school, to be perfectly honest.”

			Doesn’t matter. The cops couldn’t care less. They put us in actual jail, as in behind bars, for a couple of hours until we begin to sober up.

			What makes this a good and nearly tragic story stems from something I do at the station. I see one of the police pistols sitting on a desk near my cell. In my inebriated condition, it seems like a great idea to take it and put it in my coat. I reach through the bars and do just that.

			When we’re released on our own recognizance, I’ve still got the gun. No one searches us. No one notices it’s missing. Nobody seems to much care. Consequently, it appears I have successfully stolen a law enforcement-registered firearm from a police precinct in Texas.

			Theft of a weapon from a peace officer is a felony in pretty much every jurisdiction in America.

			Whoops.

			After getting back to our dorm, I make the mistake of showing my roommate what I’ve just managed to smuggle out of the police station. He loses it instantly.

			“What?” Bob explodes. “You did what? Oh my God! Oh my God! Get that thing away from me! Are you insane? Wait that’s not a question. Of course you’re insane. I can’t even…I’m sorry, I have to leave.”

			That’s just what Bob does. He bolts from our dorm and refuses to sleep there again until the gun is gone. He fumes, “I am not going to jeopardize my medical career on a cop finding a stolen gun in my place that I had nothing to do with stealing.”

			Now the only problem is, what do I do with it? No doubt the cops will soon discover they’re missing a gun. There aren’t too many possible suspects, I’m guessing. Maybe it’s not crazy to assume they would charge the guy who was last in the cell near the desk that it disappeared from.

			Someone is fortunately smart enough to suggest putting the gun in a box addressed to the police station and dropping it in the mail without a return address.

			Though he won’t admit it at the time, Bob Watkins is probably relieved that I don’t have enough money to remain at SMU for more than that single semester. I’m able to transfer to Memphis State. I feel out of my league at Southern Methodist.

			Memphis – 1970-71

			I make it through MSU with a degree in business in 1968 – business being the thing you major in when you don’t know what to major in – and settle on going to law school. I guess I want to become a lawyer. And thanks to the GI Bill, I’m able to attend law school (also at Memphis State).

			Being a law student turns me into a cocky SOB. I think I’m all that simply because I’m on track to practice law. I figure it’ll look good on a resumé and might impress women. Plus, it strikes me that saving someone’s life as a criminal lawyer is about as noble an act as a human can achieve. That’s what my hero Adlai Stevenson believed, anyway.

			It’s possible that I think law will be a lot like what you see on Perry Mason, where Raymond Burr wraps up cases in a tidy package every hour and looks incredibly macho while doing it. The life of the flamboyant trial lawyer is the life for me!

			Yet my heart doesn’t match my bravado. By the time I’m halfway through law school, it’s everything I can do to stay interested in what we’re studying. I pay more attention to my bartending jobs than I do my studies.

			Part of the problem is that there isn’t a single woman in our law class. Consequently, I start wandering over to the undergrad theatre department next-door, which happens to be rehearsing a production of the musical Hair. And it’s like, oh my God. I’ve never seen so many pretty young ladies in my life.

			I start sneaking over there on breaks and hanging around more and more. I’m starting to grow infatuated with more than just the women. I’m loving the whole artistic process that I witness.

			Mind you, all I’m thinking at this point is that performing could be something I try on the side. I never imagine I’ll actually become an actor.

			But then I find myself spending time at a local theatre, The Circuit Playhouse, where someone asks me if I’d like to do more than just stare at everybody and actually take an acting class. I think it might help me overcome my crippling shyness and meet girls.

			Before I know it, I’m acting. I still remember how difficult it was to get outside of myself.

			“Read a passage for me, William,” asks the instructor, Allen Mulliken.

			After reading it, he asks, “Can you tell me something about what you read?” 

			“I can’t,” I admit.

			My nerves get the best of me and I can’t remember anything. I’m embarrassed, but I stick with the class.

			To say that I catch the acting bug would be a massive understatement. I’m hooked. I rehearse for and perform in a graduate production of To Kill a Mockingbird, playing the role of Robert E. Lee Ewell. I love it. I start spending all of my free time at Circuit Playhouse, and it changes my life.

			The defining moment when my career path is set in stone happens at the Circuit. We’re rehearsing the play Marat/Sade, in which I have a role. I’m doing my character’s monologue speech, portraying a psychotic inmate of an insane asylum as he prays to Satan.

			I tap into my childhood anxieties in playing this character. It’s a device that proves effective in summoning raw emotions residing just below the surface.

			In this scene, the crazy man wears a clergyman’s collar around his neck, falls to his knees, hops toward the front of the stage and utters the following:

			“Pray pray,

			“O pray to him,

			“Our Satan which art in hell; 

			“Thy kingdom come,

			“Thy will be done,

			“On earth as it is in hell.

			“Forgive us our good deeds,

			“And deliver us from holiness. 

			“Lead us,

			“Lead us into temptation, 

			“Forever and ever.

			“Amen.”

			After I finish, the rest of the cast that’s been standing mesmerized breaks into spontaneous, wildly enthusiastic applause.

			“Well done, sir!” I hear.

			“Awesome! Bravo!” exults another.

			It’s encouraging. It’s thrilling. It feels like I’ve suddenly arrived as a real actor.

			For a performing neophyte like me, the moment is positively life-affirming.

			At the same time, it’s equally clear to me that I can no longer entertain any illusion of becoming a lawyer. My interest in law has morphed into a performing obsession. I’m determined to graduate law school and proud when I do. But I won’t be taking the bar. There is simply no point.

			During my last year of law school, I appear in three plays and work fulltime as a bartender at T.G.I. Friday’s. The job is a goldmine: great money, lots of women, loads of partying. I even land a girlfriend for the first time in years. This fits in nicely with the fun I’m having as an aspiring thespian.

			It’s all just going so great. Naturally, I have to go and screw it up because I can’t stand prosperity.

			A celebration seems to be in order on my last day of law school. Yee haw! My crazy buddy Joe Unger is with me as we go bar-hopping. Lightweight that I am, it doesn’t take much before I’m basically losing awareness of what I’m doing.

			They tell me that I went out into the parking lot of this one beer joint, took my underwear and stretched it out up to my chest. I’m not sure where my pants are in this scenario, but I guess I’m putting on a show and making people laugh.

			Joe tells me later that someone ran into the bar and said, “Hey Joe, the law’s got your buddy outside.” Whatever I’m doing seems to attract the police.

			I’m unfortunately already in the back seat of the squad car when Joe arrives outside. He says that the following conversation then takes place:

			Joe: “What seems to be the problem, officers?”

			Cop: “This guy seems to think he can run around the parking lot grabbing his underwear and pulling it up to his chest while handling what’s inside.”

			Me: “What’s wrong with that? I’m not hurtin’ nobody.” 

			Joe: “How about if I just drive him home myself?”

			Me: “Yeah. I wanna go home with him.”

			Cop: “Sorry, we’ve already placed him under arrest. We’ll need to continue this conversation down at the station.”

			The cops take me downtown and I get the proverbial single phone call. I’m sure as hell not going to call my parents. Instead, I call the law school and ask to speak with my torts professor, Mr. Moore.

			Now try and imagine this. I’ve just been hauled off to jail for public drunkenness. Somehow it strikes me as a good idea to ask my law professor the best way to get around the law. This is what alcohol does to my mind.

			Mr. Moore gives me the number of an actual lawyer to call, but it turns out I don’t need one. Thanks to Joe, word of my predicament filters over to a beloved director at the Circuit Playhouse, Barry Fuller, who takes up a collection from my fellow actors to pay my fine.

			That’s how I get out after spending just a single night in jail.

			My gratitude soars when I even think about how generous it was for these people to do this for me. I’ll never forget it.

			
				
					[image: ]
				

			

			My mother and I with Honey and Dusty at Papa’s farm in Paducah, Kentucky (circa 1946). I’m probably two. Mom encouraged me to see plays, go to art school and follow my dream.
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			In Kentucky with my brother John and father Milt, around 1985. John was sweet and protective of me.
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			Me and my pals Charles Burson and Bob Hume during our summertime road trip out West and back in 1962. Charles grew up to be Vice President Al Gore’s chief of staff and is now a law professor. Bob became a pilot for Fed-Ex following a distinguished sports career and is now a pilot instructor. (Not pictured: Bill Lockman, a wonderful guy who was also along on our trip – and snapped the photo.)
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			I’m in the Army now! (August 1962) Thank God they airbrushed out the acne from eighteen-year-old me.
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			On top of the world while bartending at O’Neal’s Baloon across from Lincoln Center in New York City. (1973) That expression and that cigar (Elvis’ brand) tell you that I feel like I’ve got life by the tail.
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			Robert Judd and I on the set of Fight for Your Life. (1976) He recommended me for the role. I liked him a lot.
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			The great Lee Marvin and I on the set of Death Hunt. (1981) We bonded over my Lucchese cowboy boots. Lee looks like he’s getting himself prepared for the scene.
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			With my friend and mentor David Paulsen, director of Savage Weekend and a prolific writer/producer on Dallas and Knot’s Landing. (1976) He helped me to learn every aspect of the business and warned me about who to watch out for.
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			Taking a walk with soon-to-be Oscar winner Sissy Spacek before filming Coal Miner’s Daughter. (1980)
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			Charles Durning (left), Val Kilmer and me filming HBO’s The Man Who Broke a 1000 Chains. (1987) For a brief moment, Kilmer was jealous of me during filming after I was recognized on the set from Newhart.

			
				
					[image: ]
				

			

			Clowning around with (left to right) Patrick Houser, Richard Roundtree, Charles Napier, Rod Taylor and William Lucking during the filming of Outlaws. (1986) It was one of my rare visits to a set where I wasn’t involved in the film. The guns were props, but you’re still supposed to treat them as real weapons. Boys and girls, do NOT try this at home.
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			With writer and former cop Joseph Wambaugh on the set of The Onion Field. (1979) He gave me my first job. I carried this photo around on the front seat of my car for years afterward, in case the police ever stopped me. It worked.
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			Celebrating with Tony Papenfuss (my brother Darryl) and John Voldstad (my other brother Darryl) after an appearance on CBS’ “Super Bowl Saturday Night” (circa 1987). They were wonderful guys with great theatre backgrounds, and I was blessed to work with them. We became like real brothers.

			
				
					[image: ]
				

			

			Richard Kiel, Buck Flower, Jack Elam and I on the set of The Giant of Thunder Mountain. (1991) It was an honor to work (and pose) with such immense character acting talent. Jack was an awful lot of fun to be around.
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			Me as Billy the Kid in Lee Blessing’s play, The Authentic Life of Billy the Kid, directed by Tommy Lee Jones in 1988-89. (Photo by Kimberlea Jones.)
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			Fooling around with Richard Lewis on the set of Wagons East! in Durango, Mexico. (1994) Richard was always on and having a great time, crazy in the best way.
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			John Candy, Sharon and me in Mexico during the filming of Wagons East!. (1994) John tragically died near the end of production, and I’m immensely grateful to have had the opportunity to work with him.

		

	
		
			Chapter 8

			NEW YORK STATE OF MIND

			Nashville and Memphis – Fall 1971

			I’m not sorry I went to law school. It’s something for me to fall back on in case bartending doesn’t work out.

			That’s a joke. I just thought having a law degree would look good on my resumé.

			But I’ve got to say that tending bar is a pretty sweet gig, even for a twenty-seven-year-old guy with two college degrees. I make very good money pouring drinks at the newly-opened Friday’s in Memphis. They just passed a liquor-by-the-drink law in Tennessee that allows restaurants to sell booze by the glass, and business is brisk.

			Look, I figure I’ve spent two years on Army active duty followed by seven years in college and law school. If I want to do something that doesn’t directly advance my career goals for a while, I’ve kind of earned it. It also gives me an excuse to make alcohol the center of my universe.

			As I will prove repeatedly over the next several decades of my adult life, however, booze and William Sanderson are one very lethal mix, costing me jobs, relationships and far too often my dignity.

			This idea plays a role in my self-sabotaging decision to take a hose and spray a young brown-eyed Scorpio patron of Friday’s with a water hose in the middle of working hours. The fact that I have a bad crush on her and she rejected me doesn’t justify it, as now I’m unemployed.

			Not for long, however.

			My knack for producing new doors to walk through after slamming others shut – and having good fortune consistently smile on me after snatching defeat from the jaws of victory – lands me a job at the newly-opened Friday’s in Nashville a mere three-hour drive northeast.

			The manager who’d fired me weeks before in Memphis had rehired me for a month or so before assigning me to be the head bartender in Nashville. How I’m able to screw up like this and still come out smelling like a rose, I can’t tell you.

			The Nashville Friday’s is located right near Vanderbilt University. Gorgeous coeds flood the joint. Despite not being rock-star handsome, I have my pick of those college beauties.

			Only the lure of acting can convince me to leave this paradise. But I want to be in plays, and Nashville isn’t the center of the stage universe. That would be New York.

			When the manager from the New York Friday’s pays a visit to our place in Nashville in November, I beg him to take me back to Manhattan.

			“I promise to behave myself,” I tell him.

			Within two months, I’ll be on my way to The Big Apple. Of course, that means I’m duty-bound to make an ass of myself just before leaving to pursue my dream as a parting shot to Tennessee.

			The night before I’m scheduled to fly to New York, I’m back in Memphis at this dive bar called the Lamplighter Lounge on Madison Avenue. It’s a smoky, badly-lit joint.

			Since it’s the early Seventies and I’m not long out of law school, I basically look like a hippie. Picture it: Long stringy hair, leather vest, faded jeans. The kind of kid the rednecks like to eat for lunch, right?

			I’m there drinking my beer when I spot a giant picture of George Wallace, the pro-segregation governor of Alabama. This says a lot about the politics and mindset of the person who owns the bar, of course. I eye the bartender interacting with customers before he turns his attention to me and my hippie locks.

			“You one of them dirty hippies, ain’t ya?” the bartender says snidely. “You probably like hangin’ out with the coloreds too, I’m guessin’. How’s things on Beale Street?”

			The combination of the jerk’s running patter and the alcohol is getting me good and worked up.

			“Yeah, I like Beale Street,” I say in reply.

			“Ooh, sissy boy’s makin’ all uppity, fellas,” he shoots back insultingly.

			This sends several of the other denizens of the bar into hysterics. They just laugh and laugh. Funniest thing they’ve ever heard. 

			Now my paranoia takes over.

			I make my way to the pay phone to call my buddy down the street.

			“Hey, I’m at the Lamplighter on Madison. I might need some help.” 

			“OK.”

			I briefly pop outside and start the motor of my limo (my prized toy). When I see my friend finally arrive with two other friends, I get up from my stool and stride up to the bartender, suddenly full of courage.

			“Here’s what I think of you,” I yell, followed by a feeble left hand to his brow that I see cuts his face.

			I hightail it out and jump into my waiting Fleetwood. I later find out that the bartender filed charges and a warrant had been issued for my arrest.

			New York City – 1972

			Sure, I’m making a few bucks at Friday’s in Manhattan. But what I really want to do is be a starving actor. That means working my butt off for little or no pay. If that’s your goal, there is no better city in the world than this one.

			I somehow think that arriving in New York with a law degree under my arm will grant me some special privilege, that play producers and casting directors would see that I’m not just some random hayseed from Tennessee but an educated man, darn it.

			What you quickly learn here is that nobody cares who you are or where you’ve come from. Everyone starts out at the same level: Shmoe struggling to prove yourself. My apprenticeship is destined to be hardcore and intense.

			The good news is, it doesn’t take me long to find a place to live. I’m able to score a totally renovated apartment on the Upper East Side for $250 a month.

			This same place will probably set you back over $3,500 now. But for someone not making a huge bundle, it’s still not as giant a bargain as it might seem.

			The bad news is, I bring only a windbreaker to keep me warm in the dead of winter in New York City. This is a little bit like bringing a squirt gun to a gang rumble in terms of effectiveness. I freeze my butt off. Dumb hillbilly from Tennessee obviously doesn’t read the weather reports.

			Within nine months, I’ll have picked up a big sheepskin coat that more than does the job.

			My biggest advantage in New York as an actor is one you might think to be the opposite: My accent. It gives me an edge, a gimmick that I can treat as either an asset or an Achilles heel.

			People tell me to try to lose it, that it’s going to be a deal-breaker in trying to land work. I think they’re wrong.

			As soon as I arrive, I hire a speech teacher, the same one who taught Brando and a lot of other wonderful actors over the years. I don’t like what I hear from her, however.

			“When you do Shakespeare,” she tells me, “it sounds like Tennessee Williams.” When I tell Tommy Lee Jones this story years later, his suggestion is, “Change teachers.”

			In my acting classes, meanwhile, their favorite thing to say is, “You’re not ready, you’re not ready.” I think, “Well, of course not. If I were ready, I wouldn’t be paying you to tell me I’m not ready.”

			I have to sustain myself creatively with off-off-off-off-Broadway plays, student films and the occasional job as an extra/background player in movies and TV. And I’m restless, moving around a lot while getting the lay of this very different land. I switch bar jobs from Friday’s, to Tuesday’s, then to Thursday’s. I’m determined to bartend my way through every day of the week, and I’m already three-sevenths of the way there.

			That summer, I also do something incredibly smart, if not a hundred percent legal. I get hooked up with a crazy artist named Jim Byron who lives in one of these prized rent-controlled apartments that New York once was famous for. He’s evidently planning to move to Spain. I give him $900 for his crib.

			Byron’s rent is all of $90 a month. I’m able to pay the landlord a money order every month signed “Jim Byron,” and no one is the wiser. I get a dirt-cheap place in a decent area across from NYU Law School in the heart of Greenwich Village.

			I’m restless, though. Man am I ever. I’m always heading over to a nearby print shop to update my resumé, this being the era before home computers and printers.

			The helpful older lady who owns the printing place is constantly trying to give me pointers on the best way to present myself on a piece of paper, particularly when she finds out I’m trying to break into acting.

			“You really want to put any practical experience on stage or in these student films right up at the top,” she explains. “That’s much more important than your college degrees.”

			“Oh, I appreciate the suggestion,” I lie.

			The truth is, I don’t need some print shop type telling me what producers and casting people are looking for. If she knows so much about show business, shouldn’t she be doing something other than printing everyone’s stuff?

			“Here. Take a look at this. It’s my son’s resumé. Just to give you a taste of what I’m talking about.”

			Great. Now she’s making me look at her kid’s credits.

			“Hey thank you,” I tell her. “I’ll check it out. Have a great day.”

			After getting home, I look over the son’s resumé. I see he’s got a couple of starring roles in low-budget indie pictures. Something called Hi, Mom! And this mob flick, The Gang That Couldn’t Shoot Straight.

			I toss it in the garbage and forget about it until a few years later, when a friend asks me if I still frequent that same print shop.

			“No, they moved, so I go someplace closer to where I live,” I tell him.

			“You know the lady who owns the place? Virginia Admiral?”

			“Yeah. She was always telling me how to list my credits. What about her?” 

			“You know that she’s Robert De Niro’s mother, right?”

			“What?” I respond, incredulous. 

			“Oh yeah.”

			I vowed to take her advice if I ever ran into her again.

			1973-75

			Between the bartending gigs, my stage play work rises a notch in terms of both quality level and frequency. I’ve become something of a go-to guy if you’re looking for a misfit, outcast or downtrodden type in both revivals and contemporary stuff. I do Brecht. I do Shakespeare.

			And at this stage of my performing life, nobody plays a better street bum than I do. It sounds facetious, but I say it with a large measure of pride. It’s tramp characters that lead me to experiment with method acting of a sort, though not entirely by choice.

			A theater owner from Israel named Samy Schmuel takes one look and evidently sees “vagrant” written all over me.

			“You are the perfect bum, my friend,” Samy tells me as a compliment. “I want people to believe you’re a real one. That will help to sell the show. I need you to do this for me, Bill. Stay in this character all day. You understand?”

			“I can do that,” I say confidently.

			Mind you, I am doing this for no pay. It’s all about honing my craft and getting attention, so that one day before I die I might convince an agent to take a chance on representing me.

			But that’s down the road. First, I dress myself up in layers of ratty clothes, the same way my grandfather used to on his tobacco farm no matter how hot it was. I don a threadbare cap. I allow a few days’ worth of stubble to peek through on my face. I get a paper bag with an empty bottle of whiskey inside. To complete the look, I insert a quarter in my ear, just because.

			I’m ready to hit the street.

			“Go out and panhandle!” Samy orders. “We split whatever money they give you, OK?”

			“Like hell!” I tell him. “What if I get mugged? Are you down for fifty percent of that, too?”

			“OK OK fine, keep the money, just get bodies in my seats,” Samy replies.

			Out onto the streets I go. Again, I fit right in as a vagrant. In fact, so convincing am I that I get resentful glares from the other bums in my midst, irked that this newbie is invading their territory. One even demands a quarter to have his picture taken with me.

			Tourists rush past me as I try to hand them flyers promoting the show. The cops repeatedly roust me from areas along with my fellow bums, none of whom, as far as I can tell, is an actor faking it. No one fingers me for anything other than the real deal.

			I walk back and lie down in front of the theater where we’re playing, all bummed out. Those attending the show are forced to go around or over me in order to get inside, having no clue I’m a performer in the show they’re about to see.

			One attendee, apparently a therapist of some sort, steps over me, looks down and says to his companion, “Why do I want to see this? I treat these people every day.”

			The gimmick appears to be working. We’re getting full houses for our little play. Samy is happy. I’m having an oddly good time as well, inexplicably comfortable being falsely pegged as a bum living on the street.

			I even demonstrate an enterprising streak, printing up T-shirts that say “BEGGAR” and selling a bundle of them to earn extra money.

			I prefer to hang Downtown, though I’d probably fit in better at Times Square. During this era, Times Square is a rundown mess of decaying apartment buildings, hookers, drug dealers and muggings. It’s seedy and ridden with crime. Many of the once-great theaters sit empty and dilapidated. In all honesty, I just feel safer sticking Downtown.

			I’m cured of my fascination with getting so heavily into character, however, on the day I ask a well-dressed businessman for any spare change and he pulls out a knife, holding it up inches from my throat.

			“Get the fuck away from me if you want to keep breathing,” he threatens in an even tone.

			Throwing up my hands as if under arrest, I back off and tell him, “Hey, no problem pal. Apologies man.”

			It’s not for nothing that just one year later, I punched Sande Shurin’s husband in the face because I was that confident I’m perfect to play a bum.

			When my life isn’t being threatened, I sense my lot improving, slowly but steadily. I feel my comfort level at performing in front of people increasing, thanks in large part to working with the great acting teachers Alice Spivak and William Hickey (who was nominated for an Oscar for the 1985 film Prizzi’s Honor).

			It’s Hickey who paves the way for me to produce an actual show as well as star in it: The one-act William Saroyan play Hello Out There! That leads to my first-ever paying job, working with the troupe Theatre Genesis at St. Mark’s Church in the East Village in a show called Malecon. I portray a corrupt sheriff who likes to wear a lot of wristwatches on his arm.

			And I get paid $60 a week! Surely independent wealth can’t be far away now.

			In fact, the Malecon playwright whose name escapes me likes my performance so much that he promises to write me a star vehicle play called Lawless William.

			Unfortunately, five minutes after making that promise, he asks to borrow $50. Life in New York City.

			The bartending work is fortunately more than keeping me financially solvent. I seem to bounce from one job to another due to my nasty habit of arguing and getting in fights on the job. Places like Jimmy Armstrong’s, Jimmy Day’s, The Ginger Man, Googie’s and O’Neal’s Baloon.

			Legend has it that O’Neal’s Baloon (yes, that’s the proper spelling of “Baloon”) got its name because one wasn’t allowed to call a bar a “Saloon” in New York City at that time. So, the owners simply substituted a “B” for the “S.”

			It’s notable that I’m not the only struggling New York actor to hold down a job at O’Neal’s. Before they made it big, Ed O’Neill (Married…With Children, Modern Family), Joe Pantoliano (The Sopranos) and Michael Moriarty (Law & Order) also worked there.

			As a guy who I might charitably admit lacks leading-man looks, once behind the bar I turned into a much more handsome fellow. I don’t collect phone numbers like Elvis, but for a struggling actor working Uptown, I do more than OK.

			A lot of gorgeous models and actresses give me the time of day because I’m behind that bar. When you’re a young guy with a worthless law degree who’s working in a town that he’s still getting used to, that means an awful lot.

			I make a rule that I never drink when I’m acting – at least, not until after I’m done for the day. But that doesn’t necessarily apply when I’m tending bar. It’s different when the booze is right there in front of you all the time. And it takes very little alcohol to turn me into a different (read: bullying and abusive) individual.

			Take this one night while I’m working at Googie’s, a great little neighborhood bar in Greenwich Village a block from Washington Square Park. It’s intimate and has a potbelly stove in the back, sawdust on the floor and a great atmosphere.

			That doesn’t stop me from creating a scene while handling the 9 p.m. to midnight shift. I’m taking a break when I notice that the guy filling in for me is overpouring, in my slightly-inebriated opinion. And I tell him as much.

			“Hey man,” I say fairly loudly, “you’ve got a heavy hand with the booze there. Cut it out.”

			Suddenly, a waiter who had recently been demoted from bartender – a tough guy – comes running at me. This guy is so tough that after being shot in the mouth at Googie’s, he returned to work two days later. That’s tough.

			Anyway, I’m already holding a Lowenbrau bottle in my hand. So, I conk the guy on the head with it, and not just a little tap. Hard enough to knock him woozy.

			I run out the door panicked, soon finding out that the guy (let’s call him Tommy) has to be rushed to the hospital.

			Besides again being out of a job, of course, I respond to this crisis by hiding out at a friend’s apartment Uptown. I fear Tommy is going to come after me. I even imagine he’s mob-connected for reasons that elude me still.

			My unfounded paranoia inspires me to seek out a mobbed-up type I happen to know. I’ll call him Sal. I express my concerns to Sal one day during a lunch where I wear dark sunglasses and carry a machete in my shoulder bag, which we now call a man-purse.

			Sal tries not to laugh as he counsels me.

			“Billy,” he reasons, “I honestly don’t think Tommy has that kind of clout to get you bumped off. I’ve never heard of him. That ought to tell you something.”

			“Yeah,” I acknowledge, “but I just don’t feel like I can take a chance.”

			“So, what are you going to do? Hide forever? Change your identity through plastic surgery? Go into Witness Protection? Come on, Billy. This guy’s a nobody. He’d be honored to know what a big deal you’re making out of this.”

			Sal has a point. His take is simply that Tommy wants my job, saw an opportunity and went for it.

			But Tommy doesn’t get my job. He doesn’t come after me. And Googie’s even rehires me, because there seems to be no bridge I can burn so completely that it stays burned forever. Once again, I step in dog poop and come out smelling like cologne.

			Yet I still carry the machete around for a while. Because you never know.

			Pushing limits to the breaking point (and beyond) is what I specialize in now, thanks to my painfully dysfunctional relationship with alcohol. When you add another drug to that mix, it’s destined to be even worse.

			I’m sharing a cab with a friend who is traveling to JFK International Airport, from which he’s flying to Los Angeles to embark on his acting dream. We’re cracking open beers during the ride. Then he takes out a couple of “poppers” (small vials of Amyl Nitrate that, when inhaled, give you a brief but powerful head rush).

			Never done poppers before. It’s fun. Maybe a little intense for my taste. In combo with the beer, I’m good and toasted after dropping him off and riding back to my neighborhood, consuming another beer or two along the way.

			I have the cab drop me across the street from my apartment at a little deli where I often grab a bite, since I have no kitchen or fridge in my dingy little flat. I enter looking to place a sandwich order. But the kid working the deli in back tells me, “Sorry, we’re closed.”

			“Aw c’mon, you’re still here, how can you be closed?” I plead. 

			“We just shut it down. Sorry. Come back tomorrow.”

			“Pleeeeeze?”

			“Sorry, I can’t.”

			Well, in my current state, I am in no mood to hear someone tell me “No.” So I do what I do and punch him hard in the head, drawing a little blood.

			The cashier sees this and immediately locks the front door of the place. Now I’m trapped, enraging me even more.

			“What the hell do you think you’re doing!” I scream, menacingly approaching the cashier.

			“Give me the keys!” I demand. “Right now!”

			The cashier calls out to the deli kid to “call the cops!”. 

			“No cops!” I fume. “Do not call the cops!”

			This is my cue to go completely insane and start destroying the place. My arms are flailing and knocking over everything in sight.

			“Let’s give the cops something to look at!” I yell while breaking bottles of soda, jars of peanut butter, glassware, glass paperweights. Everything suddenly seems to be made of glass in this place. And pretty soon it’s all in a shattered heap on the floor.

			The cashier and sandwich maker are now cowering in a corner, scared for their lives that a lunatic has gone completely off his rocker.

			In all the pandemonium and carnage that I’ve wrought, I don’t even know if they really called the cops. But I’m not about to hang around to find out, locked door or no locked door.

			I see a small transom window over the front door. Along with my actor’s portfolio that I carry everywhere, I hoist myself up and somehow squeeze through. (Sometimes it’s good to be a shrimp.) I fall down onto Third Street to freedom, leaving the fear and devastation behind.

			Or so I think.

			What I haven’t bothered to take into account is the fact these people know me and know me well. They know my name. I come in here nearly every day, for crying out loud. Therefore, staying in my apartment until the smoke clears isn’t necessarily going to save my hide.

			Good thing I wasn’t well-known at this time. I could just see the tabloid headlines: “CRAZED STAR DESTROYS DELI WHEN DENIED SANDWICH; TWO NOW IN THERAPY.”

			Again, the coast is anything but clear. That much is obvious when I get a call two days later.

			“Hello?”

			“William Sanderson? This is Detective Flores, Sixth Precinct.” 

			I think it’s my buddy from Uptown playing a joke.

			“Come on, Phil. You can do better than that.”

			“Who’s Phil?”

			“You. Come on, don’t bullshit me.”

			“No man,” Detective Flores assures me, “this is no joke. And I need you to come into the precinct right now or we’ll have to come place you under arrest. Your choice.”

			A half-hour later, I’m sitting in the office of Detective Flores. It strikes me that he’s straight out of Central Detective Casting, with a full head of silver hair and a pistol with a pearl handle sitting on his desk.

			“Thanks for coming in,” the easygoing Flores says. 

			“You didn’t give me a lot of choice,” I respond.

			“That’s because you destroyed someone’s business because…they wouldn’t serve you a sandwich? Really? That’s all it takes for you to lose it?”

			“Yeah,” I say with shame. “I was drunk.”

			As if that makes it somehow OK.

			Flores picks up his desk phone and dials the deli.

			“It’s Detective Flores again,” he says into the phone. “I’ve got Sanderson right here. What would you like to do? Do you want to press charges?”

			“No, I don’t think so,” the owner tells him. “He’s a nice guy. We just want him to pay for the damage and we’re square.”

			The upshot is that I have to pay $100 a week for six weeks to cover everything. To say I was relieved and incredibly grateful to this lady would be a major understatement. She could have made things much tougher on me by pressing charges. After the way I behaved, she probably should have.

			Once again, I skate by.

			Does this close call convince me to change my ways? Of course not.

			I’m having a couple of beers – the phrase that always seems to precede disaster – at an Upper East Side restaurant where my girlfriend Linda works, waiting for her to finish her shift. I guess I’m acting obnoxious or something as we take a cab to her Downtown apartment.

			But after arriving, she informs me, “You’re not coming in.” 

			“What? Why the hell not?” I protest.

			“Because you’re drunk and behaving like a jackass.” 

			“Hey come on, that’s bullshit.”

			“Forget it, Billy. Take a cab home. We’ll talk later.”

			“Come on,” I continue, “let me come in. I won’t stay long.”

			I’m still griping about this when out of nowhere a male friend of Linda’s approaches, stepping in to defend her. He’s dressed in a yellow raincoat, as it’s drizzling.

			“Come on, just leave Linda alone,” this guy I’ve never met before urges me. “Go sleep it off.”

			Well, no guy that I think I can outrun is going to tell me when I should and when I shouldn’t visit with my girlfriend.

			I jump the guy, pull his raincoat over his head and just start pummeling him. Linda tries to break us up but realizes it’s fruitless and instead runs inside her building. Mind you, I don’t hurt him much, as I have the strength of less than one man. 

			Later on, Linda tells me that she actually took pieces of the torn yellow raincoat and used them to make a collage. I decide to take this to mean “no hard feelings.” 

			I wish her friend felt the same way, but apparently he isn’t quite so forgiving. He calls the police and presses charges since it is technically assault.

			I’m arrested and taken up to the Ninth Precinct (I got to know many of the precincts) for booking. I bail myself out but am given a court date. And since I’m still on probation for a prior domestic dispute – I may have forgotten to mention that – I imagine I could wind up majorly screwed here.

			Again, however, the guardian angels or whatever it is protecting me from myself intervene. On the appointed day, Mr. Yellow Raincoat doesn’t show, so no probation violation. Case dismissed.

			As I exit the courthouse, a plainclothes detective who recognizes me from a previous arrest makes a beeline for me.

			“Hey man. What are you doing back here?”

			“Oh, had another little problem,” I explain. “Luckily, the guy who filed against me forgot to show up.”

			“Really? Wow, you are one lucky SOB. With a prior, you’d have gone to Rikers (Island) for sure.”

			Rikers Island is the prison complex that sits on the East River between Queens and the mainland Bronx. If I go there, it’s hard time for me. That’s not just a bullet dodged; it’s a hand grenade survived.

			1976-77

			With all of this trouble that I’m creating for myself, it’s kind of a miracle that I even have time left over to push forward with my acting. But I do.

			I use my continually expanding reputation as a loose cannon as part of my “process” when auditioning. That’s how I wound up getting the role in Insect Comedy that helped raise me to the next level. It’s the story I told you back at the beginning about socking the producer in the mouth when he told me I was too late to read for the part – and getting hired for it, anyway.

			Now I have an agent. Things start to roll. I’d already gotten a part in a terrible low-budget film called Hooch (not Gil Gerard’s or Danny Aiello’s finest hour, nor mine). Don’t look for it on my IMDB page. It’s not there.

			What Hooch is good for is that it leads to my agent J. Michael Bloom submitting me for another tiny-budget feature, a horror flick called Savage Weekend that will be shooting here in New York state.

			“Billy, this is a film as opposed to a play,” Bloom counsels me. “You’ve got to make a quick impression if you want this part.”

			That’s all I need to hear. I’m determined to make the most indelible impression these folks have ever seen.

			I wrap a button shirt around my waist, pull my pants down several inches so my underwear hangs out, put on one flip-flop and stick a cigarette up my nose. Then I go to the office where they’re reading actors and lay myself down a couple of feet from the door.

			The writer-director of Savage Weekend, David Paulsen, is taking care of some business in his office when his assistants pop in, mortified.

			“David David David! There’s a bum lying on the floor outside. He looks totally weird. He’s muttering something about being here to try out for the part of Otis. But he can’t be an actor. We’ve already called security.” 

			“OK,” David says, alarmed, “I’ll take care of it.”

			Paulsen figures he’ll roust me out of there before the real auditions begin. 

			“Who are you and what are you doing here?” he asks.

			“Uh, I’m William Sanderson,” I assure him, still lying on the ground, in a practiced mumble. “Here to read for the part of Otis.” 

			“Did you get a script?”

			“Oh yeah. Got it right here.” (I hold up the pages.)

			Paulsen’s skepticism is understandable. The Otis role (he’s the town crazy) calls for an actor closer to sixty or sixty-five. I’m only thirty-two.

			An exasperated look crosses Paulsen’s face. He takes a deep breath.

			“OK fine. If you can get up, let’s get this over with. Lunch is over everybody. Meet in the reading room in five.”

			As I stumble into the audition room, I’m reading to four people – Paulsen, his producer and a couple of assistants. It’s already a mess in there. Cigarette butts litter the floor. There are all of these half-empty soda cans and food wrappers tossed everyplace.

			The “sides” (the portion of the script read in the audition) call for Otis to speak to the grave of a dead friend. Already dialed in to the character, I play it as real as possible.

			“You mind if I make a grave with these cigarette butts?” I ask. 

			“Go right ahead, do what you need to,” Paulsen replies.

			I’m making this cigarette grave and stumbling and apologizing to those in the room.

			“How’s this? Sorry, I’m sorry. Sorry to disturb you. I haven’t got any chewing tobacco, do you mind if I chew a real cigarette?”

			“Fine,” Paulsen says, shaking his head.

			I open a cigarette up, pour the tobacco in my mouth and start chewing it like it’s the most natural thing in the world. Then I talk to that grave like it’s the best friend I’ve ever had. I argue. I joke. I laugh. I treat that mountain of cigarette butts like it’s the most sacred thing ever.

			When I’m done, all four people are wide-eyed with something that looks like astonishment. Paulsen approaches me and puts a reassuring hand on my shoulder.

			He whispers, “I’ve got to ask you: Are you all right?”

			“Yeah,” I say, now out of character. “Just fine, why?”

			“Because that was the most intense performance I’ve ever seen.” 

			“Well thank you, I…”

			“You’re either absolutely insane or one of the most brilliant actors in the world.”

			I don’t know what to say. I’m dumbstruck. Finally, I ask, “So does that mean I got the part?”

			“Yes,” Paulsen assures me.

			I’ll later learn that one of the assistants in that room – a young NYU grad student – was so blown away by the audition that she’ll write a thesis paper describing it.

			Word starts to get around that I’m the go-to guy if you’re in the market for a believable disturbed individual. The Tennessee twang also comes in handy when casting directors are in the market for a credible racist monster character.

			This generates my first lead role in any project of substance – though in this case the word “substance” is probably used fairly loosely. It’s a brutal crime thriller called Fight for Your Life, and looking back it is breathtakingly politically incorrect, nasty and exploitative.

			My character in the film is a vicious racist escaped convict thug named Jesse Lee Kane, who terrorizes a black preacher (Robert Judd) and his family. The preacher, incidentally, is named Ted Turner for no apparent reason. Meanwhile, Jesse is as evil as it gets.

			IMDB describes Fight for Your Life as “a mean, trashy exploitation picture.” The poster lays it out as “89 Minutes of Gut-Crunching Terror!”

			So racist and revolting is this movie that it gets instantly banned in England. A few years later, even after heavy editing, it gets banned in Sweden, too. It’s telling that the one guy who admits unapologetically to loving it (years later) is Quentin Tarantino. It’s his kind of violent epic.

			For me, of course, Fight for Your Life is just a credit – but a great one. And the critic at the L.A. Times will buck the tide by calling the film “a well-acted, low-budget thriller” while pointing out that “William Sanderson is very strong as the head convict.” A confidence builder for me.

			Before the year is out, I’ll have smaller roles in a couple of more movies. I’m a working movie actor. It’s finally happened, even if the paydays are hardly going to leave me independently wealthy.

			This is how much things have changed in a year: I’m invited to attend the prestigious Cannes Film Festival in ’77. It comes from Paulsen and Robert Endelson, Fight for Your Life’s director.

			Turns out I’m going to have three films in which I have roles screening there: Fight For Your Life, Savage Weekend and a thing called Proof of the Man with George Kennedy (Oscar winner for Cool Hand Luke).

			My only problem is, I need to pay my own way. And I’ve just been fired (again) from my latest bartending job for getting into a shoving match/dust-up. The manager of the restaurant is also determined not to allow me to collect unemployment. I’m basically screwed.

			I take the guy to court to fight for unemployment. And he doesn’t show up. I wind up collecting $600, just enough to take a cheap flight and book an even cheaper hotel room in Cannes. Maybe even eat.

			For a Southern boy from Tennessee, Cannes is unbelievable. What a wild scene. Endless film entertainment. Gorgeous women sunning themselves topless on the beach and drinking Kronenbourg beer. They all want to be famous actresses, and they’re all sashaying around wearing as little as possible.

			I’m in heaven, walking around in my Stetson hat and flashing my toughest cowboy expression. Except that I have a tourist map sticking out of my back pocket.

			I bond with Paulsen and his lovely French wife, Claude. He will go on to have a brilliant career writing, producing big-time soap operas like Dallas, Knots Landing and the final season of Dynasty. He’ll become a lifelong friend, mentor and confidant.

			What David tells me at Cannes is this: “Billy, you’ve got some heat behind you with these movies. The time to strike is now, while that iron is hot.”

			“Meaning what?” I ask.

			“Meaning you need to figure out a way to get your butt to California, before you get stale.”

			“But I haven’t got any money to make a move.”

			Looking me straight in the eye, David orders, “Get some.”

			I hear the same refrain from my legendary voice and speech teacher, Marian Rich.

			“You have to ask yourself, Bill, ‘Can I be happy doing regional theatre,’ Marian says to me, “‘or do I want more?’.”

			I want more. I want TV shows. I want more and better movies. I want it all, man.

			I’m imagining that David Naughton (An American Werewolf in London) does, too.

			David appears with me in a PBS film made in honor of the Bicentennial called The Other Side of Victory, about a demoralized group of Army soldiers during the Revolutionary War. He’s just starting to get very hot as the lead singer-dancer in a famous Dr. Pepper campaign that exhorts people to “Be a Pepper.” He’s got women hanging all over him.

			I’d like some of the Naughton magic with women to rub off on me. About the best I can do is ladies asking me, “Can you get me David’s autographed picture?”

			Unfortunately, the guy is a bit full of himself and kind of a sarcastic kid. If I’m looking for sympathy, I probably won’t get it here.

			“I’m plotting my getaway to Hollywood, David,” I say to him one day.

			“Oh really? What are you planning on doing there?” he asks, tongue planted firmly in cheek.

			“Well, I’m hoping to get into movies and TV. One or two more breaks and I should be on my way.”

			This is when David puts a hand on my shoulder, looks me straight in the eye and says with deadpan earnestness, “Let’s face it, Billy, you’re a specialty act.”

			These words sting me badly coming from a guy I like and respect. But that changes things. I start to fear that maybe David’s right, that I’m fooling myself if I expect to make it in this tough business.

			David will find stardom in An American Werewolf in London in ’81. But I’ll wind up doing at least as well as he does over the long haul. This isn’t to compare, just to make the point that sometimes a specialty act can do just fine. And despite Naughton’s insensitive prediction, I’ll be getting the last laugh.

			Memphis – August 16, 1977

			Elvis’ death devastates me. It’s almost like the death of a parent. That he can die at forty-two seems just inconceivable.

			A friend who knows how much I loved Elvis offers to fly me in from New York if I want to attend the funeral. But I decline. I want to remember him how he was, not from what’s destined to be a media circus.

			I’m thirty-four years old, and The King’s tragic passing at forty-two is a wake-up call that nobody lives forever – and some of us die young. No one is immune. Not that this inspires me to change my lifestyle. But it does give me pause.

			This is something that will take me a long time to even be willing to talk about.

			We don’t like to think that our idols are mere mortals.

			1978

			My ticket to Hollywood comes in a curious form, as a short-term (three weeks) job on a short-lived NBC daytime soap opera called For Richer, For Poorer.

			The show had premiered in 1977 under the title Lovers and Friends, didn’t catch on, and then got shelved for seven months. Now it’s coming back with the new name in the spring of ’78, and they’re looking for new performers.

			Reading for the part of a killer – hey, it’s what I do – I put on my most dapper outfit, which includes a pink silk shirt, and head in to speak with producer Paul Rauch.

			I perform fine. But it seems Rauch has some issue with my fashion choice.

			“What kind of a killer wears a pink shirt?” he inquires with an edge of disdain.

			Caught off-guard, I do my best to doubletalk my way out.

			“Let me ask you a question: How many killers do you know?”

			Rauch considers this for a second before replying, “Well, none.”

			“Me neither,” I respond. “So how is it that you know what killers wear?” 

			“I’m just imagining it isn’t pink.”

			“Maybe that’s why they wear it,” I slyly offer, “because then you’ll never suspect them.” I punctuate this with a point and a nod.

			Rauch isn’t buying it.

			“You’re full of it,” he concludes.

			Why had I worn a pink shirt? Because my agent told me I was reading for the role of a pool shark.

			Doesn’t matter. I get the part anyway. And the money I make ($1,500) is just enough to start my new life in L.A. But barely.

		

	
		
			Chapter 9

			GONE HOLLYWOOD

			Hollywood, CAlifornia – Fall 1978

			I’ve finally arrived.

			And someone else has, too.

			One of the first things I see after getting to Hollywood is a bum who looks awfully familiar. The reason is that he’s the same bum whom I used to see working West Third in Manhattan!

			What the hell is he doing here? How’d he even get here? Can tramps be bi-coastal?

			The sad part is, I don’t have much more money than he does. Maybe less.

			Clutching my $1,500 like the lifeline it is, I move into the historic Montecito Apartments at 6650 Franklin Avenue. This is the very same ten-story Art Deco landmark that served as the temporary digs for Ronald Reagan, James Cagney, George C. Scott, Gene Hackman, Mickey Rooney and Montgomery Clift.

			The Montecito has fallen into disrepair. But that makes the rent relatively cheap: $300 a month for what was for me an elegant studio apartment. It’s still too expensive without a job, however, so within three months I have to move to a $150/month crib on Fairfax Avenue near Santa Monica Boulevard.

			This new dwelling has only intermittent hot water. So, I have to get through my first Christmas in L.A. without decent showers and by using a pay phone to call my agent.

			I want to be a starving artist, and by God I am. I’m hoping not for too long.

			1979

			My temporary agent lands me an audition for the big cop feature The Onion Field, based on the bestselling book of the same name by former L.A. cop Joseph Wambaugh. It’s a big deal, too. I’ll be reading for the part of real-life killer Gregory Powell that will eventually go to James Woods.

			When I meet with the casting director, she asks me where I’m from. “Cadillac, Michigan,” I announce.

			“Wow really?” she replies in shock. “That’s Powell’s hometown.”

			“You’re kidding?” I reply rhetorically, lying through my teeth to gain some sort of perceived advantage.

			She never finds out I’m making it up and I come in to read for Wambaugh (adapting his own book for the big screen) and the producers.

			“Look,” Wambaugh tells me privately afterward, “I have to be honest with you. This is my first nonfiction film, and I need my actor to look and sound as much like the real Gregory Powell as possible. So that’s out for you, unfortunately.”

			I sense a “but” coming.

			“But,” Wambaugh continues, “I want to figure out a way to get you into this movie somehow.”

			It’s right then that Wambaugh puts his money where his mouth is, getting immediately on the phone with my agent and telling him, “This is the most articulate actor I’ve seen in years. If I have to, I’ll write him a part.”

			Wambaugh does write that little walk-on for me, too, tiny though it may be. For a guy barely getting by in a teensy apartment, scrounging to make ends meet any way he can, getting this kind of response from a guy with the clout of Wambaugh is spectacular.

			As a bonus, Wambaugh poses with me for a picture, and I get to carry around an 8 x 10 print of that photograph on the front seat of my junker car to show any cops who might stop me because I look unsavory. At this time in my life, I’m unshaven and have long hair appropriate for the roles I’m auditioning for.

			Change to my situation comes slowly, though. I grab any job I can. I even take temporary work as a clerk at a couple of 7-Eleven stores in West Hollywood, which as you might imagine isn’t the best fit for a man of my temperament. I punch a customer out for repeatedly blowing a whistle, behavior that it turns out is kind of frowned upon by the company. (The punching, not the whistle.)

			In the interim, I’m forced to move again to an even cheaper place. This one is $135, a single-room shack really with an ultra-small kitchenette right beside the Hollywood Freeway. I have to move there in a hurry after a girlfriend and I have a big falling-out.

			This building is the kind of place you read about in old-time novels like Nathaniel West’s The Day of the Locust, where the lead character discovers a part of society whose “eyes filled with hatred” and who “had come to California to die.”

			Sounds pretty romantic, I know.

			I’m surrounded by all sorts of oddball neighbors, ex-cons, little people, cross-dressers, hookers, lowlifes and a gunshot victim who limps everywhere. The manager has a habit of sending me prostitutes whether I want him to or not. I guess he sees in my eyes a guy who needs to get laid or something.

			One time, I decide to partake of the charms of the lovely platinum-haired hooker sent by the manager. But as we’re doing the deed, she suddenly gets impatient and barks out, “C’mon, hurry up!”.

			“Hey,” I tell her, “is it OK with you if I try to enjoy this?”

			“Look, if you’re not going to pay me, I’m gonna call the cops,” she threatens. 

			“What? Who says I’m not going to pay you? I just want to finish first.”

			The lady angrily pushes me off of her, quickly puts her clothes back on and splits.

			Less than half an hour later, I answer a knock at the door and it’s the police. I literally cannot believe it. What prostitute calls the cops because her customer doesn’t pay her quickly enough?

			Fortunately, a woman in my building vouches for my, uh, good character. I settle up with the hooker and we move on.

			But living in Casa de Crazy is a daily whirlwind of wacky.

			Stepping out of my unit one day, I find a guy who’s tripping on something and passed out on my doorstep. I shake him to make sure he’s alive.

			“You live here?” I ask him.

			“Yeah, you?” he replies calmly, as if we’re sharing pleasantries while walking the dog.

			My assessment is that he was too wasted to make it all the way back to his place in the middle of the night. So, he just curled up right there.

			Another day, I overhear a guy down the hall scream, “It’s my ass motherfucker! If I say you can’t do it, you can’t do it!”

			It might be that same afternoon when a neighbor invites me to his room upstairs just to shoot the breeze. But when I walk inside, there’s broken liquor bottles all over the place and, on the floor, apropos of nothing, a giant dildo. I make a quick exit.

			I never enter another apartment in the building.

			The thing is, I’ve procured a pistol to help protect me in what I thought was the big bad world of L.A., though I’m really more of a danger to myself than to anyone around me.

			There’s this one time when I’m still working at the 7-Eleven. I’d done a graveyard shift and gotten off at seven in the morning. I’m running around all day, with an audition and a dental appointment some miles away in Santa Monica, and I’m just exhausted from having been up all night.

			When 5 p.m. rolls around, I’m ready for a beer or two. As I’m downing them, I ask the bartender to hide my twenty-two pistol behind the bar. He does.

			But then when I’m clearly drunk and ask him for the pistol back, the bartender says “No.” Plus, several of my fellow bar patrons understandably find my leaving there with a loaded weapon to be an incredibly bad idea.

			Now I’m angry as well as toasted and exhausted. 

			“Give me back my gun!” I shout.

			“No buddy, you’re in no shape to drive, much less carry a gun!” one of the customers yells back at me.

			“I don’t care what you think,” I say, getting in his face. “It’s mine and I want it back right now!”

			Somehow, I get my gun back and leave the joint in my decrepit $400 van.

			Now I head off onto Sunset Boulevard and suddenly am overwhelmed by the desire to shoot off the gun. While still driving, I point the weapon out the window and fire two bullets into the sky. In my drunken condition, I love the way the blue flame looks coming out of the muzzle.

			I’m evidently weaving the van badly. I remember almost nothing, of course. But I do recall being pulled over by the police and quickly hiding the gun under my seat.

			“Good evening,” the cop says, coming to my window. 

			“Evening ossifer,” I slur.

			“Looks like you were having a little trouble controlling your vehicle back there. How much have you had to drink tonight?”

			I stare at the policeman blankly, then turn my head slowly to look at my hand. My mind struggles to communicate to my hand that it should hold up two fingers. But when I turn my hand toward the cop, my palm is still open with all five fingers sticking out.

			“Two,” I insist while showing him my outspread hand. 

			“Please step out of the car, sir.”

			The breathalyzer comes back showing a 1.7, more than twice the legal limit.

			I’m so incredibly lucky to only get charged with a DUI. The police never searched my vehicle, not even after finding a handful of bullet cartridges in my pockets at the station.

			“Why are you carrying these?” I’m asked.

			“Oh those? I was just holding them for a friend who had been loading his weapon at the shooting range a day or two ago. I can’t believe I forgot to give them back to him.”

			“Which shooting range?”

			“Oh, you know, one of them outside of town.”

			How the cops bought any of this I’ll never know. I could have been in so much trouble. It’s also extremely fortunate that I didn’t kill anybody on the road.

			Between my bouts of self-sabotage, I manage around this time to land work as a longshoreman. The International Longshoremen’s Association (ILA) maritime union is affiliated with the Screen Actors Guild through AFL-CIO, so they help out-of-work (read: redundant) actors to make ends meet when there are enough crates to unload.

			A group of us performers are unloading new cars and bananas from ships docking in Long Beach and San Pedro harbors. On a day when I’m in San Pedro, I get a call for an audition to guest star on the ABC cop series Starsky and Hutch.

			Only one very big problem: I’m working, the audition is that afternoon and I have no transportation.

			Thinking fast, I ask the guy I’d carpooled with if I could borrow his car. He agrees. Next, I brainstorm a believable white lie to get out of work for the rest of the day.

			“Um, my wife is having a baby right now!” I announce to the foreman, “and I’d like to take the rest of the day off.”

			“You’re kidding, right?” he says, clearly not buying it. 

			“Kidding? How could I be kidding about that?”

			“I don’t believe you,” the guy says calmly.

			“But she’s just gone into labor!”

			“Do you have a picture of her pregnant in your wallet?”

			“No, but…”

			“It’s OK. I’m just screwin’ with you. I think you’re lying, but you can go.” 

			“Thank you.”

			Second hurdle, cleared.

			Unfortunately, young actors always drive crappy cars on the verge of breakdown. This VW gets only as far as Silver Lake before conking out. I’m forced to leave it parked on a hill by the side of the road and go scrambling for a bus stop.

			I find out the proper bus number and ride to Century City, where the lot of Twentieth Century Fox is located. When I ask the driver how to get into the studio, though, he points to an eight-foot wall that borders the studio backlot.

			I’m already running a couple of minutes late and can’t find the gate. I hustle around this back hedge, round a corner and there, waiting for me, is another hedge two blocks long! And I still have not the slightest clue where the front gate might be.

			Fortunately, I’m able to squeeze through this second hedge before encountering a metal fence roughly ten feet high. I need to scale it. Making like the convict I’ve played in films before, I make it over, but in the process cut my hand.

			If you’re keeping score, I am now sweaty, exhausted, late and bleeding as I scramble to find the front of the studio and the building where I’m due to audition for my first-ever primetime TV role.

			Finally, I find the gate. The guard gives me a once-over, as if saying, “Really, you’re meeting a producer looking like that?”

			I arrive at the casting office to read. The casting director observes, “You seem a little nervous.”

			“Yeah, a little,” I admit.

			Sweaty, bloody and late proves no impediment. I land the prized role of “Weirdo” on an episode of Starsky and Hutch. I earn a few bucks and impress a young lady enough to visit my dressing room, where we have sex. I guess I thought that’s what TV stars do. Not a bad little gig.

			But I also realize that I need something more substantial if I’m going to ever earn a living. I’m about to turn thirty-six and still have no steady stream of income. If I were a lawyer, I’d probably be living in a mansion someplace in Memphis.

			Fortunately, something cool is coming right around the bend.

		

	
		
			Chapter 10

			INTO THE COAL MINE

			Wise County, Virginia – 1979

			My agent submits me for a role in this new Universal biopic Coal Miner’s Daughter, the story of country music legend Loretta Lynn. It’s being directed by Michael Apted, a top-notch guy who has just directed another sort-of bio of a legend, Agatha, with Dustin Hoffman and Vanessa Redgrave.

			This one’s going to star Sissy Spacek (Carrie) and this fella Tommy Lee Jones, who was in a movie with Laurence Olivier called The Betsy a year or so ago and is considered an up-and-comer.

			Word is that Loretta herself chose Sissy from a photograph. I guess you can’t have a better endorsement than that.

			I originally read to play Loretta’s husband Doolittle, which is the part Tommy Lee finally gets, so I settle for being her “chicken-thieving moonshiner” Uncle Lee Dollarhide. It’s not as prime a role, but my biggest thing to date is playing a sadistic racist convict, so I’m just happy to be anywhere in this movie.

			Coal Miner’s is a big step up in class for me, to say the least. It’s not necessarily pegged to be the sleeper hit it will become or an Oscar contender. That only happens because it winds up being so well done. The advance word, though, is that Sissy is amazing, that she followed Loretta around on tour to get not only her singing right but her movements and mannerisms as well.

			It helps me a lot to arrive on a mountainous location set in Virginia that evokes the same vibe as what we’re looking to convey in the film. We’re also going to shoot in Kentucky and Tennessee, and I’m excited to see what a tremendous cast and crew we have.

			I arrive early to the location so I can get acclimated to the shoot. It’s something that will become common for me. As soon as I get there, Sissy – already in character, sounding like Loretta – insists on taking me to a local cemetery on a pretty hill with flowers all around before heading back to the inn where we’re staying.

			“Would you like to come up to my suite and hear some of the songs they’ll be doing in the movie?” she asks.

			“Well sure.”

			As soon as we get up to her room, Sissy puts on a tape.

			Well I was borned a coal miner’s daughter,

			In a cabin, on a hill in Butcher Holler. 

			We were poor but we had love, 

			That’s the one thing that daddy made sure of. 

			He’d shovel coal to make a poor man’s dollar.

			I’m so impressed by Loretta’s talent.

			“That Loretta Lynn is so good,” I tell her. “No wonder she’s a legend.” 

			“Oh that’s not Loretta,” Sissy assures me, “that’s me.”

			Now I’m completely blown away. That’s how good Sissy is. And it’s why she’ll soon win an Academy Award for it. I honestly can’t tell a lick of difference between her and the woman she’s portraying in terms of the voice quality.

			Besides that, Sissy could not possibly be a lovelier person as she’ll prove to be throughout the shoot. She teaches me how to be gracious and how to accept a compliment. You simply smile and say, “Thank you.”

			It’s not as easy as it sounds.

			Tommy Lee Jones is another story. A hard-drinking, eighth-generation Texan who does not suffer fools gladly – or at all – Tommy Lee marches to the beat of his own drummer. He graduated from Harvard with honors in 1969, promptly moved to New York and famously made his debut on Broadway ten days later in A Patriot for Me.

			Throughout my time with him – and he and I will do six projects together, Coal Miner’s Daughter being the first – Tommy Lee will show himself to be difficult, demanding (of himself as much as others) and rather ingenious.

			As production begins on Coal Miner’s, I learn that things are never boring when Mr. Jones is around.

			One time, we’re rehearsing a scene where Tommy Lee (as Doolittle) drives a Jeep up a steep hill. As Lee Dollarhide, I’m selling moonshine off of a mule’s back. As the scene progresses, I notice this small white bandage on the back of Tommy’s head.

			I decide to ask him what happened.

			“Oh, had a little issue last night with a state trooper,” Tommy Lee explains. “He thought I was drunk and resisting arrest. I thought I wasn’t. So, he opened up my head a little bit and hauled me in.”

			What Tommy tells me much later is that some of the locals had offered to have the trooper killed, as apparently others had experienced issues with him in the past. I imagine he didn’t take them up on it. Probably best.

			My most famous line in the film is the following: “If you’re born in the mountains, ya got three choices: Coal mine, moonshine or move it on down the line.”

			Playing self-appointed director, Tommy Lee generously suggests how I might best say the line, how to utter it with the proper inflection and on which words to place the emphasis.

			“Thank you,” I tell him, “but when the camera rolls, I’m going to say it the way it comes out.”

			I’m kind of proud that I stand up for myself. Tommy Lee takes it with a grain of salt but seems to respect me more for holding my ground.

			I get a taste on Coal Miner’s Daughter of what life is like for a big-time actor. I’m not claiming to be one at all. I just see how it might feel. For example, an actress on the film knocks on my door one night in her bathrobe. I let her in and she just climbs in my bed.

			I didn’t even think she liked me.

			You’ve got to understand that these sorts of things just don’t happen to William Sanderson. But as the Eighties beckon, they will become more frequent.

		

	
		
			Chapter 11

			LOVING THE EIGHTIES

			Banff, Alberta, Canada – 1980

			After the success of Coal Miner’s Daughter – it earned seven Oscar nominations and won one while also taking in more than $67 million at the box office – my agent, Michael Bloom, starts to field more and more phone calls seeking my services. The steady work begins to flow.

			This does nothing, however, to quell my volatile nature.

			A person I’d had some business dealings with does something that really pisses me off, and I react with typical immaturity.

			I tell the guy, “I’m gonna track you down and kill you, man!” I threaten him on the phone, no doubt after downing a couple of beers. “I know where you live. Honor what we discussed or you’re a dead man!”

			Bloom catches wind of this.

			“Billy, you’re very sensitive,” he says to me. “Don’t talk business.”

			This is the same guy who responds to crises by assuring, “There’s nothing wrong with me that two hours of sex wouldn’t cure.” The same can probably be said for most of us.

			The man is definitely doing his job, earning me my choicest film acting job yet in the theatrical Death Hunt. It’s a thriller that stars Charles Bronson (Death Wish) as an enigmatic trapper who runs afoul of a Mountie (Lee Marvin of Cat Ballou and The Dirty Dozen fame) and has to go on the lam in the Canadian wilderness. I, of course, play a n’er-do-well, a member of Marvin’s posse.

			We shoot the movie in a location that’s beyond gorgeous. I don’t know if you’ve ever been to Banff, but the Banff Springs Hotel where we stayed is a world-class ski resort. It looks like a castle. In the evenings, I often sat by the fireplace near the bar and chatted with the hotel’s manager. He told me about all of the famous people, including Marilyn Monroe, that have stayed in the hotel.

			I really enjoyed the company of this man, so what a delight it was to see him again twenty years later when, on a day off from filming a Tom Selleck movie of the week in nearby Calgary, I visit the hotel and there he is standing in the grand lobby. And he remembers me. I couldn’t believe it.

			Okay, back to Bronson and Marvin.

			It’s like a six-week paid vacation for me on a project that features not only these two great performers but also Angie Dickinson (Police Woman) and Carl Weathers (Rocky).

			I’ll also be getting to work with a genuine top-drawer producer in Al Ruddy, who produced a little film called The Godfather. The level of my projects has taken a qualitative leap forward in terms of pedigree. It certainly gives me an opportunity to see how the other half lives.

			Sissy and Tommy Lee have nothing on Bronson and Marvin, who are treated with kid gloves and then some.

			Old-time veteran stars are just a whole other level of pampering.

			I’m watching one day as Bronson’s stunt double painstakingly choreographs a fight scene for most of the morning – only to have the star stride in, watch it and announce “Wrong!” in front of the entire cast and crew. Everything gets changed immediately.

			Also, no matter what else we’re doing, when it’s time for Charlie’s scene we all stop to shoot him and what we’re working on gets back-burnered. That’s what you call clout.

			When you’re working with Bronson, you know who is in charge. One actor he’s in a scene with clearly isn’t prepared, flubs his lines, and Charlie makes sure he’s on the next plane back to L.A. The production also makes a $3,000 custom black fur coat, but he doesn’t think it fits his character. It’s vetoed and tossed out.

			Marvin is quite the character, a boozer with a major self-destructive streak who likes to live on the edge. Naturally, I’m totally drawn to him.

			It probably angers Marvin that Bronson gets the higher billing in Death Hunt even though he’s an Oscar winner (for Cat Ballou). A purple heart WWII combat vet of the Marine Corps, Marvin is tough as nails. Unfortunately, you never know which guy you’re going to get – the vicious drunk or the sweet, sober guy.

			Marvin starts drinking Molson Ales in the mornings before switching to Canadian Club whiskey in the middle of the day if his wife isn’t able to hide it from him. Even on his day off, he’s there with his whiskey.

			“Join me in my suite for a drink, William?” Lee offers to me one day. 

			“Sure,” I enthusiastically agree.

			Once arriving at his room, his wife excuses herself.

			“Forgive me, I have a headache,” she says.

			“Every time I bring a guest back to the room, she gets a headache,” he tells me.

			Marvin has a hard time staying sober even when he has to, like the time he has a love scene with Angie but is just a little too drunk to remember his lines.

			Dickinson is none too pleased and temporarily leaves the vicinity to blow off steam.

			This inspires Lee to run around the set frantically searching for Angie, from dressing room to dressing room.

			“Where’s Angie? Where’s Angie? I need to apologize to her,” he blurts while stumbling around.

			Lee will be dead in seven years, at just sixty-three, from a heart attack. It’s the booze that took him prematurely. Note to self: Time to cut down.

			 

			 • • •

			Maxwell, Texas – 1980

			The year after shooting Death Hunt, I’m hired to do my second film with Sissy, Raggedy Man. And there are a couple of especially great things about it, besides having an opportunity to work with her again.

			It puts me in a cast with pros including Eric Roberts (In Cold Blood, Runaway Train), Sam Shepard (Days of Heaven, The Right Stuff), Henry Thomas (E.T.) and my friend Tracey Walter (Batman). It’s my biggest payday to date by far, putting me into a different class.

			Sissy is riding high from her Academy Award win as we go into production, which is exciting. The lady is such a sweetheart that everyone is totally happy for her. Too bad Tracey and me are so mean to her in the movie, which is well-made but violent and disturbing.

			It’s also fun to finally get to work for the first (and only) time with Tracey. Because of how much we look like one another and how similarly we perform, we alternate in getting jobs. I’ll get his. He’ll get mine. No wonder the two of us are always getting mistaken for the other.

			Now, we could get mistaken in the same project.

			As much as we joke about it, though, Tracey and I both sweat over how severely we’re getting typecast as the bad guy, the renegade, the perv, the oddball, the miscreant, the go-to weirdo. It strikes us that this isn’t a dependable road to travel for an enduring career.

			“Are we being hopelessly typecast?” I ask Tracey one day on set. 

			“Typecast, yes,” he assures me. “Hopelessly, no.”

			“Well then, answer me this: Aren’t you worried about it?”

			“A little,” he admits. “But what good does it do to worry?”

			“Actually,” I insist, “worrying happens to be something I’m very good at.” 

			“Fine then, knock yourself out. I’m just happy to be working.”

			“Yeah, me too,” I add. “I just worry about being typecast.”

			“Better to be typecast,” Tracey says, putting a reassuring hand on my shoulder, “than not cast at all.”

			Memphis – 1981

			With a little money in my pocket now, I travel back home between projects and go in with my brother John – now living in Florida – to buy our parents window air conditioners that we also get installed. It’s something they’ve never had.

			Plus, we offer to buy them a color TV. But Milt is still so abusive that Lib is afraid to go pick one out. She knows he’d have only insulted her and embarrassed her in front of the store employees, and none of us wants that. So, we go with just our father.

			Before we leave, Lib whispers, “Just try to get something that goes with my furniture.”

			Burbank, California – 1981

			If you’re of a certain age, you cannot have missed James Garner on television – first in Maverick (1957-62) and then on The Rockford Files (1974-80). His reputation as a mensch also precedes him. Therefore, it’s a thrill for me to get cast in an episode of his new series Bret Maverick for NBC.

			I mean, I’ve been a shameless fan of Garner’s for more years than I care to remember. So, I’m holding my breath that the man is going to live up to his reputation.

			I shouldn’t have worried. Jim is at least as wonderful as advertised, maybe more. He exceeds my greatest hopes by being generous in his time and praise with his crew and guest cast alike.

			Garner goes to the trouble of drawing for all of us TV amateurs a diagram to show us how to face a reverse camera or changed angle. If that sounds overly technical, well, it is, which is why it requires a lesson in layman’s terms.

			“Imagine that it’s this way,” he says, gesturing, then turning, “when it’s really this way. You need to look at it through the different prism in order to appear natural on camera. I promise, it becomes second nature. You won’t even think about it.”

			That a star of his caliber would take that kind of time is sort of unprecedented, in my experience. Big stars on TV generally won’t give you the time of day, much less hours. But true to his reputation, Garner goes the extra mile. Once, at a Raiders football game, I had an opportunity to introduce my son Andy to Garner.

			Not only did he say hello to the boy and shake his hand, he spent a few minutes just shooting the breeze with him. It left Andy star-struck and impressed and me feeling grateful to have worked with him.

			Los Angeles – 1981

			My life is about to change. But I don’t know it, even after it changes.

			I audition for a futuristic sci-fi thriller called Blade Runner, based on the Philip K. Dick book, “Do Androids Dream of Electric Sheep?”. The film is considered a classic of the genre today. But it’ll take years before that belief is widespread.

			Going in, I really have no clear idea what I’m reading for. It’s just another project on the heels of the momentum I’ve started to build.

			Even so, it’s exciting when my agent Mary Oreck calls to tell me excitedly, “You are Sebastian!”

			That’s J.F. Sebastian to you. He’s a genetic engineer afflicted with Methuselah Syndrome, the premature aging malady. He’s supposed to be in his twenties but looks like he’s in his late forties. Meanwhile, I’m actually in my late thirties, so I’m caught kind of in the middle. In a good way.

			The makeup budget alone for Blade Runner has to be greater than the entire one for most movies. To transform into Sebastian, I’m forced to sit for two hours of latex makeup application daily and have my eyebrows shaved. I’m not thrilled with this process, to say the least, but the team does a tremendous job, particularly a brilliant make-up artist named Pete Altobelli.

			I can’t move while I’m in his chair. I can maneuver my face and mouth only gingerly or I’ll screw everything up. But Pete keeps asking me questions. 

			“How you feeling today, Bill?”

			“I…am…good.”

			“Did you see Hill Street Blues last night?” 

			“No. Missed. Just…too…tired.”

			It’s certainly a kick to be in a film with Harrison Ford. It isn’t possible for an actor to be hotter than he is right now. This is just four years after the original Star Wars came out and a year after The Empire Strikes Back – and Raiders of the Lost Ark is weeks from opening. Ford is the biggest star in the world.

			Everyone is thrilled to be basically at the center of Hollywood hype in a $30 million film (pretty huge at the time) and work with the man who is Han Solo and Indiana Jones. The set positively buzzes, so much so that my agent Mary and fellow agent Hildy Gottlieb want to visit and constantly push me to come over and introduce them to Harrison.

			In fact, the day that Mary arrives on set, she’s wearing a full-length mink coat even though it’s a swelteringly hot day. She also wants to meet Rutger Hauer (Buffy the Vampire Slayer), Ford’s co-star and a very fine actor in his own right.

			Blade Runner’s imagining of a dark, depressing, decaying Los Angeles is starting to become a reality. Others have described our director Ridley Scott as being almost prophetic. Yet it’s interesting to point out that this “futuristic thriller” is set in 2019, which I’m guessing is right around the time you’re reading this.

			But anyway, another thing we have going on in this film is Ridley (Alien, Thelma and Louise) as our leader. He’s a very sharp Brit, very capable, but he can be a tough taskmaster and grows extremely frustrated if someone doesn’t do his or her job properly, or an actor doesn’t give him the right emotion.

			When I met for the first time with Ridley, he was very pleasant and refreshingly candid and direct.

			“So,” Ridley asks me, “did you read the Phillip K. Dick book?” 

			“Actually, no,” I admit.

			“I didn’t either,” Ridley acknowledges. “I couldn’t get through it.”

			While portraying Sebastian, I’m using something I remember seeing while at Disneyland years before. I noticed a kid visiting from Florida who had Methuselah Syndrome. He looked like an old man but had a way of bouncing on the balls of his feet when he walked. I decide to incorporate that.

			One of the greatest things about working in Blade Runner is having all of that time to interact with Rutger, with whom I have most of my scenes. Besides being an exceptional performer, he’s also a respected acting teacher and a tremendous human being. It’s an honor being in the same film with him.

			It’s only afterward that I’ll discover all of the improvisation Rutger does on the set. But I feel like I learned something from him, just as I did from Ridley.

			The crew isn’t too wild about Ridley. He’s accustomed to working with his British crew, which moves differently and is much more in tune with him. He’s fond of saying, “It’s basic, chaps,” which strikes some as dismissive and condescending.

			But I get on with Ridley well. I’m thrilled to be portraying a character who is kind of a genius type, who elevates me from my constantly being typecast as the disturbed lunatic or the fool. I’m able finally to demonstrate more of a performance versatility than I’d managed to date.

			One moment stands out over all of the others during the Blade Runner production.

			Ridley can see one day that I’m struggling a bit to strike the right emotion in Sebastian.

			Ridley (whispering in my ear): “This is a totally innocent man.”

			“Really?”

			“Yes. Completely innocent.”

			This sounds like a small instruction. But it’s really quite huge. It liberates me and makes it more fun. It helps immeasurably while playing in what Ridley himself calls “an adult cartoon.”

			The only thing I hate about Blade Runner is that Rutger kills me offscreen, unlike what the script calls for. I’m pretty good at dying; I’ve done it a lot onscreen.

			I can remember sitting in a chair being made up one day during production when a makeup artist predicts, “Oh, everyone in this movie will become a star.” It’s just a given that this will be the major hit everyone is predicting.

			Except that it isn’t. It’s a terrible omen when Philip K. Dick dies of a heart attack in April, three months before we premiere. We don’t even make our money back at the domestic box office initially, taking in an estimated $27 million.

			There are a few decent reviews. In her New York Times critique, Janet Maslin is very kind to Blade Runner, calling it “as intricately detailed as anything a science-fiction film has yet envisioned.” Meanwhile, the review in The Hollywood Reporter praises my performance: “William Sanderson is a standout as a mousy genetic designer, his cavernous apartment filled with living dolls of his creation.”

			But for the most part, the critics are, for whatever reason, overwhelmingly negative. Pauline Kael calls the film “a fascinating failure” in her New Yorker critique. Audiences were said to laugh derisively at the movie.

			The hindsight view is that Blade Runner was just too wild for the time. It was misunderstood. A few decades later, that will all turn around and the film will receive its due as a sci-fi masterpiece.

			Thirty-five years after it came out, the movie is now hailed as “The greatest science-fiction film ever made” by The Guardian in England. The American Film Institute in 2007 will rank it as the ninety-seventh best movie ever made. Ever made! They teach architecture classes about Blade Runner. They write entire books about it. It’s also the film I’m asked about the most.

			I’m not going to lie. It’s pretty cool to have played a part in one of the movies considered to be among the all-time greats. I am eternally grateful for it.

			It will also turn into a helpful calling card as time goes on. It’s the credit listed at the very top of my IMDB biography page online.

			I will attend autograph shows occasionally, and the most requested one is for J.F. Sebastian. It’s that sci-fi crowd. They’re very loyal people.

			Blade Runner deserves the credit for putting me more indelibly on the acting map and ultimately generating more jobs than any other single project. There is no question that it brought me greater credibility. For the first time, I started getting offers to play sympathetic characters instead of lowlifes.

			I know some directors will hire me simply because of having worked with Ridley. The uptick in my being sought for film, TV and commercial work proves substantial. In fact, my commercial agent Marcia Hurwitz tells me about a phone call she fields from a producer.

			“Hey Marcia,” he says, “I’m looking for someone like that Sebastian guy in Blade Runner.”

			“Really,” she says. “How’d you like the actual guy?”

			Years later, I’ll run into my old bartending partner Joe Pantoliano, with whom I worked at O’Neal’s Baloon in New York. He’ll tell me, “Hey, you got my role in Blade Runner.”

			Nope. Not his role. It was all mine. And Joe would do just fine, later winning an Emmy Award for The Sopranos.

			Provo, Utah – 1982

			Right after we wrap Blade Runner, I’m cast in my second project with Tommy Lee Jones, The Executioner’s Song. It’s a made-for-TV movie biopic about the serial killer Gary Gilmore, with writer Norman Mailer adapting his own book.

			We shoot it in Provo, and it’s a very tiny part for me. But I do it because I want to work with Tommy Lee again. He’ll wind up winning an Emmy for his portrayal of Gilmore.

			For me, the film is more interesting for what goes on behind the camera than in front of it.

			A member of the crew takes me aside at one point to share a piece of gossip.

			“See that producer over there?” he says, pointing at a man some distance away. “He’s taken more than twenty ladies associated with the show out to dinner. If they refused to sleep with him, he fired ’em.”

			I’m just glad he didn’t invite me to dinner. That could have gotten weird.

			Meanwhile, Tommy Lee and I continue to get on famously. During one of our shooting days, I casually remark on how difficult it is to find an alcoholic drink in Utah.

			He must have heard me. After we wrap the day’s work, Tommy’s Winnebago pulls up and the driver hands me a six-pack.

			“Complements of Mr. Jones,” the driver says.

			As things are winding down on Executioner’s Song, I start thinking about what will come next for me post-Blade Runner, and what that might look like. I’ve just been in a film with the world’s biggest movie star. How can I top that?

			There is no possible way I can predict it will come in a television sitcom.

		

	
		
			Chapter 12

			‘NEWHART’

			“Hi, I’m Larry. This is my brother Darryl, and this is my other brother Darryl.”

			Studio City, California – 1982-1990

			It’s only supposed to be a one-off guest shot like I’ve done on The Dukes of Hazzard, Quincy and Bret Maverick. But it will turn out to be the gift that keeps on giving. And giving. And giving some more.

			Larry, Darryl and Darryl are basically a clever sight gag on Bob Newhart’s latest series, Newhart (not to be confused with The Bob Newhart Show or Bob). The joke is that I’m a backwoodsman from Appalachia named Larry, living in a shack on the outskirts of a rural Vermont town with his pair of mute brothers who both are named Darryl. Larry serves as interpreter for his brothers.

			As Larry, I wear layers of button shirts and wrinkled coats along with a wool cap. The Darryls, played by Tony Papenfuss as “my brother Darryl” and John Voldstad as “my other brother Darryl,” wear grubby flannel shirts and jeans. We all have stringy hair and look unshaven.

			The reason I get the role is that I really go for it in the audition. I pattern what I do after the town crazies I played so many times on stage back in New York, and it works.

			You’ve always got to take chances in auditions. I’m pretty sure that’s a key reason why I’ve gotten so much work. I put a quarter in my ear when I went in to read, just as I had for Coal Miner’s Daughter. It’s almost a superstition, a good luck charm. You see that quarter worn by Southerners in the Forties. I wound up wearing it for parts of eight seasons. If you look closely, you’ll see it there.

			In what is supposed to be our only appearance on the show, Tony, John and I are summoned after Dick (Newhart) and his wife Joanna (Mary Frann) discover a 300-year-old grave in their basement, belonging to a woman hanged as a witch. The boys are called in to dig it up and deal with it.

			But our presence on the show gets so great a reaction from the live audience that we’re invited back for one more episode during that first season and four more in season two.

			I’m pretty comfortable at Newhart from the start. I invite Rita Jenrette as my date to the show’s season one wrap party. We had met by chance back when I was working on Blade Runner. She wanted to break into acting and was happy to accompany me to the party.

			In case that name doesn’t ring any bells, Jenrette was the sexy wife whose husband, Congressman John Jenrette, was taken down by the Abscam scandal in 1980. Rita took this notoriety to the bank, doing the talk show circuit and posing for Playboy. Completely nude.

			What’s funny at the party is the way Bob jumps up from his seat the second he lays eyes on Rita.

			“Hi there Rita, Bob Newhart,” he exclaims, extending his hand. I think his eyes are about ready to pop right out of his head.

			Of the three brothers, as mentioned, I’m the only one who speaks – entering like the Seven Dwarfs, dancing in to “Hi ho, hi ho…” – and uttering the catchphrase, “Hi, I’m Larry. This is my brother Darryl, and this is my other brother Darryl.”

			The back story is that one of the Darryls stopped speaking years before after sitting on a porcupine. The other Darryl remained silent out of sympathy.

			What’s ironic is that both Tony and John have extensive theater backgrounds that don’t really come across because they’re mute. They were discovered by the casting director Eugene Blythe while both were performing in plays at the prestigious Mark Taper Forum in Downtown L.A. Thankfully, they’re both men of great integrity, which made working with them completely terrific.

			(Years later, when I’m asked if the Darryls minded not speaking, my stock answer was, “Well if they do, they never said anything to me about it.”)

			When we enter during a live filming, the audience squeals with recognition and goes crazy. Yet the ratings are dropping for the series – except when Larry, Darryl and Darryl are on it. We also notice during the second season that Jennifer Holmes is replaced in the cast by Julia Duffy.

			Perhaps not coincidentally, they decide to make us series regulars beginning in the third season, when they write us into thirteen episodes. The ratings rebound.

			Does this mean Larry, Darryl and Darryl saved Newhart? I would never say that, although my agent did.

			For the first time in my acting life, I have a steady paycheck. It’s downright glorious.

			Don’t let anyone tell you differently: There is no job in Hollywood better than sitcom regular. You can’t beat the money, or the hours (10 a.m. to 5 p.m. four days a week, then you film an episode in front of a live studio audience on Friday night).

			The fact that we’re now part of the fabric of the show isn’t entirely an accident, we later find. Barry Kemp, the Newhart creator, had from the start expressed a desire to cast “three bizarre brothers who share one brain.” I don’t really see them as bizarre, just eccentric maybe. But no one asks me.

			I think the only down side to this – if you can call it that – is that being so identified with a TV series character might prevent me from doing movies. There’s much more of a stigma to being exclusively a television performer during the Newhart years than there will be later on. Now, of course, you see actors going back and forth between TV and film all the time.

			However, I fear this same stigma might also cause issues down the road due to my portraying a hillbilly. It probably costs me some jobs, because there are producers who have trouble distinguishing fantasy from reality.

			Our reward comes every Friday during the filming when Larry, Darryl and Darryl receive giant applause just for showing up and walking out.

			At the same time, that form of adulation proves something of a double-edged sword for me. I hear it, I enjoy it, but I try not to believe it. I’m also generally too busy worrying about hitting my mark and remembering my lines to spend much time soaking in how much everyone adores us.

			But playing off of that audience energy is the reason Bob insists on a live audience. You simply can’t fake that stuff.

			Another thing that’s true is, I’ve never thought of myself as a particularly funny guy. I wanted to appear more menacing. That’s the sweet spot where I felt most comfortable. Consequently, I didn’t like it when they gave me more lines. I honestly preferred fewer.

			I certainly want to be in every episode I can, though. We’re in thirteen episodes in the third season and, over the last five years of the show, Tony, John and myself will average being in two-thirds of the total episode output.

			That we aren’t on every week is a problem initially, when the producers, MTM Enterprises, only want to pay us for the weeks when we’re written in. This is where my agent/manager Mary Oreck earns her ten percent, and more. She has my back.

			MTM has a habit of telling us, “We’ll use them in the next show.” Come Thursday or Friday, it would be, “No sorry, it’ll be the next one.”

			We all start to get pretty sick of this, Mary most of all. Because not only aren’t we paid for the episodes when we’re not on the show; we also can’t seek other work while hanging around day after day wondering.

			Mary finally confronts the producers.

			“Pay William,” she demands. “He wasn’t available for work this week.” 

			“What work?” comes the reply.

			“Doesn’t matter,” she shoots back. “He wasn’t available. Pay him.”

			“But we can’t just go and pay him for episodes he’s not even involved in,” the producer reasons.

			“Yes you can,” she insists, “and you will. This is neither fair nor ethical. Pay him!”

			After that, I’m paid for any episode the producers say I’ll be involved in whether I’m actually included or not. This is why one needs an agent. I mean, agents get a bad rap as being rip-off artists and all of that, but just as often they keep your employer honest. This is why Mary has represented me for more than 30 years.

			I love getting checks for shows I don’t do. It’s even better than residuals.

			Of course, I also like working. And one of the great thrills of my life is getting to work with Johnny Carson in one of our later Newhart episodes.

			The story called for Carson, playing himself, to be this benefactor for us who pays our gas bills. Dick naturally doesn’t believe Larry that Carson did this. Johnny was simply wonderful in the episode. Sharp and funny (he even ad-libbed “putz”) and extremely gracious.

			When I thank Johnny for doing the show, he replies, “Hey, Bob was always there for me.” And he’s right. Newhart guest-hosted The Tonight Show more than a hundred times.

			I’ll tell you what, I’m especially thrilled to be on a family show that my parents approve of. They got to see me perform live before they died, and because of the kind of show it is, I’m proud they did.

			My dad had always said to me, “You’ve got to find parts where you don’t have to say ‘goddamn’.” And I found it. That meant everything to me.

			People ask me all of the time what it’s like to work with Bob. Of course, I always tell the press he’s the classiest of acts. And for the most part, I mean it. In my most neurotic moments, Bob is always there to reassure me, “You wouldn’t be here if you weren’t good.”

			Bob will from time to time point out to journalists, “I’m always telling Bill, ‘Don’t put so much pressure on yourself. You’re hurting yourself’.” He also notes, “When Bill hears the audience laugh, he thinks he did something wrong.” I guess I must have made a lot of mistakes.

			One other time, Bob says of me, “Bill is the most intense person I’ve ever worked with.” But I don’t take offense at it, even if it does strike me that in this case, “intense” could be a euphemism for “pain in the rear end.” Heck, I probably am.

			Bob doesn’t discriminate in whom he hires as directors and is one of the first to hire women to direct episodes – and there are many. Look down the list of Newhart episodes and you’ll see. That isn’t a small thing.

			Bob is the consummate entertainer, exuding an ease with people that extends to his skills warming up the live audience before the show. Our co-star, Peter Scolari, marvels that Bob was “even funnier off-camera.” He was often more risqué.

			My favorite story from Bob came out of one of those warmups. He would always take a question or two from the audience, and one time someone raised their hand and asked him, “Is this a rerun you’re shooting?”.

			I’d have given anything to hear his response.

			As funny as he is, if you need a kick in the pants, Bob will do it – but privately.

			There’s the day that the Newhart assistant director Michael Stanislavsky is concerned about me knowing my lines during an episode where Larry is featured heavily in the script. He comes up to me and asks, “Would you like a TelePrompTer?”

			I don’t think I need the PrompTer – and in fact I’m a little bit offended – so I answer jokingly, “Give it to Bob.”

			It’s kind of a diva response. And it leaves me feeling guilty when, a bit later, Bob himself takes me aside and quietly says, “I thought it might be of some help to you, since you have so many lines in this episode.”

			Stanislavsky ratted me out to the boss, leaving me embarrassed and more careful around the guy in the future.

			The way Bob handled it was incredibly gracious. Probably more than I deserved. But that’s just the man’s nature. It’s all business with him, no BS. By the same token, if Bob no longer thought you fit with the show, you were gone. That meant actors, producers, everyone – even the creator of the show, who was pushed out the door in 1984.

			To his credit, Bob rarely pulled star rank on the set, though you were never left wondering who was in charge. There was one script read-through in particular that made it clear.

			“And so, Bob’s wife will meet and have dinner with her college boyfriend out of town,” a producer says during the read-through in question.

			“That’s fine,” Bob replies, “but who are you going to get to play Dick Loudon?”

			The message: That story isn’t going to fly, and it stops right there.

			Bob is a very bright guy. He earned a degree in accounting and is nobody’s fool. The man is charitable in sharing the spotlight. When someone asks why the guest star was given the best lines, Bob says, “Because I’ll be back and they won’t.”

			He took everyone out to Le Dome restaurant on occasion. And he was smooth with the press, consistently funny and revealing, and a gentleman. For the most part, Bob presided over a very fun set.

			There will never be a time when I’m not completely appreciative of the opportunity Bob gave to me, and I know Tony and John feel similarly. Being on a series is a fantastic platform from which to expand one’s acting career.

			But Bob understands just how fortunate we all were, too. He rarely missed an opportunity to offhandedly point out how, without his show, “you probably wouldn’t have that new house.”

			Mary Frann one day had to leave town for an emergency. Lines had to be rewritten, though rehearsal continued. We somehow shot the show on Friday night, right on schedule.

			“See how quickly we shot around her?” Bob noted with a smile. That sent a clear message to us.

			I also can’t deny the single ongoing frustration of working with Bob. He had a nagging need to prevent us actors on the show from directly benefitting from our association with Newhart. Since he was in charge, and his manager was the head of the production company making the show, he had ultimate power.

			The term for it is talent hoarder. Bob wouldn’t permit Larry, Darryl and Darryl to go off and make commercials as those characters. American Express rang up my commercial agent, saying it wanted the three of us for a spot or series of spots. But the answer came back “No,” as Newhart zealously guarded the show’s intellectual property.

			There was also lots of talk about giving the three brothers their own spinoff series. But Bob refused to allow it while Newhart was still on the air. He’s a tough businessman, and he knows what he wants and what he doesn’t want.

			It’s only during our personal appearances that we were ordered by MTM to stay in character. In those, Tony and John weren’t allowed to talk, just as the Darryls weren’t. One time, Regis Philbin pinched Tony’s nose trying to get him to talk. It didn’t work.

			Our brilliant co-star, Tom Poston, said that Bob’s insistence on keeping a lid on the characters’ outside opportunities was Newhart’s one great character flaw. 

			“If Bob has a fault, it’s that he doesn’t like to see his people get their own show,” Poston explains. “It was the same with me.”

			Mind you, Poston was one of Newhart’s best friends, along with Don Rickles. But it didn’t matter.

			Of course, I didn’t necessarily help my cause by committing my usual blunder early in the Newhart run.

			It’s 1983, and I’m already starting to get known for the show. I’m hanging out one night at the hip L.A. eatery Spago down on Sunset Boulevard. I have a few, which naturally means I’m nice and sloshed. A guy approaches me and says the following:

			“I think you’re the best actor I’ve ever seen.”

			How do I respond to this? By taking a swing at him, because that’s what I do. I haven’t the foggiest idea why in this case. Maybe I think he’s making fun of me. Impossible to know.

			The problem with this, as I later discover, is that the guy complimenting me and whom I swung at happens to be an editor on Newhart. This does not go over well with the crew. But many apologies later, it blows over.

			Except that the incident comes back to haunt me when the Larry-Darryl-Darryl spinoff talks start to heat up. Tony, John and I receive a substantial sum as a holding option, only to find out from my personal manager, Michael Wallach, that I’m being vetted as part of the discussion and the Spago incident isn’t serving me well.

			“They need to be sure about you if they’re going to make an investment of millions of dollars for you to be the star,” Wallach explains.

			In other words, my taking a swing at one of the Newhart editors isn’t helping to quell their concerns that I may be nuts.

			The one thing I am permitted to do is a corporate spokesman commercial campaign gig for A&W Root Beer. And it’s the greatest commercial job I ever got by far. (Thank you Marcia Hurwitz!)

			Wallach calls to congratulate me by announcing into the phone, “Bill, you won the lottery!”

			Indeed I had. The A&W thing would run from 1986-88, four or five spots annually plus voiceovers. It was the first thing I did in TV where I was the star and got treated like one. They paid me Jerry Seinfeld money. There were gold-plated fixtures in my motor home dressing room. They permitted me to hire my own make-up person, hairdresser and stunt man while also providing a part for my son Andy in one spot.

			All of this, and in one ad I got to share a hot tub with a group of large-busted women. The high from this campaign was rarely – if ever – equaled in my life as a character actor. Being the big shot for once was a total kick.

			I was getting recognized more frequently, though it continued to make me nervous and self-conscious. One weekend, when I’m home in Memphis, I go to a bar to see my friend Thomas playing in a band called The Settlers. I’m enjoying my second or third glass of wine when a man approaches me.

			Remember that time when I got kicked out of Graceland for climbing a wall and trespassing? None other than Alan Fortas is standing before me. I can’t believe it.

			“William, hi!” he says warmly, extending a hand. “My name is Alan Fortas. I love the work you do on Newhart.”

			I shake his hand and thank him, still shocked.

			“Hey, when you get back to L.A., would you please tell Ginny that Alan says ‘Hello’?”

			He knows Ginny (Bob Newhart’s wife) because she was a background player in a few Elvis films. And he wants me to deliver a message to her! Talk about everything coming full circle. But of course, it’s my MO to freeze and clam up when someone compliments me, and in my nervous state, I totally forget to tell Alan that I’m the same kid he’d escorted off of Elvis’ property years earlier.

			But back to Newhart. One thing nobody tells you about is how when you become a regular on a network TV sitcom (or later on an HBO drama), you get plied with an incredible variety of free goodies.

			Not to sound in any way obnoxious about it, but you simply can’t believe how pampered people on shows typically are. I’m already earning very good money. I don’t need to be gifted clothing, purses, jewelry, expensive booze, blankets, electronics, athletic shoes and high-end cosmetics. But I wasn’t going to turn it down, either.

			And don’t even get me started about the gift lounges, a whole other level of amazing where you just walk around a room stuffed with magnificent products and toss everything you want into a bag (or bags). We’re talking about designer sunglasses, watches, cashmere sweaters, even all-expense-paid exotic vacations.

			Don’t let anyone tell you that actors at a high level don’t have it incredibly good. The more attention your show gets, the more generous everyone seems to become. Timothy Olyphant, the star of Deadwood, once remarked to an interviewer, “I haven’t had to buy any clothes in years.”

			I have to admit to getting a little spoiled by it all. It isn’t enough, for instance, that Tony, John and I are shuttled around in a limousine or town car when making personal appearances. We eventually demand one for each of us. And during the last few seasons of the show, CBS/MTM breaks down and springs for it.

			This isn’t quite as outrageous as it sounds. If you have spouses and girlfriends, it gets pretty crowded to have everyone in the same vehicle, even if it’s a stretch limo.

			That said, it’s easy to let the indulgence and adulation go to your head when everyone is telling you how great you are all of the time, sending you fawning fan letters, stroking your ego.

			It’s kind of a big deal that during the last season, my manager is able to negotiate a dressing room for me with a shower, phone, a locking door and everything. It’s very nice for when guests come.

			One thing that we do all have from the get-go is a parking space on the studio lot. These are like gold. So, when someone else parks in your marked space, you get kind of defensive.

			That happened to me when two people (a production designer and a director of photography) were alternately using the space when I wasn’t there. The DP, a gentleman named George La Fountaine, had worked on all kinds of shows and was a real pro. Yet this didn’t stop me from going thug on him, threatening, “Man, I’m gonna have my 300-pound friend beat your fucking ass! Don’t park in my fucking space!”

			“OK,” he replied calmly, to his great credit. “My sincere apologies.”

			George could have picked me up and broken my neck. He showed great restraint. He even gave me a gift a few days later.

			My enjoyment of the Newhart job was always tied to the quality of the writing. Most of the scripts were great, and I was proud to be a part of it. One writer I loved was Douglas Wyman, who told me he liked to write for Larry, Darryl and Darryl because he could say things through us that were important to him. Bob Bendetson was another great one.

			But with so many writers getting shuttled in and out – between eighty and a hundred of them in all throughout the eight seasons – it’s inevitable that there will be gaps in consistency. Bob likes to change writers every couple of years so no one gets too much power. By the end of the run, the writing was tanking.

			Even so, we were able to go out with quite the bang.

			Perhaps you’ve seen the Newhart finale. It’s as memorable to the cast as it is to viewers. Larry, Darryl and Darryl wear suits (actual suits) and get married to three Jewish princesses (played by Christie Mellor, Nada Despotovitch and a pre-Friends Lisa Kudrow) – and the Darryls get to speak for the first and only time (yelling “Quiet!” to their wives).

			The final scene is pure genius.

			Understand that the big reveal at the end is kept from most of the cast and crew as well as the audience. The series wraps with Bob reprising his The Bob Newhart Show role as Dr. Bob Hartley in bed with his Bob Newhart Show wife, Suzanne Pleshette.

			Dr. Hartley awakens and explains the entire Newhart series as one giant bizarre dream.

			Classic. And brilliant.

			Bob will later send out a letter of congratulations to everyone, boasting that more than thirty million people watched the Newhart finale and that it had already been voted one of the greatest finales ever.

			It was a fantastic way to say goodbye. But I still had plenty left to do.

		

	
		
			Chapter 13

			LOOKIN’ FOR TROUBLE

			El Paso, Texas – 1982

			I’m working on location with Chuck Norris (Missing in Action and Walker, Texas Ranger) on the action film Lone Wolf McQuade – and I’m feeling rather invulnerable.

			Blade Runner is just coming out. Newhart is just heating up. People recognize me as a budding character-actor star. And now I’m on a film with Norris. So to say I’m feeling my oats is a significant understatement. My career is shifting into the next gear, and nothing can stop me now – except me.

			Thus, when Chuck asks me if I can perform a fairly elaborate and dangerous stunt on the film, self-preservation isn’t foremost in my mind.

			“Sure,” I volunteer.

			What I essentially have just said is, “Sure, I can leap from the third floor of a building while holding a prop gun in one hand and a prop briefcase in the other and land in the bed of a truck with a mattress to break my fall while an explosion sends a ball of flame cascading around me and leaves me feeling that my skin will burn off.”

			But of course, I say none of that. Instead, I just go along with it.

			“And…action!”

			I leap. It’s difficult to keep my balance holding these two props of different weights. I start driving this truck, and Chuck’s character (McQuade) grabs the bed of the truck as it hits an oil tanker and explodes into a twenty-five-foot-high ball of flame.

			The heat comes up in a wave through the floorboard. I think special FX made a mistake, that the flame is too hot and something went wrong. But no. I continue acting. I go limp. My eyes shut. McQuade carries me to safety.

			This is probably why Norris likes me. I’m a good soldier, an actor who does his own stunts even when logic and sanity dictate it may be a bad idea.

			Fortunately, I survive. And Chuck will not only write a part for me in his next film for which I unfortunately have a conflict and can’t do; he also puts me in three installments of his long-running TV series Walker, Texas Ranger.

			There’s one other issue on Lone Wolf. It happens that the producer has enlisted some genuinely tough local guys for it, dudes who really look and act the part. It’s what filmmakers do on location: Hire locals (often not actors) to save a few bucks in roles with no dialogue.

			This also, unfortunately, means these guys aren’t accustomed to “And…action!”, particularly when prop guns are going off all around them.

			One of these local hires is supposed to hold a knife piled with cocaine (actually baking soda) under my nose for my character, a weasel coke dealer named Snow, to sample. But with all of the hysteria going on during the shoot of the scene, the guy accidentally jerks the blade, cutting my nose and drawing blood.

			Note to self: Next time, recommend to props that they use a knife blade that’s a bit duller. But as a character actor, I’ve long since learned that one doesn’t complain or one doesn’t get hired nearly as much. Word gets around, and troublemakers are shunted aside.

			I know a lot of people slam Norris and knock his movies, but he’s been incredibly good to me and a great gentleman.

			As my reward for the craziness in El Paso, meanwhile, I meet a very exotic young lady named Argentina after hours. I’m thirty-eight. She says she’s eighteen. It’s perfect. She’s very pretty and wild – a good combination for me at this stage of my life.

			When the Lone Wolf shoot is completed and it’s time to leave El Paso, I’m sorry to have to say goodbye to Argentina. I want to see her again. But how?

			Memphis – 1982

			I need someone to accompany me to my twenty-year high school reunion in Memphis. Then it hits me: Who better than Argentina?

			“Hey this is Bill,” I begin in a phone call. 

			“Hi Bill. What’s up?”

			“Well, my high school reunion is happening this weekend, and I was wondering if you’d like to accompany me. I’ll buy you a plane ticket if you’re interested.”

			“Sure! Sounds like fun!”

			So there I am at my reunion, obviously showing off. There are all of these friends who are long married with kids. I’m there with someone who – if she didn’t look so dark – could be mistaken for my daughter. Instead, she’s my date!

			I guess the shoe kind of fits at this point. In my mind, I’m now a hotshot actor living in Hollywood. Of course I’m going to have some pretty young thing on my arm. Naturally, everyone is pointing and whispering. I’m sure it sparks all kinds of gossip. I’m hoping they’re all just jealous.

			The reunion is a two-night affair. But when it comes time for Argentina to meet me the second night, my party girl is nowhere to be found. I later discover she’d taken up with a bartender buddy who is known to have dope and drugs and stuff.

			Live by the sword, die by the sword.

			Joshua Tree National Forest, California – October 1982

			Sometimes you’ve got to give back. It can’t all just be about landing bigger credits and earning more money. So when my character actor pal Charles Napier (so good as Murdock in Rambo: First Blood Part II) asks me to star with him in this thriller short called China Lake for no pay, I’m game – even though I’ll be playing a character named Germ (more typecasting).

			China Lake is the thirty-minute passion project for an aspiring young filmmaker named Robert Harmon. It’s basically designed to be his calling card for real work, as this one is costing about $75,000 to put together (with a lot of people working for scale or nothing at all). Yet it’s still a quality piece.

			Harmon will, within a few years, establish himself by directing the ’86 feature The Hitcher with Rutger Hauer (Blade Runner) and getting tight with Tom Selleck, producing and directing something like nine made-for-TV movies featuring the Selleck character Jesse Stone as well as a bunch of episodes of his CBS series Blue Bloods. But right now, Harmon is just trying to prove himself.

			My memory of this time is that I’m feeling pretty good about myself, which ultimately means out of control. I’ve just bought a brand-new yellow convertible.

			On the night before filming begins, I’ve been drinking and get really drunk. I somehow drive my convertible from L.A. to our Joshua Tree motel without killing anyone. But once I arrive, that’s where things stop going right. I’m staggering around and, instead of going to my own room, I go to the room where director Harmon and his producer girlfriend are staying and evidently knock so hard that the window shatters into pieces.

			I have a vague recollection of Harmon peeking his head out and me turning around to look at him as I stumble away. This must terrify the hell out of the two of them. I can’t even imagine.

			But at 7 a.m., I’m on the set like I’m supposed to be, feeling fine. And there is never any mention of the incident. Not a single word. Nothing about paying for the window or anything. It’s as if it never happens. So, I don’t bring it up, either.

			It’s too bad this occurs, because I really like Harmon and how he works the set as director. His style reminds me of Ridley Scott. But he’ll never hire me again for some reason.

			However, Chuck Napier and I will have a lot of fun and plenty of laughs in the ensuing years. At that time, I’m trying to help the notorious but sexy Rita Jenrette get work in the industry. Her view of Napier is that he’s a great guy to hang with “as long as he’s doing better than you are.”

			This is actually the way too much of Hollywood operates, out of fear and jealousy. We pretend to root for our acting friends to do well, but when they surpass us it’s like a stake through the heart, whether admitted or not. That appeared particularly true of Chuck (who died in 2011, at seventy-five).

			Our good friend Tracey Walter theorizes, “Chuck is a character actor who wants to be a leading man.” I suspect that’s accurate. He also enjoys a good time, often saying to me, “C’mon, leave your wife and come drink with me.” This isn’t the kind of friend that’s good for me, but it rarely gives me pause.

			There were few more colorful characters in all of the world than Charles Napier. For all of his faults and flaws, he was a wonderful friend and I miss him terribly.

			Los Angeles – 1984

			While I have no problem spending time with pretty ladies I’ve just met, I’m also yearning for something more permanent. I’ve turned forty and feel like it’s time. Not that the women are all lining up to be Mrs. Sanderson or anything.

			That changes when I meet Aprile, a warm and confident lady. She is exactly half my age (twenty) and is incredibly complimentary when we meet at a restaurant in the Beverly Center in West Hollywood, where she works as a cashier.

			“I liked you in Blade Runner,” she says.

			“Thank you. Would you like to get together sometime?” 

			“Sure. Here’s my number.”

			Aprile’s flirtation works. I’m at a vulnerable period in my life, so it’s a perfect storm. It’s only later that I’ll find Willem Dafoe’s (Spider-man) phone number in her pocket. Leaves me feeling conned.

			Nonetheless, I’m receptive when Aprile suggests we get married. It’s the first time a woman had ever proposed to me. And she doesn’t seem to mind that I already have a young son. She sees a guy with a steady series TV paycheck. That more than seems to make up for the age difference in her mind.

			So, we get hitched. It will not be a smart decision, doing nothing to settle me down. In fact, it seems to leave me even less stable.

			For a while, Aprile is wonderful at dealing with my vicissitudes. But it doesn’t last. I like to say she wasn’t up for the job.

			1985

			I’m cast as the deaf-mute mechanic in the feature film Black Moon Rising that stars Tommy Lee Jones, Linda Hamilton (The Terminator) and Robert Vaughn (The Man from U.N.C.L.E.). This will be my third time working with Tommy Lee.

			When the director tells Tommy that he’ll be working with me again, he replies, “Good, he won’t have to talk.”

			Is it sexist on my part to mention that one of the most memorable things from the Black Moon shoot is the fact that Linda greets me with a kiss right on the lips? Hey come on, that kind of stuff is meaningful for most guys.

			This production marks the first time that my impression of Jones begins to tarnish a little. I still love working with him, and he’s incredibly nice to me – “You want to come to my dressing room and share some chili?” he invites me one day – but I begin to see a different side of him.

			By the end of filming, for example, there’s a lot of tension on the set. Tommy Lee refuses to do a scene with our director and insists that Bud Davis, the stunt coordinator, direct it instead. It’s emblematic of someone who will pull star rank and act the bully when he doesn’t get his way.

			But I’d be lying if I said I wouldn’t do it too if I thought I could get away with it.

			En Route to New York City – 1985

			I’m sitting in first class on a flight to New York on someone else’s dime (my favorite kind of dime) and next to me is a charming middle-aged lady who seems to know a lot about show business.

			Considering how dreary it can be to sit beside a stranger for five or six hours, I’m happy to have someone so interesting to share a conversation with. The time passes in a flash when you’re engaged like this.

			“What are you working on now?” the woman asks.

			“Oh, things are going great on Newhart,” I say, “and I just got another job in this film with Tommy Lee Jones that’s called Black Moon Rising. It’s my third project working with Tommy Lee.”

			“That sounds marvelous,” she says. “I look forward to seeing that one. Tommy Lee Jones is a very talented actor.” 

			“Yes he is,” I agree.

			It continues like this for pretty much the entire flight. As we are getting off the plane, it occurs to me I never asked her about her life or what she does for a living.

			A few weeks later, I get a call from my manager telling me that I’m all over that morning’s Liz Smith column in Newsday.

			“Really?” I say. “But I’ve never even spoken to the woman.”

			Liz wrote, “He’s nothing like the character he plays.”

			“It says she sat next to you on a flight to New York,” he says. “The piece is really nice and flattering.”

			It pays to be nice to everyone. You never know when you might be sitting beside a famous syndicated columnist without even knowing it.

			New York City – 1986

			I’ve booked a room at the famous Mayflower Hotel overlooking Central Park. One night, I decide to go drinking downstairs in the hotel bar, a place frequented by working actors.

			Bad choice.

			I’m nursing my drink, minding my own business, when this one drunk guy a few stools down starts yammering up a storm. Admittedly, I’m just as sloshed as he is. As I’ve already made clear on these pages, I find all sorts of creative ways to get myself into trouble when I’m drinking. This time will be no exception.

			It’s hard for me to remember exactly what happened. But as best I can recall, this gentleman is making disparaging remarks about actors – which I don’t take kindly to. I’m not quite sure what I say to him, but knowing my track record with alcohol and confrontation, I’m guessing it’s nothing good.

			Next thing I know, we’re arguing more heatedly – now, for some reason, in the men’s room. How or why we relocate our pissing match (now literally) to the bathroom, I don’t know. What I do know is that there is some sort of commotion, because now, this guy hits his head on something. Maybe I pushed him. I honestly have no clue. But I’m freaked out enough to make a quick exit and scurry back up to my room.

			My first thought is to call my longtime accountant, Malcolm Orland. I know that my lawyer may seem like a more logical choice, but I’m thinking Malcolm might be able to wire me some money, if needed – and fast!

			I’m searching through my wallet to find his home number when there is a loud knock on my hotel room door. I open it and find two of New York’s finest staring back at me.

			“You know why we’re here, don’t you?” one officer asks. 

			“Well, I think so,” I say, trying to appear contrite.

			“Then you know who we’re talking about, right?” 

			“Probably,” I respond sheepishly.

			“What happened downstairs?”

			“He started saying some bad stuff about actors,” I reply. To my surprise, the cops chuckle.

			“In that case, we totally understand.”

			This was just another case of two drunks embarrassing themselves, which means no real crime was committed.

			“All right,” one of the officers says, “but please try not to lose it on someone just because they talk trash about actors, OK?”

			“Yes, sir.”

			I am relieved at how quickly this all blows over. I’m lucky that these officers cut me so much slack. I’m thinking they recognize me from Newhart. Being on TV has its perks, and I’m grateful.

			I’m doubly fortunate, because this little altercation never gets back to the folks at Newhart, which could have proved catastrophic for me. Giant bullet dodged. Yep, drinking and paranoia. A lethal combination. Note to self: Stop it!

			Somewhere in Southern California – 1986

			I may be succeeding as William Sanderson the actor, but I still maintain my dream of being Elvis. So, one day I decide to sort of play him, trying to channel some of The King’s charm. I’ll figure out soon enough that I should just stick with being me. But as usual, I have to learn the hard way.

			Consider an incident that unfolds after I meet an attractive young hostess at a restaurant in Brentwood.

			This lady (let’s call her Kelsie) tells me she’s working at the restaurant while taking a break from looking for work in the entertainment industry. I’m charmed by her (though I’m also quite married to my first wife). Kelsie is also looking for a place to practice her guitar.

			“I have a small office in Studio City where you could practice,” I offer. 

			“Really?” she says excitedly. “Wow, that would be so cool.”

			I tend to want to help people before I really get to know them. Especially when they’re pretty and female.

			Just to complicate matters, I invite Kelsie to accompany me to a concert featuring the country artist John Anderson in Anaheim, maybe an hour’s drive away near Disneyland. I rent a limo so I don’t need to worry about directions or driving, and also to impress her a little.

			Also along for this ride will be a 300-pound bouncer friend who goes by the name of Goon and a stuntman whom I’ve helped to get a number of jobs named Blue. I can’t very well go to a concert without my posse keeping an eye on me.

			After all, I’m Elvis.

			So, if you’re keeping score, that’s William, Kelsie, Goon and Blue together in a limo with nothing but time on our hands. What could possibly go wrong?

			Actually, something goes wrong immediately. Goon comes by my office, bails on the concert and asks to borrow $10. So now it’s up to Blue to make me look cool.

			We go to the concert and things are initially fine, except that Blue keeps buying me cocktails against both of our better judgments. They’re called Cherry Bombs. Very potent. Being a beer man at this point in my life, it’s the kind of thing I never drink.

			I lose count at six.

			Of course, I’m good and wasted in the limo as we leave the concert.

			I have only a vague awareness of what happens over the next ninety minutes or so.

			Suddenly we’re back in Studio City at my office. Blue goes home. Next thing I know, Kelsie is screaming and making a scene. After hearing the screams, the neighbors have called the police. And now the cops are putting me in handcuffs and getting ready to haul me to jail. Fortunately, I’m very compliant with the police. But they take me down to the station for questioning, anyway.

			As she extricates herself from the situation, the young woman is kind enough to tell the cops, “He’s a nice guy. He just had too much to drink.” Damning me with faint praise.

			I use my one phone call to wake up my actor friend Chuck Napier, who is at the station early the next morning to post my bail. He even put up his house as collateral. No way was I calling my wife. That would not have gone well.

			Once they let me go, I mistakenly presume I’m OK and I’ll get off with a slap on the wrist. Kelsie has already vouched for my character and blamed it on booze. I’m not too worried. But I should have been.

			After some people discover that you’ve got money, they can’t seem to help themselves. This is the case with this woman, who evidently has a change of heart after talking the situation over with a sheriff, who happens to be her father.

			She writes a letter to the district attorney and alleges that, among other things, she had lost a $5,000 watch, her $65 blouse was torn, this, that and the other thing – and now she wants $16,000 as compensation for our night out.

			Now I have to lawyer up. What else is new? Unfortunately, my incompetent attorney is dumbfounded by the demands.

			We come to find out Kelsie is hardly an innocent herself, having borrowed $10,000 after giving a sob story to a chef in her restaurant and never repaying him. It’s starting to look like the lady is a common hustler.

			I know the woman is lying but – given my state of inebriation at the time – I can’t prove it. I’m emboldened when the cops who had arrested me come to my office to tell me, “We see what she’s doing, and we’d be willing to testify for you.”

			This is a heartening offer, but I also have a reputation to protect and a vested interest in making this go away as quickly as possible. Kelsie doesn’t get the $16,000, but it probably would have been cheaper in the long run had I just given it to her and stopped the legal bills, embarrassment and fallout.

			What you don’t realize until you become a recognizable face and name on a TV series is that it leaves you susceptible to shakedowns and people on the take. The con artists of the world can smell cash and vulnerability a mile away.

			It’s my own damn fault, of course. I’m an easy mark and lost control of myself from the alcohol. And now I know – I’m not Elvis.

			My lifelong pal Dr. Bob Watkins offers to write a letter attesting to my character in case it’s needed for legal, moral and career reasons. It’s incredibly generous of Bob, and one of the reasons I’ll always love him.

			Marshall, Texas – 1986

			Val Kilmer is red-hot as we start shooting the HBO film The Man Who Broke 1,000 Chains, a remake of I’m a Fugitive from a Chain Gang. He’s just made his star turn in Top Gun, the hottest film of the summer. And he’s acting every ounce the prima donna. I can tell he’s going to be trouble. So can a man named Charles Durning (The Sting, The Front Page, The Choirboys).

			Charlie is a guy who has been around. He’s a decorated WWII vet and a former bouncer as well as an amazing veteran character actor. He’s also a great mentor for anyone who asks and one hell of a good man. When he tells you something, you listen.

			What Charlie is telling me today is that he’s seeing problems ahead in a coming fight scene between Kilmer’s character and mine, a guy named Trump. In the scene, Val’s character is supposed to pull his punch. But Durning seems to foresee an issue.

			“Watch him,” Charlie warns. 

			“What do you mean?”

			“Just watch him,” he reiterates. “Better yet, ask Val what he’s going to do.”

			I don’t. But I should have. When it comes time for Kilmer to punch me in the scene, he doesn’t stop it short but lets loose on me straight in the mouth. How hard? Hard enough to get my attention – and piss me off.

			I’m close enough, and Kilmer is unprepared enough, so I can kick him straight in the balls if I want to. But somehow, discretion and self-preservation protect me for one of the rare times.

			Later in the shoot, however, I’ll get my revenge.

			There’s a scene where my character takes a felt whip that reads like leather on camera and whips him with it. When it comes time to shoot a take, though, as soon as I start thwacking Val’s bare back with the mock-whip, he recoils and yells, “Cut! Cut!”.

			This is the first time I’ve ever heard an actor yell “Cut!” It turns out that our stunt coordinator had accidently left some staples in the strap and they were stinging poor Val as they struck his skin. Oops! 

			Some might call that karma.

			I can’t remember if I apologized.

			That same night, feeling pretty good about things, I decide to celebrate with a couple of brews in a bar across from our motel when I encounter a guy claiming to be Randy Travis who I know can’t possibly be him. At least, I don’t think so.

			After downing my usual beer allotment, I take a spot near the front door and scream, “Fuck you, you’re not Randy Travis!” And then I race out of the bar toward my motel room.

			This starts some of the locals after me.

			Now I hear yelling and a few of my fellow actors are opening motel windows.

			“Sanderson! Over here!”

			I hurl myself in the window of someone’s room and escape the rage of the local posse.

			This naturally begs the question: Was it Randy Travis, or wasn’t it? The answer is, I have no idea. But quite frankly, it’s probably a better story that I’m not sure.

			Later in the week, I’m in my room starting to fall asleep when I hear someone opening the lock of the door to my room. Suddenly, this young lady enters. I stand up in shock.

			“I think you’ve got the wrong room,” I say.

			“Nope, it’s the right room,” she insists. “I work the front desk. I came here on purpose to see you.”

			It takes me a minute to catch on.

			“What for?” I ask innocently.

			“To see if you want to have some fun.” 

			“You mean, like right now?”

			“Can you think of a better time?”

			The lady is prepared with condoms and everything.

			It all would have been perfect had she not come to Los Angeles claiming I’d gotten her pregnant. The story makes its way to the Newhart cast and crew and is not good for my reputation. 

			Luckily for me, she is revealed to be a world-class liar. It turns out that she had followed some of the HBO film crew members back to LA, and they all assured me that none of it was true. I heard she was fired from her job at the hotel, and she dropped the accusations.

		

	
		
			Chapter 14

			LIPPY & BILLY & TOMMY & JACK

			Del Rio, Texas – 1988

			I’m not sure if I realize just how big a deal it is to get cast in Bill Wittliff’s screenplay, Lonesome Dove, the CBS television miniseries based on Larry McMurtry’s 1985 Pulitzer Prize-winning classic western novel. What I know is that it has an amazing cast headed by Robert Duvall (Apocalypse Now, The Great Santini), Tommy Lee Jones, Diane Lane (A Little Romance), Anjelica Huston (Prizzi’s Honor), Danny Glover (The Color Purple, Lethal Weapon), Robert Urich (Vegas), and Chris Cooper (American Beauty).

			The project will go on to earn nineteen Emmy nominations and win a whopping thirteen trophies. Going in, I discover that this is the thing everyone in Hollywood wants to be a part of. It’s also the fourth time I’ve gotten a chance to work with Tommy. It’s such a great opportunity that it takes some of the sting out of the fact my marriage is now officially kaput.

			Yes, I’ve given it a nice college try, I figure. But four years with Aprile is all I have in me. She’ll now get a settlement of half of everything because I’m stupid and have no pre-nuptial agreement.

			Between the divorce, fending off a meritless paternity suit, shakedowns and arrests, I’m at the present time working with five – FIVE – attorneys.

			In other words, going to work on Lonesome Dove in Texas and New Mexico for three months is a nice change of pace from the rest of my life, which I seem to have screwed up quite royally.

			The western saga finds me portraying Lippy Jones, who plays piano at the Dry Bean Saloon in Lonesome Dove and later joins the crew to drive the cattle to Montana. Lippy was shot in the gut and survived but now constantly leaks fluid, giving him a terrible odor. He also wears an ancient bowler and walks around with a lip that protrudes out so far that it forces him to breathe through his mouth – hence his name.

			Lippy is such a disgusting guy that he’s the only one whom the town whore, Lorena (Diane Lane), won’t sleep with. Just my luck.

			It’s exciting to be on location working on such a high-profile entertainment project, not to mention a very nice break from my years on a studio set with Newhart. In fact, I’ve never been happier professionally. I’m still on my series, I have Lonesome Dove, I have my A&W corporate spokesman gig and I’m loving hanging out with the cast and crew and wranglers here.

			My only problem is a local-hire second assistant director on the set who appears to have it out for me. She’s in over her head and lashing out, always giving me guff for no good reason (in my view).

			The situation starts to get serious.

			“William, you aren’t pulling your weight,” she tells me, “and I don’t appreciate your attitude.”

			“What attitude?” I plead. “I keep trying to please you but you keep on me and there’s no making you happy.”

			“Well,” she says, “everyone else seems to be fine with me.”

			“I know that isn’t true,” I insist.

			“Watch yourself,” she finally warns me, “or you’ll be off of this project.”

			This is now serious enough that I decide to run my concern by Tommy Lee.

			“Which AD are you talking about?” he asks. As soon as I tell him, he assures me, “Oh her? She’s already gone.”

			“What?”

			“Oh yeah,” he says. “I already got rid of her. She got on the wrong side of the wrong person – me.”

			So in addition to everything else, it seems Tommy Lee is a mind reader, too. And whatever star power he pulls to make it happen is more than appreciated by me. Normally, I’d have gotten into an argument and made a scene. That would have been a sin on Lonesome Dove.

			This isn’t to say there aren’t other issues during the shoot. Roughly two-thirds of the way through, filming shuts down for a couple of days due to what is called “creative differences.”

			We come to find out there’s a problem between Tommy and our other star, Duvall. I’m there, in fact, when Tommy blurts out, “I’m calling SAG (Screen Actors Guild) on Duvall!” What’s it all about? I don’t know and I really don’t care to know. Probably egos. When you have two alpha males like this, it’s natural that both will be competing for top dog.

			In fact, as I often say, there are always three issues impacting every project in Hollywood: Ego, money and weather. Sometimes all three are tied in together, sometimes not. We have all of them in spades on Lonesome Dove.

			Angel Fire, New Mexico – 1988

			We switch to a new town, state and location set on Dove. I’m feeling pretty carefree this one day, as I don’t have much to do on the set, just minding my own business. Suddenly I see a woman across the way who fails to duck while walking and takes a nasty blow to her forehead.

			I run over to help the lady up to her feet. She’s got a fairly nasty gash that will require a couple of stitches to close, so I grab her a towel to stop the blood. But it turns out that – as the first female Teamster hired in Texas – she’s plenty tough.

			After thanking me, the woman shocks me out of my socks by telling me the following:

			“You’re a nice guy. I’d have spoken to you sooner while we were in Del Rio, but I was told you had exposed yourself to somebody.” 

			“What?” I ask, incredulous.

			“Yeah, sorry,” she goes on. “I can’t tell you where I heard it. Rumors, you know.”

			Yeah, rumors. I know. All it takes is one of them to veer out of control and it can ruin you in this cloistered production world. This rumor is so absurd and disturbing that I don’t even want to dignify it with a denial. If someone decides they don’t like you, they can put something like this out there and – at a minimum – make you sweat.

			I make a silent vow to myself not to be quite as trusting with crew members.

			It’s honestly too bad, because I love hanging on the set with the crew – what they call the “below the line” people. That term refers to the separation on a budget sheet between the actors, producers, director and writers and the rest of the folks. That includes the camera operators, the grips, the editors, the guys holding the microphones, the people who scout out locations, those who pick up the food, all of that.

			I especially love spending time with the wranglers who are out every morning with the horses and cattle no matter how bad the weather. In fact, I grow so close to these guys that I toss them a party one Sunday afternoon. Even Duvall wanders through, but not Tommy.

			Tommy Lee makes up for it in other ways, though.

			Playing Woodrow Call in Dove is, for Tommy Lee, almost a birthright as a native Texan. He beat out Richard Harris and Burt Reynolds (among others) for the role. It’s this performance that will inspire Oliver Stone to cast Tommy in JFK in a part that’ll earn him an Oscar nomination.

			As for Tommy and me, we have a love-hate relationship. I love him. He hates me.

			But he doesn’t hate me so much that he doesn’t take me (along with fellow castmate Tim Scott) when he charters a small plane to fly us from South Texas to his ranch in the town of his birth – San Saba – to take in a polo match.

			This experience turns out to be pretty much as cool as it sounds. Tommy Lee serves as referee of the match on a regulation polo field. The only reason he isn’t playing is he doesn’t want to risk injury. But the match is preceded by two men playing “The Star-Spangled Banner” on fiddles. It’s incredibly moving.

			After the contest, Tommy arranges for dinner on the property, where he speaks fluent Spanish to the help. I’m duly impressed by the whole thing. 

			There is another moment that’s telling, however.

			Tommy Lee and I get to talking about how we deal with fans and mail and sending out autographed pictures. A smirk crosses his face, as if this were the most ridiculous thing he’d ever discussed.

			“Oh, I just toss those things straight into the garbage,” he admits.

			At first, I think he must be joking. How can he have so little regard for the people who support him and allow him to make such a great living? But Tommy’s serious.

			Don’t get me wrong, I know it’s hard to keep up with every fan letter one gets. But I’ve always tried my best.

			San Antonio, Texas – 1988

			I see just how serious he is a few months later when I’ve agreed to do a play with Tommy Lee and he picks me up along with my assistant at the airport in San Antonio shortly after we wrap Lonesome Dove. A well-dressed man who obviously recognizes Tommy approaches and tells him, “I just want to tell you how much I enjoy your work.”

			This is somehow Tommy’s cue to unload on the guy.

			“Do you make a habit of just invading the space of total strangers you see walking in the airport?” he fumes.

			Caught off-guard, the man fumbles.

			“Well no, I just…”

			“Did it ever occur to you that maybe I have other things I need to be concentrating on and this might be jarring?” 

			“Jesus, I’m sorry, I…”

			“Now go on about your day and think about how your asinine actions impact other people before you just act impulsively.”

			With that, we’re off. The man turns ashen and looks devastated. But this is simply the way Tommy Lee is. Nosy reporters and fawning (if well-meaning) fans leave him snarling and rude. I may think I’m not always gracious in handling a compliment, but compared to this man, I’m the classiest act on two legs.

			Nonetheless, I welcome the opportunity to work with Tommy again in an Equity play that he’s producing and directing entitled The Authentic Life of Billy the Kid.

			I get to star in the title role, in part because Tommy believes I’ll be a draw due to Newhart (which is still going strong in its seventh season). We’re here to rehearse for a play we’ll do over the holidays in ’88 and early ’89. It’s kind of a rehearsal coordination nightmare, since I still need to be in L.A. to shoot the show most Fridays. Basically, I fly to Texas for the week, then to L.A., then back again.

			Authentic Life of Billy the Kid is an intriguing tale that won the 1979 National New Play Award at the Kennedy Center American College Theatre Festival. Set in 1908 in a one-room shack out west, it’s a by turns funny and chilling play centering on Pat Garrett, the man credited with shooting Billy.

			Now it’s years later, and the guy who wrote the dime-store novel that immortalized the story of Pat and Billy shows up at Garrett’s front door with a middle-aged man who claims to be Billy the Kid – and he’s obviously not dead. The play moves forward from that premise.

			Let me just say right off the bat here that Tommy Lee completely behaves himself during the run of the play. He doesn’t drink, he’s in control and he’s the best play director I ever work for. I also don’t recall him ever being in a good mood except while he was working on Billy the Kid.

			One day, I’m looking for him in the lobby of the Crockett Hotel where we were staying. I’m searching for him all over the place. Finally, I spot him in the lobby and I ask, “Why are you lurking over here?”

			“I don’t lurk,” Tommy Lee corrects, “I loom.”

			I wish I could say I behave as well as Tommy does while doing the play. My fellow actors and I are doing plenty of after-hours drinking once the production gets going (though never before the show of course). I’m told that we need to switch hotels, because word has gotten out that we’re buying for everyone every night, and some of the local guys have taken umbrage.

			Another night, I have a vague recollection (not at all my favorite kind of recollection) of having a conversation with a comely young lady who asks me for my autograph – which of course I give to her on a bar check. I keep drinking until last call.

			Come the following morning, I’m told there’s an envelope for me at the front desk. It seems things had gone downhill fairly catastrophically the night before.

			Inside the envelope is my autograph ripped into little pieces. There is also an accompanying note:

			“Bill: Early in the evening you were so charming and I was honored to get your autograph. You were so kind and sweet. Then you changed at the end of the evening and I have no desire to have this piece of paper or to ever speak with you again.”

			I have no idea what I could have said to this woman. Well that’s not true, I have some idea, and it’s regrettable.

			“Yeah, when you were engaged it was alright,” Tommy Lee jokes, “but when you didn’t want to get married she got upset.”

			He’s kidding. Because after what I went through in my marriage, I doubt that I’ll have any interest in doing that again.

			Yosemite National Park, California – 1990

			I have a spectacular time working on the family feature The Giant of Thunder Mountain. The production company arranges for me to stay in a house right on Bass Lake, complete with boating and fishing docks, for the duration of filming. This is the same Bass Lake where Dan Aykroyd and John Candy filmed The Great Outdoors.

			My son Andy, now ten and visiting for a week, is asked to be an extra in the film. He soon regrets saying “Yes,” as being an extra involves lots of standing around. I notice him fidgeting and looking restless.

			“I want to work, or I want to play!” Andy tells me. My thoughts exactly.

			I’m working with a great cast: Cloris Leachman (The Last Picture Show), the seven-foot-two gentle giant Richard Kiel (The Spy Who Loved Me, Happy Gilmore) and my friend Jack Elam (Support Your Local Sheriff, The Cannonball Run).

			Jack is a grizzled, brilliant septuagenarian character actor, the kind they just don’t make anymore. He’s worked as a movie sidekick going back to the 1940s. You’d know him if you saw him. He’s got the one bad eye that he can’t see out of, the result of a childhood accident. But he claims, “I can drive better than any of you. With one eye.”

			It’s always a lot of fun when you get to hang around with Jack. He has everyone playing liar’s poker on the set between takes, and he arranges seven-card stud poker games on the weekends. My wife Sharon (girlfriend at this time) joins the game. I just watch as I’m not a good poker player. Well, truthfully, I’m too nervous that I’ll lose. But I do win Jack’s approval by bringing him the little travel bottles of Cutty Sark that he likes so much.

			You never know what Jack might say. Like the time I overheard him telling a young woman, “I have every vice, let me teach you some.” The man isn’t very politically correct, but he sure was a kick to be around.

			After we wrap filming, our friendship continues up until his death in October 2003. One of the funniest letters he wrote me arrived in 1997, which he actually addressed to Sharon, not me.

			“Does Bill know he doesn’t have to speak to me anymore? You see, I’m not working anymore, so he doesn’t have to write me or anything. He’s working, you know. I could play his parts you know if they’d just write them for a guy in his eighties. Hell, I was in pictures once too!

			“This is not sour grapes you know just because he keeps working, but if he’d turn down a job now and then maybe they’d think about an old heavy in a wheelchair? I wouldn’t mind even if they got some kid heavy like him to push me around.

			“Tell the kid I’d be proud of him if I wasn’t so fucking jealous!”

			I sure do miss him.

			En Route to Kansas City, Missouri – 1991

			One thing I’ve never done is really lose it on somebody while on an airplane. This proves to be particularly fortunate one day when I notice that a guy is shifting things around in the overhead bin, positioning his carry-on bag in a way that starts to bend up my prized Stetson hat.

			After he’s done and I check the bin, I approach him in his seat a couple of rows away.

			“Hey buddy, your stuff is crushing my cowboy hat up in the bin,” I say with a mild bit of irritation.

			The old me would have made a bigger deal of this. But I steer clear of my typical modus operandi in this case, thankfully, in part due to the centering influence of my girlfriend, Sharon.

			It turns out the man is genuinely apologetic.

			“Oh man, I’m sorry,” he says, getting up to open the bin and fix it.

			“That’s OK,” I assure him.

			It’s then that the man recognizes me.

			“Oh hey, you’re on Newhart, aren’t you?” he asks. “I love that show.”

			“Was on it,” I correct him. “We’re off the air now. But thank you for the kind words.”

			The guy sticks out his hand to shake.

			“Tommy Morrison,” he says. “Nice meeting you.”

			I suddenly realize that the man I have just yammered at for mussing my hat is the former WBO Heavyweight Boxing Champion, the man who took the title from George Foreman and starred in Rocky V.

			We laughed together and had a nice chat. I’d hate to think what might have happened if I’d been more aggressive.

		

	
		
			Chapter 15

			SHARON

			“Without you, one hour crept slowly, like a year. ‘Is my life worthwhile, when you are not near?’.” -Nikolai Gogol

			Las Vegas, Nevada – December 1989

			Then I meet the woman who saves my life, both literally and figuratively.

			I’m at the Flamingo Hotel & Casino, where I’ve come to see the annual National Rodeo Finals on the campus of the University of Nevada Las Vegas, at the Thomas & Mack Center. I’m inspired to go because I’d recently spent several months with some real cowboys, and rodeo is what they do. I especially dig the bull riding.

			The third and final championship fight between Sugar Ray Leonard and Roberto Duran is also happening this weekend. I take it all in as Mike Tyson and his entourage stroll through the Flamingo, along with a bunch of country music stars. There’s an electric current in the air and lots of beautiful women walking around.

			But as I say, I’ve already pretty much given up on the idea of marriage again. I figure all women are after me for my money or something I’m incapable of giving them. And my mind isn’t on any of that when my eyes latch onto a beautiful blonde as I sit at the tiny casino bar next to the blackjack tables.

			I order a glass of wine and, at the other end of the bar, there she is. She’s wearing jeans and a red silk blouse that fits her nicely, and she’s drinking a Coors Light. Generous guy that I am, I offer to buy her another beer, even though she isn’t done with the one she’s drinking. Anything to start a conversation.

			I’m surprised at how gracefully she accepts it. 

			“Why thank you,” this gorgeous stranger says.

			I notice that this lady is well put together and obviously dripping with class. Nicely tapered fingers. Polished nails. A warm smile. She evokes the kind of vibe that’s so poised and comfortable in her own skin that it disarms me. I briefly consider the fact that I’m probably out of my league. But for some reason, I decide to take a chance.

			It’s just then that I realize I am dressed comparatively outlandishly. I’m wearing bib overalls, an ermine tail earring with a crab claw, authentic boa constrictor boots and the Resistol cowboy hat that Tommy Lee Jones had given every member of the Authentic Life of Billy the Kid cast after we wrapped production.

			Yet because this is Vegas, I don’t necessarily stand out as being dressed so bizarrely. This is the town where anything goes. Plus, I’m there to see a rodeo, where what I’m wearing is fairly standard issue.

			Anyway, all of this stuff is pinballing through my head as I rise from my barstool and walk over to try to make time with this woman. She introduces herself as Sharon and warmly shakes my hand.

			“Bill,” I reply.

			“Very nice to make your acquaintance,” I add. “So where are you from?”

			“I’m from Pennsylvania,” Sharon says, pointing to a nearby blackjack table. “Mom likes to play blackjack. I’m along for the ride. I like the shows and the action of the town.”

			“Oh, interesting, I’m originally from Memphis,” I say, “but I live in L.A. now.”

			We chat for ten minutes. She hasn’t recognized me. I can’t help myself. I have to ask her.

			“Do you watch television in Pennsylvania?”

			“Yes,” Sharon says with a smile, “we have TV.”

			A brief awkward silence falls over the conversation.

			“OK,” I reply, “I was just wondering because I happen to be on a television show.”

			“You’re on a television show? Which one?” 

			“Newhart. I wonder if you’ve seen it.”

			“Oh, I’ve heard of it, but I’m not sure if I’ve seen it,” Sharon admits.

			This is naturally not really the answer I’m looking for. After all, I’m trying to impress on the lady that I’m a TV star! But she doesn’t seem to care all that much. Then suddenly she says, “Oh wait, that’s the show with Stephanie (Julia Duffy) and Michael (Peter Scolari). They’re so funny.”

			Hearing this is a little bit like someone who sells bananas being told, “Wow, that’s fascinating, I just love oranges!” But I soldier on. 

			We talk for another half-hour, then Sharon walks me over to her mom and stepdad to introduce them to me.

			Sharon’s mother, Harriet, will later recall of this night that I seemed “nice.” I’ll ask them if they ever watch Newhart and there will be a lack of recognition. They will even overhear me asking Sharon, as we leave their table to return to the bar, “Don’t your parents watch TV?”

			Despite all of my vanity, I charm Sharon anyway. I’m careful not to ask her for her phone number, fearful of the rejection. I give her my number, convinced she’ll never call me. A lot of flirting goes on in casinos. Most of it ends right there.

			I think I may have Sharon’s sister, Cindy, partly to thank for her calling. I hear that Cindy said, “Go ahead, just call the guy. What have you got to lose?”

			I guess Sharon was hesitant. But Cindy egged her on. 

			“Come on, he lives on the other side of the country. How much can he bug you? Just do it.”

			It’s maybe five days later, after Sharon and her mother return home from their vacation, that Sharon finally calls me. We talk for an hour. Now I have her phone number and can’t wait to ring her the next evening.

			I’m heading to Lexington, Kentucky right around Christmas and ask if she’ll join me.

			“Sure,” Sharon says, “but I need to have my own room. I’m not looking to rush into anything.”

			She’s right, of course, Sharon had been divorced not long before, and I had as well. Rushing into something isn’t smart, even though that’s exactly what I want to do. Fortunately, this woman is cautious and wise.

			Lexington, Kentucky – December 1989

			Sharon and I have a blast in our separate rooms over a long weekend. I rent a limousine – because it’s what I do – and we just bop around town. We drive-thru Arby’s Roast Beef in the limo, which draws some looks. We go bar-hopping and to a comedy club, and I behave myself everywhere.

			Arby’s and bars. My idea of a whirlwind romance. But it seems to be working out.

			Stowe, Vermont – January 1990

			I’m due to have a personal appearance for Newhart with my partners in crime, Tony Papenfuss and John Voldstad (Darryl and Darryl). Sharon flies up to meet me here at this great ski resort, which is only unfortunate because I don’t ski.

			People are taking our picture and having fun and drinking and Larry, Darryl and Darryl are the sideshow.

			But Sharon doesn’t seem to mind that I’m occupied so much with the event. This goes well. We’re falling in love. Or at least, I am.

			 • • •

			Los Angeles – February 1990

			I finally get up the nerve to ask Sharon to come out to California to visit me.

			She’s never been to Los Angeles or anywhere in the state.

			“Come on out, stay for a few weeks, it’ll be fun,” I say to her. “See how you like it out here. You can have your own room.”

			I’m dying to stay in the same room, but a man needs to do what a man needs to do. The truth is that as time goes on, being in separate rooms will basically save our relationship. I like it hot. Sharon likes it cold. I get up at five. She gets up at nine. I like to nap. She likes to go all day and then collapse late at night.

			But this is all down the road. Right now, I’m still courting the woman.

			On Sharon’s first trip to L.A., we have a great two weeks together. I give her the tour of the city and even take her to the Newhart set. Then it’s time for her to return to Pennsylvania.

			Los Angeles and Harrisburg, Pennsylvania – March 1990

			We continue our long-distance romance via phone, notes and sending flowers.

			“Why don’t you move out here fulltime?” I ask Sharon one night on the phone.

			Before she commits to making the big move to California and staying with me permanently, Sharon gives it weeks of thought, which naturally drives me crazy. She finally says “Yes” but negotiates a trial period. I will pay the rent on her Pennsylvania apartment for four months – enough time, she reasons, to see if this relationship will work.

			For now, she’s just bringing her car and clothes.

			How do I almost sabotage it before it even starts? By having a few drinks, calling her and giving the “Don’t Come!” speech.

			“You shouldn’t come,” I say to Sharon through a haze of alcohol one night. “It’s not going to work. Forget it!”

			“OK Bill,” Sharon tells me. “Are you having cocktails? I hear ice tinkling. You’ve had too much to drink.”

			“No, I’m sure of this,” I insist. “I don’t deserve you. You’re too good for me.” 

			“I know,” she says with a laugh.

			I ask, “What attracted you to me?”

			“I’ve already told you,” Sharon says. “I can’t tell you what I see in you. But I love you. You’re crazy, but I love you.”

			“I love you too,” I respond before quoting Blaise Pascal: “The heart has its reasons of which reason knows nothing.”

			“Yes, the mysterious soul,” Sharon adds. “So, we’re agreed then. You don’t know what I see in you, and I don’t know what you see in me. It just works somehow.”

			Sharon tells me that she and her friend C.J. – who is helping her drive out to L.A. – will be hitting the road early the following morning and that she’ll call me when they’ve checked into a hotel, probably near Knoxville.

			Remember, this is before we all had cellphones. Our conversation continues.

			“But I’m not worthy of you,” I insist again. 

			“Yes, I know, I know,” Sharon says.

			“Will you forgive me if this doesn’t work out?” I ask. 

			“No,” Sharon says, “but we’ll deal with that later.”

			“What are you telling me, then?” I ask. 

			“I’m telling you to shut up,” she says.

			This goes on for another ten minutes or so until I fall asleep, phone cradled against my cheek. I assume Sharon hangs up at some point.

			In hindsight, I imagine that I’m just fearful of rejection, and I’m working myself up to talk myself out of this. Fortunately, Sharon ignores me. She gets me even more than I get myself. Growing up the way I did, I guess I never learned how to trust. She calls it “poor training.”

			I wait anxiously each day for Sharon to call from the road to tell me their location. I mark the U.S. road map I’m keeping by the phone. I’m starting to worry. I don’t know this woman that Sharon is bringing into my house. For a whole week!

			They finally arrive. I stop worrying. C.J. (Carolyn) is a ball of fire, a tough Pennsylvania Dutch girl, and loads of fun. We go to Lyle Alzado’s (ex-NFL player with the Raiders) bar in West Hollywood, where C.J. runs interference with a young man, claiming to be a cousin of the Pointer Sisters, who keeps photobombing the pictures we’re taking.

			And after the Friday night filming of our Newhart episode, C.J. dashes over to Bob Newhart, grabs his arm, and asks, “Can I get a picture with you?” How could he say no?

			C.J. flies back to Pennsylvania, and Sharon and I begin the negotiated trial period. Several of her family members and friends will visit during the next few months, I suppose to vet me. I feel like I’m on probation with her – probably because I am.

			It doesn’t make me feel any more secure that Sharon keeps these little care packages in case things don’t work out and an overnight bag with clothes and essentials in the trunk of her car, just in case she needs to make a quick escape.

			“I’m sure I won’t need it,” Sharon says, “but a girl has to be prepared.” She also maintains that she needs an emergency package ready in case there’s an earthquake. Living in fear of quakes is a whole new thing for a gal from Pennsylvania.

			The day finally arrives when Sharon closes up her Pennsylvania apartment and ships her things to L.A., to my great relief.

			Now we’re really living together. I’m happier with a woman than I’ve ever been. But getting married is a whole other thing; I’ve already made that mistake once before. Doing it again strikes me as a particularly dumb idea.
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			With Josh Brolin during a break from shooting The Young Riders. (1992) Even back then, you could see he was destined for great things. He just keeps getting better and better.
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			With Chuck Norris on the set of Walker, Texas Ranger in 1996. He was incredibly nice to me and offered me some great roles. I’ll always be grateful to him.
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			With Jeff Fahey (second from right), Sharon Annett and the helicopter pilot in Vancouver, Canada during production of my episode of The Marshal. (1995) Jeff is an unusually gracious actor and treated all of his guest stars with respect – me included.
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			“I’ll shoot you if you don’t drink A&W Root Beer.” That’s what Tommy Lee Jones told his son, Austin (center), to say while we were taking this picture on the set of Lonesome Dove. (1988) Tommy Lee is sometimes misunderstood. He has a dry wit and is extremely generous to his friends. I loved shooting Lonesome Dove with him.
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			Backstage on the Newhart set with Bob and my son, Andy. (1988)
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			I was fortunate that Andy was able to visit me on many of the locations where I shot projects. Here we are on the set of the miniseries Andersonville in Georgia. (1996)
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			Beauty and the Beast! Here, I’m with the statuesque Angelina Jolie on the set of the made-for-TV biopic George Wallace. (1997) She was trying to go incognito and blend in without being recognized the day this photo was snapped, hoping to eavesdrop on the filmmaking process. But she’s so gorgeous that she stands out in any crowd.
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			On location in Santa Maria, CA with Bill Campbell while filming The Rocketeer. (1991) Bill is a terrific guy whom I loved working alongside.
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			Artist Kent Twitchell working on his mural for the renovated Bob Hope Patriotic Hall in Los Angeles. (2012) I’m at lower left, right beside decorated WWII veteran and actor Audie Murphy. Kent is clearly a master muralist and just stunningly talented.
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			With Jon Voight in Butte, Montana as we were filming Return to Lonesome Dove. (1993) Jon was gracious enough to pose for this photo even though I kind of ticked him off.
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			With the magnificent director John Frankenheimer (left) and Gary Sinise on location (and on the water) for George Wallace. (1997)
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			I took this picture of Sharon with Elvis’ jeweler Harry Levitch and Harry’s wife while stopping by Levitch’s jewelry store in Memphis, TN during filming of The Client. (1993)
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			On location in Calgary, Alberta, Canada with Keith Carradine during the production of the telepic Monte Walsh. (2003) I worked with Keith a year later in Deadwood, where he played Wild Bill Hickock.
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			On location in Vermont while filming Disappearances with Gary Farmer, Kris Kristofferson and Charlie McDermott. (2006) Charlie would go on to star for years in the CBS hit The Middle.
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			There’s nothing more fun than finally being able to work on the Deadwood movie for HBO with the phenomenal Ian McShane (far right) in 2018. The award-winning production designer Maria Caso is in the center.

		

	
		
			Chapter 16

			MEMORIES OF MARRIAGE & MEMPHIS

			Beverly Hills, California – March 1993

			Sharon passes along an interesting call she receives from her good friend Mary Jo, who happens to be married to the actor Gailard Sartain (Mississippi Burning). Mary Jo tells her that Warner Bros. is casting a new film adaptation of the bestselling John Grisham novel The Client, set in the South.

			I find out they’re going to shoot it in Memphis and New Orleans later this year and that it’s going to star Tommy Lee, as in Mr. Jones.

			“Well they can’t very well shoot a film in Memphis starring Tommy Lee Jones that doesn’t include me in the cast, can they?” I ask my girlfriend rhetorically. 

			“No, they can’t,” she agrees. “You’d best get on the phone to your agent.”

			I do as I’m told. But my agent tells me, “Sorry, they’re only seeing stars.”

			Ouch!

			I get kind of obsessed with this project after the painful turn-down and pick up a copy of the book. After reading The Client, it’s clear to me there’s a character I’d be perfect for: Wally Boxx, the gopher for Tommy’s character Roy Foltrigg and a guy with a law degree who doesn’t know what to do with it.

			It’s basically typecasting. Arguably, no one in the world is more qualified to portray Wally Boxx than I am. I mean, come on! It’s a no-brainer.

			Now I just have to convince the producers and director that I’m as perfect for The Client as is patently obvious. My first move is to ring up the agent of the film’s director, Joel Schumacher, an old pal named Jack Rapke at Creative Artists Agency (CAA).

			“How can I see Joel and get in this movie?” I ask Jack, getting right to the point.

			“You’re in luck,” he says. “Joel will be coming to my office this afternoon. Fax me your recent credits. Maybe you can drop by and meet him.”

			In this case, I hear “maybe” as “Get your butt over here now!” Sharon types up my recent credits and faxes them over. I slip myself into a custom-made navy-blue pinstriped suit from Tartaglia Brothers of Beverly Hills and a custom shirt from Anto: Shirtmaker to the Stars. My Oliver Peoples lawyer glasses cover my eyes. I’m sporting a flat-top haircut.

			I’m looking sharp and ready for my close-up.

			I dash over to the tower-of-power office of CAA. I’m escorted into Jack’s office and there sits Schumacher. We exchange pleasantries for a minute or two.

			When Joel takes his exit, I make sure to catch the same elevator. Now I have a captive audience. Or he does. Or both of us do.

			“Hey,” Joel says in the elevator, pointing in recognition, “weren’t you the toymaker in Blade Runner?”

			“Yes, I was,” I say proudly, “and I would love to be in your new movie.”

			“OK, tell you what. Have your agent set up an appointment with our casting director, Mali Finn.”

			“Great, Joel,” I reply, “thank you, that’s what I’ll do.”

			What I don’t tell Joel is that I’m already well-acquainted with Mali Finn.

			 

			 • • •

			Flashback: West Hollywood, California – 1986

			I’m having an argument with my then-wife Aprile at our condo. It’s after midnight. Both of us are naked. This is, unfortunately, not unusual.

			“You’re always drunk!” Aprile screams.

			“I work hard, I just want to unwind!” I fire back.

			“Oh really? Well maybe you’d be happier unwinding someplace else!” she shouts.

			“I am sure that’s true!” I shoot back.

			“Fine!” Aprile says, ever-accommodating. “You got it!”

			Aprile then gives me a firm shove out the front door of our unit, slamming it and locking me out.

			I’m now standing naked in the hallway when I see our neighbor, Mali, peek her head out from next-door, eyeing my nude frame. I start to cover up and shoot Mali an embarrassed wave as I do.

			“Everything, uh, OK?” she asks.

			“Not really,” I admit.

			Mali nods, forces an awkward smile, quickly moves back inside and closes the door.

			“Hey,” I shout, banging on my own front door, “let me back in! Hey! Aprile! Dammit! I’m naked! Let me in!”

			Ah, memories.

			Burbank – March 1993

			I’m at a meeting on the Warner Bros. studio lot at Mali Finn’s office. 

			“Hi Mali,” I say.

			“Hey Bill. I almost didn’t recognize you in clothes.” 

			“Oh yeah. You remember?” I ask.

			“How could I forget.”

			“Yeah well, I did a lot of regrettable things in my past.”

			“No problem. I spoke to Joel about the part in The Client and he and I both agree you’re perfect for it.”

			“I don’t have to audition?” I ask.

			“Nope. Let’s consider that day back at the condo your audition.”

			Butte, Montana – May 1993

			I find myself in dreary Butte, in a two-story motel across from the airport. I’m here to participate in the miniseries sequel Return to Lonesome Dove. And let me just say, it’s not nearly as fun or fulfilling as the first one.

			I should have known better when Tommy Lee told me that after reading the shooting script, he took it outside and shot a hole through it.

			It doesn’t help that our director, Mike Robe (The Princess and the Marine), hasn’t had much experience with filming westerns. And of course, it isn’t the same without Tommy and Robert Duvall. Working on this miniseries is comparatively awful, particularly in terms of the camaraderie between the cast members.

			A telling example of the issues I experience on the set happens when the script calls for my character, Lippy, to play the accordion in a scene with Jon Voight’s character.

			Before we start the rehearsal, Voight asks, “Can you play that thing?”

			For some reason, I decide to respond flippantly, but nothing that I consider over the line:

			“I can fly,” I joke.

			I guess Voight doesn’t find it terribly funny. Just as we’re about to start rehearsal, Robe tells me, “Don’t play the accordion.”

			“Why not?” I protest.

			“Because Jon doesn’t want you to and he’s the star,” he explains.

			I immediately head over to Voight to apologize, maintaining it was just a joke.

			But it’s too late.

			“I get all jokes,” he replies coldly.

			So much for having any on-set chemistry. I blame myself for this one. I should have just said “Yes” and left it at that. Because, I mean, I should know better. Tommy Lee has already warned me that Voight is “clinically crazy.” But I’m sure Tommy was just “joking.”

			Working on the first Lonesome Dove felt like playing for a championship team. The second was like being on a squad that misses the playoffs. This is what happens when you take a job just for the money.

			Another example: I’m doing my best to pretend to be a real cowboy one night as our shoot approaches dusk. I’m out there bearing the elements. It’s raining. I’m unsteady in the saddle. I’m fearing things are going to fall apart any minute.

			I’m riding a galloping horse while water is falling from the sky and everyone around me is a professional rider.

			I am, in short, completely miserable and feeling entirely out of my element.

			I’m apparently not the only one having a less-than-stellar experience. After just two days on location, Scottish actor and notorious madman Nicol Williamson (Excaliber) decides he’s had enough. Back at the motel, someone points at a figure in the distance. It’s Nicol – he’s walking toward the airport, bags in hand. That’s the last we see of him, and he’s soon replaced by Oliver Reed (Oliver!). 

			Our producer, Dyson Lovell, comments, “We’ve got to stop putting the actors so close to the airport.”

			On a day when I’m feeling particularly depressed, it’s dark, it’s dreary, and it’s raining again. My friend’s dog has been hit by a car. I’m completely devastated, in the armpit of Montana. I want to be anywhere but where I am. Being here convinces me there are more important things than movies and acting.

			Naturally, this feels like the perfect moment to propose marriage to my sweetheart.

			Sharon has been saying “No” to marriage for a few years already. But I am undaunted. I’m also a big romantic, and I sense that this occasion is special.

			I get on the phone and call Sharon.

			“Love, I miss you so much, and I hate it here,” I say. “Should we get married?” 

			How can she turn down an irresistible offer like that?

			“OK,” she says simply.

			Now I can’t wait to get back home to my bride-to-be. It’ll still be a few weeks.

			As depressing as it is in Butte, at least I know I’ll have a lot to look forward to for the rest of the year. And my life.

			Memphis – July-August 1993

			It’s a little bit like my life has come full circle. From a kid growing up poor in an abusive home, to returning in the cast of a major Hollywood release – the woman of my dreams by my side – well, I’m basically in heaven. It isn’t a place I’m used to being.

			I’ve got so much to be proud of and thankful for. I’ll do anything not to screw this up. And by “anything,” of course, I mean not drinking booze. I vow not to down any alcohol as long as I’m on this shoot for The Client. A bargain with God. This is good, since I think Tommy Lee is drinking enough for the both of us.

			Being part of such an amazing cast is a dream come true. The story goes that Schumacher basically begged Susan Sarandon (Thelma & Louise, Dead Man Walking) – three years away from winning an Academy Award – to co-star, proposing “movie marriage” in the middle of a jammed New York City restaurant a month or so before.

			The cast also includes Mary-Louise Parker (Fried Green Tomatoes, Angels in America), Anthony LaPaglia (So I Married an Axe Murderer, Without a Trace), J.T. Walsh (A Few Good Men, Hoffa), Anthony Edwards (ER), Will Patton (Remember the Titans) and Bradley Whitford (The West Wing).

			I haven’t yet read the script before I arrive in town, prompting Joel to observe, “You’re really flying by the seat of your pants.” And it’s only now that – after checking my role – I come to see that my character Wally Boxx, while featured in much of the movie, has no dialogue!

			Here I am, the one guy in The Client with a genuine Southern accent, yet I have no opportunity to exercise it. Doesn’t make a whole lot of sense to me.

			But I convince myself there can be great power in silence, silence is golden and it’s more about the time on screen than what’s said. I figure that if I believe this with enough conviction, it will be true.

			No one ever said acting was going to be a smooth ride.

			I am not going to allow anything to puncture my thrill at being back in Memphis doing this film, however. Not even when I discover that I’ve had specially-made Oliver Peoples horn-rimmed specs made for my character, and Joel doesn’t want me to use them.

			In fact, he wants me to give them to Edwards for his character.

			“Wally Boxx would never wear Oliver Peoples glasses,” Joel reasons.

			Because I have a petulant streak (in case you haven’t yet noticed), I put up a silent protest by slipping in a pair of blue contact lenses for Wally to wear that leave me looking basically unrecognizable – and inspires Joel to dub me “Miss Blue Eyes.”

			There is also an instance during filming when Schumacher tells me to invite some of my classmates from my time at Memphis State Law School.

			“I’ll put them all in a scene as background,” he promises.

			These busy lawyers all change their dockets and schedules and show up at the Peabody Hotel at the appointed time for the shoot. All are dressed as they’re told to dress: tuxedoes for the men, elegant dresses for their wives. They could be diners at the elegant Peabody restaurant Chez Philippe.

			But when it finally comes time to shoot the scene, Joel informs me, “Sorry, I can’t use them. I have to put the mayor (of Memphis) in the scene.”

			How this precludes using everyone else I’ve invited, I never learn. It infuriates me greatly, even though I can’t show just how frustrating it is because I need to avoid making waves on the shoot. I fall all over myself apologizing to these people whom I’ve inconvenienced for no good reason. I don’t think Joel ever takes the time to even consider this.

			It upsets me to this day.

			Despite it, though, The Client will turn out to be a great experience. Everything about it is first class. We work only five days each week, despite being permitted to go six days on location. Sharon and I are given a nice condo overlooking the Mississippi River, and we get a chance to bring my now-thirteen-year-old son Andrew in for a visit.

			Best of all, there are more intriguing stories and drama behind the scenes of The Client shoot than nearly anything I’ve ever been involved with.

			Early on in Memphis, Sarandon tosses a lavish birthday party for Schumacher. A wonderful event. Sharon and I are both there, taking it all in. Even I’m enjoying myself, which is rare for me at a gathering of people I mostly don’t know.

			Suddenly, my fiancée and I spot a guy dressed in an open-collar shirt and sport coat who looks so much like an agent, it’s as if Central Casting created him.

			“Let’s go over there to avoid this guy,” I whisper to Sharon, pointing across the room.

			“OK.”

			The next day, I find out that he’s not an agent at all but John Grisham, the heavyweight novelist who wrote the source material for the screenplay.

			This is a near-literal example of not being able to judge a book by its cover. Not only do I feel stupid, I am also disappointed that I’ve lost an opportunity to tell Grisham I’m a fan.

			One thing I notice both on the set and off during this shoot is that Tommy Lee has no interest in running afoul of Sarandon, an incredibly talented and headstrong lady who is not to be trifled with. He senses this and behaves accordingly, deferring to Susan and never messing with her.

			Tommy Lee already has enough woman problems on the shoot and needs no more, as he’s apparently having marital difficulties with his wife Kimberlea. (They’ll divorce in ’96). How this plays out is, he never wants any of us to bring girlfriends or wives when we gather together after-hours. Just the boys.

			His mantra: “Men change. Women don’t.”

			It’s also common knowledge on the set that there is no love lost between Tommy and J.T. Walsh. I’m honestly not sure what the deal is, but at one point we’re in the middle of a scene and J.T. walks out and refuses to do it because Tommy’s changed it so much.

			“Fuck this!” J.T. yells during a rehearsal. “Since when is this guy the writer and director? I’m out of here!”

			If you’re having creative differences, though, the star is going to get his way and the supporting actor isn’t. The director will side with the star every time. This is what’s called Hollywood 101. So J.T. winds up getting written out of the scene.

			Again, for whatever reason, Tommy Lee continues to tolerate me. I see mixed with his rudeness and volatility a courtliness and generosity that he rarely gets credit for.

			Both sides of Tommy are on display one day when he hosts a luncheon at his temporary location house on Horseshoe Lake in West Memphis, Arkansas, where I went fishing as a kid. After lunch, Tommy takes everyone water skiing on a boat driven by him. A good time is had by all.

			The other side of that coin is, J.T. and Sharon stay behind at the house. When we return, Tommy doesn’t look at either of them. As they get up to leave, all he says to them is, “Thanks for coming and sitting on this couch.” It’s a bit insulting.

			Maybe it’s his way of being funny. I don’t know. But that’s one thing about Tommy Lee: he doesn’t look you in the eye. It underscores the fact that when you’re around him, it may be uncomfortable, it may be strange, but it’s never boring.

			I’m also kept guessing by him. With Tommy Lee, you never know what you’re going to get.

			While in Memphis, I make sure to take Sharon to Harry Levitch Fine Jewelry, Harry being Elvis’ hand-picked jeweler and the man who made his and Priscilla’s wedding rings.

			Harry shows us many pieces that are beautiful, but nothing we’re in love with.

			“Let me go to my office,” he finally says. “I think I have something you might like.”

			He returns with a gorgeous necklace of black silk, adorned with Jade and a diamond.

			Sold!

			This isn’t our only jewelry purchase while in Memphis.

			We stop in a shop called Las Savell, on McLean at Union Avenue, and ask to see engagement rings. Sharon is drawn to a display of antique rings and spots a platinum setting she loves. We ask to replace the original center diamond with one of better quality.

			Being so busy with filming, I don’t accompany Sharon when she returns three days later to pick up the sized ring. This leaves the jeweler aghast.

			“He has to hand it to you!” he insists.

			The jeweler wraps the box up, ribbons and all, telling Sharon that she must give me the box and have me present the ring to her myself. And I do.

			New Orleans, Louisiana – September 1993

			The Client shoot moves to The Big Easy for the final few weeks of production.

			What’s most memorable about it is a dinner we have celebrating Tommy Lee’s birthday at Antoine’s, a circa 1840 old world grand dame of French-Creole dining and the birthplace of Oysters Rockefeller.

			I’m the only person from the set of The Client whom Tommy Lee invites along. The best thing about the dinner – besides the food – is how a guy from a local art gallery who joined us gifts Tommy with a painting of JFK and refers to Tommy as the “Southwestern Bogart.”

			Throughout the dinner, as usual, Tommy doesn’t look at me. Not once.

			After we finally wrap filming, I ask Tommy and Susan if they would autograph the sneakers they wore during filming to auction off for charity. Both of them agree. It’s something neither has to do, and I’m grateful.

			The film winds up getting great critical response and is a box office hit, taking in more than $117 million worldwide. That’s a pretty big number for 1994.

			Meanwhile, less than three months after we finish production, I have a wedding to look forward to.

			Las Vegas – December 5, 1993

			Sharon and I arrange to get hitched on the four-year anniversary of the day we met, at the (since demolished) Desert Inn Hotel. My achingly handsome son Andy is the ring bearer. It’s the rare occasion when an impulsive decision turns out to be the right one.

			Meanwhile, I’m wearing sneakers, and I put spurs on them. I hear someone ask my new mother-in-law, “Why’s Bill wearing the spurs?”

			Harriet doesn’t miss a beat: “To get attention.” She’s right, of course.

			Both of my brothers from TV, Tony and John, attend, making the occasion almost a Newhart reunion. My folks unfortunately aren’t around to see one of the happiest days of my life – Milt died in 1983, Lib in ’86 – but I still feel like the luckiest man on earth.

			It’s too bad, because I know Lib would have loved Sharon had they been able to meet. Milt, too. What’s not to love?

			People ask me why I decided to marry Sharon. The reasons are too numerous to list here, but start with her perfect figure, her lovely voice and her great dignity.

			Sharon says we’re “perfectly-matched opposites.” Just don’t ask her why she was attracted to me.

			“We have arguments about this all the time,” she says. “I think it’s your soul. I’d say ‘You make me laugh’ but that’s the kiss of death for relationships. Women who say ‘He makes me laugh’ wind up divorced in two years.”

			Another of the things I love about Sharon is that she isn’t a yeller. She comes from very tough stock. Hardy people. She’s difficult to manipulate and always has my back.

			My best pal, Dr. Bob Watkins, agrees that Sharon is the perfect woman for me.

			“She’s the greatest thing that ever happened to you,” he assures me. “Get down on your knees and thank God for having sent that woman to save your life.”

			Los Angeles – 2010

			One of the greatest honors I have received in my life was to be included in one of famed Los Angeles muralist Kent Twitchell’s pieces. There I am, painted on the lobby wall of the Bob Hope Patriotic Hall in Downtown Los Angeles. In 1925, this ten-story building, built for the Los Angeles County Department of Military and Veterans Affairs, was the tallest structure in Los Angeles. It was renamed to honor Bob Hope in 2004.

			But it almost didn’t happen.

			A friend and neighbor of ours invited us to a show opening and reception at her art gallery, LOOK, in the L.A. Mart Design Center.

			“Ugh, it’s Downtown, do we really have to go?” I complain.

			“Yes, we have to, and I want to, and we are,” Sharon says firmly.

			We navigate our way Downtown, find our way to the parking area and try to figure out where the entrance is to this massive building. Just inside, we see a man about my age dressed in jeans and a casual shirt. He gives me a big smile. We ask him which way to the reception, and he says that’s where he is heading and to walk with him. We chit-chat while walking down the very long hallway to the gallery.

			It’s not until we step inside the gallery and are quickly greeted by our friend that we learn we’ve been small-talking with the show’s artist. Kent is so charming. He then told me that he had recognized me from my work on TV and films. How embarrassing not to know who the artist of the evening was!

			Midway through the reception, Kent asked us to walk across the street to his studio to see some of his work. And there, in his studio, he confirmed that I was a vet and asked, “Would you like to be a model in my new project?” Kent himself was an Air Force vet. He wanted to use vets in the three murals the county commissioned him to paint as part of the refurbishing of the entire building. I was extremely flattered and of course said “Yes.”

			In the mural, I’m dressed in bib overalls representing a farmer casting a ballot. Painted right beside me is actor Audie Murphy, the most decorated combat solider of WWII.

			Kent’s murals are Helen Lundeberg’s reimagined works based on the paintings Lundeberg completed in 1942. They were removed in the 1970s and mysteriously disappeared.

			Again, I have to thank Sharon for something nice happening because she insisted that I do something for someone else.

		

	
		
			Chapter 17

			LIFE (AND DEATH) ON THE SET

			Durango, Mexico – January 1994

			How good is my life? I get to work on a film with the great Second City alum John Candy (Uncle Buck, Planes, Trains & Automobiles) as well as the wacky Richard Lewis (Curb Your Enthusiasm, Anything But Love).

			Plus, I get to do it during a shoot in Mexico, where John Wayne used to like to film his westerns. Usually, the wives don’t come to Durango. But I want Sharon, my newlywed spouse, along – to keep me out of trouble for the whole twelve-week shoot. It turns out to be even more of a blessing that Sharon accompanied me, because while we are in Mexico, a six-point-seven magnitude earthquake hits Northridge, California just north of Los Angeles, killing over sixty people, injuring over 9,000, and causing billions of dollars in damage.

			We’re shooting the comedy feature Wagons East! Sharon and I are staying in a rented house, complete with housekeeper, but are frequently at the Hotel Gobernador in Durango, a five-star place where most of the cast is headquartered.

			One day, we’re hanging out with Lewis, who is basically a running comedy monologue even when he isn’t working. Nonstop chatter comes out of the guy. I start to tune him out after a while, so I don’t take it entirely seriously when Richard starts screaming, “Ouch! My eyes! My eyes!”

			Lewis is grabbing at both eyes in a frenzy, yelling and running around the hotel lobby. Taking a cue from him, I start panicking.

			“What’s wrong, Richard?” I ask frantically.

			“I don’t know! I just put these drops in my eyes and now they’re burning out my corneas!” 

			I stand by helplessly, not sure of what to do.

			Sharon looks on the floor at his feet and sees a container with the words “Mouth Drops” on the label.

			“Richard,” she says, “I hate to tell you this, but I think you just put mouth drops in your eyes.”

			“What? ARE YOU FUCKING SERIOUS?” Lewis yelps, racing around the lobby like a madman and pawing at his face. “JESUS! Mouth Drops! SHIT! What should I do?”

			“Let me take a look,” I offer.

			“No! No! Get away!” he yells, throwing up both hands in a “Stop!” sign. “Shit, this hurts like hell!”

			“I think you need to go in the bathroom and throw as much water in your eyes as you can,” I tell him.

			“Yeah, water,” he says, feeling his way to the bathroom and walking into a nearby wall.

			“Here,” I say, “let me guide you in.” 

			“OK. Ow! OWWWWW!”

			Lewis splashes enough water into his eyes that the pain starts to subside. In the meantime, Sharon runs across the street to the pharmacy to get some eye wash.

			When he comes out of the bathroom, Richard is dabbing at his eyes with wet and dry paper towels. He stops long enough to look at me and ask, “How do my eyes look?”

			Lewis’ eyes are so red that they closer resemble strawberries than anything human.

			“They’re a little bit red,” I lie, nervously.

			“Good, hopefully I won’t go blind.”

			Richard does not in fact go blind and finishes the shoot. Compared to what’s coming, it’s a fun little diversion.

			Working with John Candy is a dream. He’s a lovely guy and as much fun as you’d think he’d be. My agent had warned me, “Don’t go to Mexico. It’s not a lot of money, and it’s pilot season.” But I didn’t care. Some things just transcend money.

			John Candy!

			I have ample opportunity to party in Durango. Every night is a different excuse to tie one on for John.

			“Come on, it’s Thursday!” he says. “Party’s at my house.”

			Unfortunately, none of us know just how vulnerable the forty-three-year-old Candy is.

			On what will be the last night of his life, near the end of our three months in Mexico, John invites Sharon and me to stay at a party that’s still going strong when we leave at about 11 p.m.

			“Hey Bill, come back and let’s hang out some more,” he offers. 

			“Sure, I’ll be right back. Just gonna walk Sharon home.”

			But it’s already late; I have to get up at seven. I’m not a young man anymore, so there’s no way I’m going back to that party. The next morning, I get a call from the production office. 

			“No work today, John died,” I’m told.

			We later hear that John stayed up all night doing whatever he was doing. It leads to a fatal heart attack. The news devastates everyone on the set, to put it mildly.

			John was a very big man – six-foot-three and an estimated 350 pounds – but I’d be lying if I said I could tell the man was hours from death. He looked a little tired, maybe, but that’s all. I’ll also say it was his third movie in a row, we’re up in high altitude in Durango and John obviously indulged himself. It’s very sad all around.

			Incidentally, John was scheduled to have back surgery with none other than Dr. Bob two weeks later.

			He leaves behind a wife and two young kids. When a young man like him passes away, it makes all of us take stock and think about how our lifestyles may be impacting our own health.

			Vancouver, B.C., Canada – February 1995

			There are times when my ego and my vanity get the best of me and I behave incredibly stupidly – and I’m not even talking about in a bar. Sometimes, it even happens on the set when my head just isn’t operating properly.

			Case in point is my guest spot on this network action series The Marshal starring Jeff Fahey (Lost, Machete), a very good actor and a terrific, generous guy. As soon as I arrive for the shoot, Jeff treats me with exceptional hospitality, as if we’re old pals.

			I tell him I think he resembles Elvis, and he encourages me to call him Elvis. He drives me on location to each scene in his own car, which he certainly doesn’t have to do. We improvise a scene together and have great fun doing it. I’ve never experienced anything like this kind of treatment as a guest.

			So how do I thank Jeff for being such a wonderful guy? On our last day of shooting, I disagree with the scene blocking of which he has personally approved and signed off on. I go to great lengths to try to change it.

			This sort of thing simply isn’t done. It’s way out of line for a guest star to try to do. It’s a little bit like inviting someone over for dinner and having them decide to rearrange your living room furniture while you’re cooking in the kitchen. I’m not a director. I’m not even a series regular.

			Not surprisingly, Jeff goes off on me for my serious overstep.

			“Excuse me, William, but what did you think you were doing, coming in here and trying to change up the blocking?”

			“I don’t know,” I reply, shamed. “I guess it was stupid.”

			“You’re damn right it was stupid. You know I have great respect for you. I expect the same in return.”

			It all happened so quickly, I didn’t have a chance to apologize. I knew it was wrong, but I just couldn’t help myself.

			El Paso – October 1995

			One thing that’s interesting about acting in movies is you can never really tell the difference between a hit and a bomb. Oh sure, you have some indicators during a shoot, but there’s no foolproof method of knowing. You work as hard on a flop as you do on a smash and have little clue what’s coming.

			For example, I don’t know that the feature film Last Man Standing is destined to lose money. All I’m told is it has a $67 million budget and a superstar lead in Bruce Willis (Die Hard, Pulp Fiction) who, it will later come out, is earning upwards of $20 million for his trouble. Not too shabby a chunk of change.

			The film also has Bruce Dern (The Great Gatsby, Nebraska) and Christopher Walken (The Deer Hunter, Catch Me If You Can). What’s more, I’m one of three guys billed beneath Willis, making me a co-star.

			But no matter how well-promoted you are in the cast, you have to be careful not to generate resentment. An article was written in an L.A. paper complete with a picture promoting my appearance in Last Man. Someone must have told Bruce about it.

			“What’d you do, Billy, get arrested?” Bruce jokes to me.

			What’s true in acting is that the bigger the star, the more fragile the ego. And if you’re a character actor who somehow steals some of the limelight from the movie or TV series lead due to getting better press, it will come out in passive-aggressive comments or possibly even complaints about upstaging.

			There is a pecking order, and it isn’t smart to exceed the star either onscreen or off. Rub a star the wrong way and the professional jealousy can get pretty ugly.

			By the same token, I’m not trying to one-up anyone. My excuse is that I happen to have a terrific publicist in Lori DeWaal, who knows how to get ink and airtime. I’m never going to apologize for that. It’s her job, and mine as well.

			Not that I have trouble recognizing who the star is. And if I do, it’s made clear to me pretty quickly. There’s a moment during the Last Man Standing shoot when I ask our producer, Ralph Singleton, not to allow Bruce to overshadow my lone shining moment in the script. He assures me he won’t let it happen.

			When it comes time, though, Bruce freezes me out entirely and takes the moment all for himself. I guess I’ve forgotten that they go to the theater to see a Bruce Willis movie, not a William Sanderson film.

			There are no hard feelings on either end, though. Toward the end of the shoot, Bruce invites me (along with the rest of the male cast) to accompany him to a local topless bar. I appreciate the gesture but decline it, as the last thing I need right then is to get in trouble in a strip club.

			The truth is that I came closer to getting arrested for my driving – or at least, my lack of direction.

			One day, I wake up at 4 a.m. for our early call and decide, what the hell, I’ll drive myself to the set. Mind you, it’s still dark and I don’t really know where I’m going. It’s the age before GPS, and even if I had it, I wouldn’t know how to work it.

			I wind up on this dark dirt road. I’m unshaven. I’m wearing torn Levi’s. Drug dealers run this route at that time of morning all the time. Tumbleweeds are blowing by. It’s desolation as far as the eye can see.

			I’m maybe ten feet from accidently winding up in Mexico and getting myself in real trouble when I’m stopped by a border patrol guard.

			“Good morning,” he says. 

			“Good morning.”

			“You seem a little confused. What’s going on there? Had too much to drink?”

			“Oh no sir, I’m just trying to get to the production set for this Bruce Willis film Last Man Standing, because I’m one of the stars,” I explain. 

			“Hey, weren’t you that guy on Newhart?”

			Whew. Thank God. He recognizes me.

			“Yes, that’s me.”

			The man’s demeanor completely changes.

			“Well, you’ve got to be careful driving around here, buddy,” the guard says. “Go back over that-a-way. (He points.) Stay alert here. You almost wound up in another country, and I might not have been able to do much for you.”

			“I’m sorry, sir,” I tell him. “Thank you for the warning, and I greatly apologize. This won’t happen again.”

			“OK. Have a good morning.” 

			“You too.”

			But I don’t learn. On one of my days off, Sharon and I decide to take a trolley trip into Juarez, just on the other side of the notorious border. They give us a map as we get off the trolley.

			After a few hours exploring the city, something doesn’t feel right.

			“I don’t think this is where we’re supposed to be,” I submit to my wife.

			“I think you’re right,” she agrees. “But the map says we’re walking in the right direction.”

			We realize we’re in the middle of a slum, the kind from which lost Americans probably don’t return. We’re seeing all kinds of drugged-out Mexican girls – obviously prostitutes – getting into banged-up cars with men. It’s the equivalent of Skid Row, but seemingly ten times worse.

			Now we’re officially terrified. Men on the street are eyeing us like prey. We want to run and hide, but there’s nowhere to go. Fortunately, this is a time before Juarez is the center of drug cartel activity, but we’re nonetheless in a part of town where tourists dare not tread.

			That’s when we spot a pharmacy. We walk inside and the eyes of the woman behind the counter go wide, as if to say, “What the hell are you idiots doing here?” 

			“Peligroso!” she exclaims, blurting the Spanish word for “dangerous” as she rushes to the back and returns with the pharmacist, who speaks English.

			“It is dangerous for you to be in this area,” the man warns.

			“Yes, we’re lost,” I say in reply. “We followed the map.” I point emphatically at the map, as if excessive pointing will somehow deliver the idea that we’re right and the map is wrong. We were wrong! The pharmacist points to the top of the map. South is at the top. North is at the bottom. Oops.

			“Come,” the man gestures, walking out the back. “I will drive you to the border crossing.” We hop into his Volkswagen Beetle.

			“Oh my God,” Sharon says, “thank you.” 

			“Muchas gracias,” I add.

			We survive, shaken up but wiser.

			All in all, despite my little directional issues and near-catastrophes, I have a great time working on Last Man Standing. This is due in part to the fact that it’s directed by a guy I greatly respect, Walter Hill, who will later direct the Deadwood pilot. And I really enjoy working with Dern, who sums up where we are in our careers by observing, “You know what we are, Billy? Graybeards.”

			You want to know what distinguishes a top-tier star from one a rung below that? On the day we wrap production, Willis has a Gulfstream jet waiting near the set to whisk him back home. This, I learn, is how the other half lives.

			Los Angeles – March 1996

			You know who gets a bad rap from too many people? Angelina Jolie. You know who doesn’t deserve the bad rap? Angelina Jolie. 

			At least, this is my experience.

			Sharon comes to the set of the TNT made-for-TV biopic George Wallace that stars Gary Sinise (Forrest Gump) as the divisive Alabama governor and Angelina – an Oscar winner for Girl, Interrupted – as Wallace’s wife Cornelia.

			Seeing her up close, Angelina is as beautiful as any actress I’ve ever worked with. She’s really rather breathtaking. But she doesn’t carry herself arrogantly, as if she’s better than everyone. She is as gorgeous inside as she is outside.

			There is an undeniable poise and charm about her.

			Mind you, she’s very young while we’re making this movie. I don’t think she’s even old enough to buy alcohol yet. But you can tell that she is an old soul and wise beyond her years. It’s a certain something that you almost can’t explain but is plainly there.

			There is also a day in the middle of production when Angelina comes to the set in disguise on a day when she isn’t working. Her purpose is to study and research, but she doesn’t want to be a distraction – hence, her trying to make sure no one knows she’s there by wearing shades and a jumpsuit like a mechanic might have on.

			Sharon and I are among the few who know it’s Angelina. And she’s incredibly gracious when we out her.

			“Yes, it’s me,” she acknowledges, putting a finger to her lips. “Shhh. Our secret, you guys. I’m trying to be inconspicuous.”

			“Your secret is safe with us,” I assure her.

			I can’t tell you how impressive it is that a woman as lovely as Angelina Jolie, who could easily skate by on her looks, is determined from such an early age to make it in movies the right way – by being good. She’s dedicated to her craft.

			She even takes the time to drive over to my house to borrow a biography about her character, Cornelia Wallace, that I mention I have. This makes a big impression on me.

			 • • •

			I would like to take a moment here to brag on myself just a little. I’ve been incredibly fortunate in my career life, particularly when you consider how many times bad behavior might have taken me down. I can’t even count how many, but my number of arrests and times getting kicked out of bars is well into double digits.

			So, considering that, I’ve managed to carve out quite the varied resumé and – in spite of my distinctive drawl – avoided the trap of being a mere one-hick pony (if you will). Those who know me just from Newhart, say, or only from Blade Runner, or Deadwood, or True Blood might be surprised to learn the range I’ve somehow managed to inhabit as a performer.

			These include:

			FEATURES: Fight for Your Life (1977), Savage Weekend (1979), The Onion Field (1979), Coal Miner’s Daughter (1980), Death Hunt (1981), Raggedy Man (1981), Blade Runner (1982), Lone Wolf McQuade (1983), City Heat (1984), Fletch (1985), Black Moon Rising (1986), The Giant of Thunder Mountain (1991), The Rocketeer (1991), The Client (1994), Last Man Standing (1996), Stanley’s Gig (2000), Pretty Ugly People (2008)

			MADE-FOR-TV MOVIES / MINISERIES: Scared Straight! Another Story (1980), The Executioner’s Song (1982), Who Will Love My Children? (1983), The Defiant Ones (1985), The Man Who Broke 1,000 Chains (1987), Sometimes They Come Back (1991), George Wallace (1997), Deadwood (movie, 2019)

			WESTERNS / HISTORICAL: The Ballad of Gregorio Cortez (1982), Bret Maverick (1982), Lonesome Dove (1989), The Young Riders (1992), Return to Lonesome Dove (1993), Wagons East! (1994), Andersonville (1996), Crossfire Trail (2001), Monte Walsh (2003), Gods and Generals (2003)

			TV SERIES REGULAR: Newhart (1982-90), Maximum Bob (1998), Deadwood (2004-06), True Blood (2008-12), Bar Karma (2011)

			TV GUEST SPOTS: Starsky and Hutch (1979), The Dukes of Hazzard (1980), Walking Tall (1981), Quincy (1992), Knight Rider (1992), The Twilight Zone (1988), Married…With Children (1991), Dangerous Curves (1992), Mann & Machine (1992), Sirens (1993), Ned Blessing (1993), Matlock (1994), The X-Files (1994), Babylon 5 (1994), The Marshal (1995), Walker, Texas Ranger (1996-01), The Pretender (1996), ER (1996), Coach (1997), George & Leo (1997), The Practice (1998), L.A. Heat (1999), Resurrection Blvd. (2000), Dharma & Greg (2002), Without a Trace (2003), Monk (2004), Trauma (2009), Tim and Eric Awesome Show, Great Job (2010), Mike & Molly (2011). Criminal Minds: Suspect Behavior (2011), Bones (2012)

			PLAYS: The Taming of the Shrew, When Ya Comin’ Back, Red Ryder?, To Kill a Mockingbird, Scotch Rocks, Fishing, Insect Comedy, The Authentic Life of Billy the Kid, Dutchman, Private Life of the Master Race, Hello Out There, Malecon

			COMMERCIALS / CARTOONS / VIDEO GAMES: A&W Root Beer Corporate Spokesman (1986-88), Batman: The Animated Series (1992-94), Santo Bugito (1995), Cow and Chicken (1995), Aaahh!! Real Monsters (1995-97), Jumanji (1996-98), Blade Runner (video game, 1997), The Angry Beavers (1998), Need for Speed: Underground 2 (video game, 2004)

			That isn’t everything, but most. Thank you for indulging me. I just had to get that off of my chest.

			Let’s carry on.

			Burbank – November 1998

			Sometimes, I take small jobs that don’t necessarily promise much simply to meet an idol (or, in a few cases, two). One such occasion is the TV-movie remake of Inherit the Wind, in which I’m offered a part so small that it isn’t even listed in my credits on IMDB.

			So why do I bother to mention it? Because it gave me a chance to hang out with George C. Scott (Patton, Dr. Strangelove) and Jack Lemmon (The Apartment, Days of Wine and Roses). Two greater actors you will never meet, and both of them Academy Award winners (Lemmon winning two).

			Scott is the one I’m most excited to meet. Almost exactly thirty years before, in December of ’68, I’d seen him on Broadway in a famous production of Neil Simon’s Plaza Suite that left me in awe. Getting to work with him on the same project is more than a little surreal and beyond thrilling.

			But first, my moment on camera with the great Lemmon goes less than swimmingly. I gather that the director, Daniel Petrie, isn’t exactly in love with me.

			Petrie walks over after I’ve done a rehearsal and quietly threatens me, “Don’t do the reading of your line that way or I’ll cut you out, and then you won’t get any residuals. Understand?”

			I believe that the way I’m doing the reading is precisely the way it’s done in the stage version of Inherit the Wind. It’s nothing weird. It’s probably been done the way I’m doing it a thousand times. But it’s clear that if I don’t do it Petrie’s way, it’s the highway. I want that residual payday.

			The director is always right – right? So, I acquiesce.

			What happens when my path finally crosses with Scott’s on the set is unfortunately emblematic of the way I freeze up in the presence of someone I greatly admire.

			When our eyes meet, he compliments me!

			“You were really good on that Newhart show,” George C. Scott says. 

			“Oh, thanks,” I reply shyly, digging my toe into the proverbial dirt. 

			And then – nothing.

			No “Wow, you sure were amazing playing that General George S. Patton.” No “I couldn’t take my eyes off you in Dr. Strangelove.” No “I still think about your performance in Plaza Suite on Broadway in the late Sixties.” No “You are one of the greatest performers I’ve ever seen and it’s an honor to make your acquaintance.”

			Just “Thanks.”

			It has nothing to do with disrespect or arrogance. In fact, it’s really the opposite. My shyness cripples me in these situations. I go blank and look away, and then kick myself for years afterward for failing to seize the moment.

			The opportunity passes, and that’s that. Scott will be dead less than a year later, prompting Lemmon to call him “the greatest American actor of our time.” He may well have been.

			All I know is, he liked me on Newhart.

		

	
		
			Chapter 18

			‘MAXIMUM BOB’ AND EXTREME FAYE

			Miami, Florida – 1998

			What am I doing in South Florida? Well for one, my wife loves it here. It’s kind of her dream to live here, and mine too. It’s basically a hedonist’s fantasy of beaches, sun, nightlife and all-around paradise. Plus, I have an excuse to be here: I’ve got a job!

			In fact, I’m here co-starring in my second series as a regular: Maximum Bob on ABC. Beau Bridges (The Fabulous Baker Boys) is the lead, playing an ultra-conservative Florida judge who has a psychic former show mermaid for a wife (Kiersten Warren, Independence Day).

			I’m a crazy character named Dickie Crowe and have an equally nutty wife played by the terrific Beth Grant (No Country for Old Men, The Mindy Project). We all have a fabulous time working on this thing, which has elements of Twin Peaks and is based on a novel by the great Elmore Leonard.

			It almost didn’t happen. During the negotiation phase, Disney played hardball in terms of salary, going so far as to threaten me that my pal Tracey Walter had already accepted their terms in case I turned down their “final offer.”

			I guess they didn’t think I’d call Tracey to ask him if this were true.

			“Maximum What?” he asked. “Don’t know what you’re talking about. Never heard of it.”

			Because I so badly want this show to work – so Sharon and I can stay here, maybe buy a condo and settle down for a while – I have more than the usual first-day jitters when I finally turn up on the set.

			I head for my dressing room and find it’s just a honey wagon, far less than fancy. What I don’t expect is to enter it to find an overloaded toilet with brown liquid flowing out. But I’m in good spirits and don’t want to spoil the vibe by complaining right off the bat.

			My first concern when arriving on a shoot is always my wardrobe. It’s been that way since my early teens and I won those two Best Dressed Awards in junior high school. Wardrobe is an eighteen-foot trailer packed with costumes. Things go well there, so I bring up the toilet issue to executive producer Barry Sonnenfeld. That gets taken care of, too.

			What I don’t know is that Beth, the spitfire playing my wife, sees me talking to Barry in the huge trailer and somehow assumes it’s my dressing room. She marches right over and demands, “I want a dressing room like William Sanderson!”

			I later tell Beth, “You want a honey wagon with busted plumbing and rancid water? I’m sure Warner Bros. will happily oblige.”

			Beth and I laugh about it later. She’s a kick in the pants and just fabulous to hang around, besides having a terrific character acting career. I love my scenes with her in Maximum Bob.

			While we’re riding in a van together joking around, she boasts to us, “No one ever kicked me out of bed.”

			Besides both of us being from the South (Beth was born in Alabama), she and I have one other thing in common on this series: We have issues with the costumer. She wants to wear something a little sexier (“Maybe show a little more skin”). I want my character to wear a coat and tie.

			I approach our showrunner, Alex Gansa (Homeland), and make my case for the different outfit. He agrees and invites me to take it up with the costumer. I dutifully go knocking on her trailer door.

			“Hi. Uh, I wanted to discuss something with you about what my character is wearing?”

			“What?” she asks aggressively.

			“Well, I just discussed with Alex the possibility of having Dickie wear a coat and tie in the Fuller Brush salesman scene.”

			“Are you kidding me?” she blurts before breaking down in tears. 

			“No well I just…”

			“Get away! GET AWAY!”

			She screams in sobs and slams the door in my face.

			This over-the-top reaction actually kind of makes sense considering the offbeat nature of the show we’re doing. Beth and I are parents to inbred offspring, including fat twin sons who have to wear thick eyeglasses due to the breeding issue.

			Maximum Bob is in general a delight to work on. It has everything going for it, including Elmore Leonard helping write the scripts, as well as great producers and fantastic word of mouth. Yet it gets canceled after just a single season for reasons that have nothing to do with the quality.

			One of the frustrating things about television is that the rug can be pulled out from under you and you’ll never know why. That’s sort of what happens in this case.

			The word we hear is that Michael Eisner, the chief at Disney – which owns ABC – doesn’t like the show. Part of the reason he doesn’t like it is that Disney doesn’t own it. When another studio produces a series (in this case Warner Bros.), the network earns far less money and has to pay what’s called license fees that can get expensive and cut way into profits.

			Sharon is even more disappointed about this than I am. She had happily settled into South Florida and didn’t want to leave. But that’s TV.

			A few years later, Dennis Farina (Get Shorty) will tell me that he turned down the Maximum Bob lead role that eventually went to Bridges. I can only reflect on what might have been.

			 • • •

			Los Angeles – 1999

			One of the projects that makes me proudest is an independent film that you’ve probably never heard of called Stanley’s Gig, one of only two feature films in which I was the undeniable lead (the other being Fight for Your Life back in the late Seventies).

			Stanley’s Gig tells the lovely, jazz-infused (and fact-based) story of a recovering alcoholic named Stanley Myer who lives to play the ukulele. He’s long had a fantasy about strumming his uke on a Hawaiian cruise. But while he’s waiting for that to happen, he takes a job as a recreational therapist at a nursing home.

			Everyone loves Stanley at the home except for one lady named Eleanor, who wants no part of him. It turns out the woman was once a jazz chanteuse who basically lives a life of isolation. But Stanley finally awakens something in Eleanor and helps her plot a return to the jazz stage.

			There are complications, of course. And some might find Stanley’s Gig schmaltzy. But it has its heart in the right place. It also gives me an opportunity to work with some acting greats: Faye Dunaway (Network, for which she won an Academy Award) as Stanley’s friend Leila; Marla Gibbs (The Jeffersons) as Eleanor; Stephen Tobolowsky (Groundhog Day, Memento) as the nursing home administrator Abe Cohen; and an underrated actor named Paul Benjamin (The Station Agent) as a fellow named Teddy Branson.

			The film’s script is fabulous. But our first-time director, Marc Lazard, who is connected to the mega-wealthy Lazard financial empire, reportedly turns down a bundle of money offered by Universal for the script he co-wrote in order to direct Stanley’s Gig himself. The studio would have hired Robin Williams to play the lead.

			Trust me that the stuff that happens behind the scenes on this film is possibly even more dramatic than the storyline.

			Begin with the fact that it takes Lazard nearly three months to decide to hire me. He just keeps waiting and waiting and waiting and doesn’t pull the trigger. I start to get fed up with this.

			Finally, I receive an offer to do another film in Vermont. I tell Lazard that I’m heading there in three days and if he doesn’t decide, I’m gone. This is when he says, “Oh, why didn’t you tell me you were waiting for this?”

			So, I get hired and we go to work. But it’s something of an amateur production. For instance, I guess Faye has it in her contract that she must have the same or superior dressing room as I. One day, I walk into my own dressing room and everything’s been moved – notes on the walls, clothes, everything – so Faye can have mine.

			This sends me into a screaming (if brief) rage. But as I often say, going crazy on the set doesn’t get an actor anything. Everyone can hear the yelling but has no idea what you’re saying or why you’re saying it. All they think is that you’re a hothead.

			Meanwhile, the guy teaching me the ukulele makes it clear he wants the role I’ve just been hired for. Sorry, but I’m the actor they’re paying to do this. The producers also arrange to shoot around town without permits, so we’ve got to be quick. It’s guerilla filmmaking.

			As I’m not terribly fond of flying by the seat of my pants, this style elevates my stress level to the sky. I’ve just changed agents to Harry Gold before I got the film, and this impresses them. But they don’t know what this kind of shoot is doing to me.

			Because I’m the lead, I set the tone on the set. I’ve already lost it once, so now I feel like I have to behave myself or everything will erupt into chaos – I mean, even more than it already has.

			There’s other tension. Faye is a pro and knows lighting as well as any actor I’ve ever worked with. But she also likes things a certain way. When someone gets in her eyeline during a take, she stops to gently reprimand the person and retake control of things.

			Even Faye will admit she’s a bit of a diva. I mean, after the career she’s had, she’s earned it. In the middle of the shoot, she proves just what a prima donna she is.

			After she receives permission to take a quick trip to the Cannes Film Festival to attend a salute to Bonnie and Clyde, we manage to successfully shoot around Faye. Then she calls our producer to inform him of a little decision she’s made.

			“If you don’t pay me an additional $5,000, I’m not returning to work on the film,” she declares, apparently calmly.

			“Faye, how can you do that to us?” the producer pleads. “You have a contract to honor. It isn’t terribly professional to hold us up like this.”

			“Professional?” she fumes. “After the amateurish way you’ve been shooting this film, you’re hitting me with ‘professional’? That’s rich. Go ahead and try to sue me.”

			Long story short, the producers cough up the $5,000 ransom and Faye returns. The producer later says, “The truth is we were happy to get away that cheaply. She could have asked us for $25,000.”

			In fact, I’m not terribly happy with the way finances are being handled on the film myself. They’d stopped paying me. I got checks for the first couple of weeks, then they ceased entirely. I’m already killing myself working long hours for these people, and I eventually have to threaten not to come to work just to get paid.

			One of the producers confides to me, “I hope you don’t think this is how we do business.”

			“Well how else am I supposed to think you do business?” I reply. “This is the only thing I have to base it on.”

			Ah, the glamor of showbiz. Our inexperienced director has no clue how to keep things organized.

			Here is how glamorous it gets: With all of the craziness erupting around me, I’m too nervous to hold anything down. I basically stop eating and drop twelve pounds inside of five weeks. The fear is that I may have given myself heart problems, so I go to see a cardiologist.

			“Tell me what your symptoms are,” the doctor requests.

			“Constant panic attacks, loss of appetite, a tightness in my chest, feelings of hopelessness, intermittent hostility,” I tell him.

			“And how long has this been going on?” he asks.

			“Since the day we started shooting this movie.”

			The doctor tells me that he doesn’t think I’m in need of cardiac care but recommends that I find a hobby outside of acting. He says, “You’re wound too tight.” It’s true. I guess I’ve been that way all of my life.

			Mind you, we complete what was planned as a seven-week shoot in five weeks. I think I aged a year each of those weeks. But the cast rose to the occasion (even Faye). Everyone turned in terrific work. Marla was sensational. It was a thrill to work with her, as it was Tobolowsky – who in addition to being a total pro is a great ad-libber.

			A review in the June 26, 2000 edition of Variety maintained, “If Stanley’s Gig has one overriding asset, it’s Sanderson’s richly textured characterization of a marginalized daydreamer whose reveries seem grandiose to no one but himself.”

			That’s high praise coming from an industry trade. Or really from anyone.

			At a screening in New York just before we open, the real-life Stanley Myer is in attendance. After watching the film, he says, “I can die now.” 

			It doesn’t get much better than that.

		

	
		
			Chapter 19

			IMP OF THE PERVERSE

			Melody Ranch, Santa Clarita, California – November 2002

			In the wake of Stanley’s Gig, I continue to have a steady stream of work, including the feature Monkey Love that stars a young Jeremy Renner and the Stonewall Jackson biopic Gods and Generals with Robert Duvall and Billy Campbell; a couple of made-for-TV westerns starring Tom Selleck, Crossfire Trail and Monte Walsh; and several TV series guest appearances, including Walker, Texas Ranger (thanks again, Chuck Norris), Without a Trace and Monk.

			For the most part, I feel like I’m biding my time until the Next Big Thing comes my way. Of course, I’d already had a mighty fine run as an actor as I push sixty. In most lines of work, you’d be preparing for retirement – Social Security, easy chair, a few rounds of golf, hug the grandkids, call it a day.

			But I have no interest in that. In fact, crazy as it sounds, my belief is that my best work is still in front of me. I could sense in my bones that it’s going to happen. Or maybe that’s just arthritis.

			Turns out the next phase is going to be as good as any I’ve had to date. I couldn’t have predicted that between 2004 and 2011, I’d be a regular in three television series.

			And it all starts with Deadwood.

			I thank the gods daily for HBO – which keeps me employed throughout much of the early 2000s and sends my career into overdrive – and this unconventional (to say the least) western that is destined to be the best professional experience of my life as well as my greatest role. This is certainly what friends have told me.

			Things need to really click into place for this part to come my way. In large measure, I need to thank Sharon – whom I often jokingly refer to as my wifeager (that’s wife-manager) – for playing a key role.

			When the series was coming together, I was out of town visiting my son Andrew on the East Coast. Sharon was home in L.A. and not feeling too well that day when she spotted a “breakdown,” which is a list of upcoming projects, roles, character descriptions and starting dates that is generally available only to agents and managers.

			In spite of being under the weather, she drives to the agent’s office and alerts them. So, I get a bit of a head start.

			It also doesn’t hurt that the guy scheduled to direct the Deadwood pilot, Walter Hill (48 Hours), directed me on the Bruce Willis film Last Man Standing. And he happens to be married to my former agent, Hildy Gottlieb, as smart as any agent I’ve ever had.

			Don’t ever let anyone tell you Hollywood isn’t a town of relationships. Those who say, “It’s not what you know, it’s who you know” are right on the money. Of course, you need talent to get in the door, too, but everything else being equal, the job will go to the person with whom they’ve already established a relationship. Unless they hate that person, which would make the opposite true.

			I also happen to be perfect for this part.

			For those of you unfamiliar with Deadwood, it’s a tempestuous, pungent and proudly profane western set in the town of Deadwood, South Dakota in 1876-77 in the months following the Custer massacre. It’s a place of deep corruption, lawlessness and crime where there’s at least one killing a day.

			The series wears its political incorrectness on its sleeve, something I have no problem with as an actor. Lots of “cocksucker” and “motherfucker” and every other permutation of “fuck.”

			(I’ll later learn that the word “fuck” and its derivatives are said 2,980 times throughout Deadwood. What’s most astonishing to me is that someone took the time and effort to count. The word “cocksucker” is uttered a total of 273 times.)

			Deadwood is the Wild West like we’ve never seen and heard it before. It would make my parents shudder in their graves. It’s a full-on reimagining of the western genre and as far from the world that I inhabited on Newhart as one can imagine.

			From the moment I set foot on the set to shoot the series pilot, it’s clear I’m surrounded by amazing acting talent. Heading our cast are Timothy Olyphant (Justified) and Ian McShane (Lovejoy), portraying Seth Bullock and Al Swearengen, respectively. Seth is a lawman looking for a fresh start. Al is a hard-bitten, corrupt saloon/brothel owner and an abusive bastard.

			I’m portraying Eustace Bailey (better known as E.B.) Farnum, a real-life guy. In fact, most of the characters in the show have real-life counterparts. He’s the proprietor of the seedy Grand Central Hotel, the first mayor of Deadwood – and Swearengen’s lackey.

			The cast also features Molly Parker (House of Cards), Brad Dourif (The Lord of the Rings: The Two Towers), Keith Carradine (Nashville – as Wild Bill Hickock), Robin Weigert (Sons of Anarchy – as Calamity Jane), Dayton Callie (Fear The Walking Dead), Paula Malcomson (The Hunger Games), Stephen Tobolowsky, the late Powers Boothe (Guyana Tragedy: The Story of Jim Jones), Kim Dickens (Friday Night Lights), W. Earl Brown (There’s Something About Mary) and John Hawkes (American Gangster).

			Farnum is a kind of tragic, helpless figure, a grubby, oily, self-centered guy. He is also a tremendous amount of fun to play. He gets to say things like:

			• “I’d like to use your ointment to suffocate you.”

			• “Separate rooms, I’ll arrange that by tomorrow. But today I can’t fix it, unless you kill a guest.”

			• “The bald contempt of it. Why not come out five abreast, cavorting and taunting – ‘E.B. was left out. E.B. was left out.’ Cocksuckers. Cunt-lickers. I’ll make you filthy gestures. Public service was never my primary career.”

			You know how sometimes the other guy always gets the best lines? Not this time. Not in Deadwood. Writing like this doesn’t happen by accident. It happens because I’m working for David Milch.

			On the first day of shooting, there is a long master shot in Swearengen’s saloon. The blocking feels right, and no one screws with my choices. I’m told we do thirty-five takes of the scene, yet it doesn’t feel excessive.

			I hear director Walter Hill say under his breath, “Well, we may have something here.”

			I think we do, too.

			Santa Clarita – 2004-06

			There is no one like Mister Milch. The creator, executive producer, head of the writers’ room and all-around guru on Deadwood, he is one of the most fascinating human beings I’ve ever known: brilliant, prolific, generous and self-destructive, all at once. I see a lot of myself in David, and I believe it’s mutual.

			An intellectual and an academic who came to television relatively late in life, David was graduated summa cum laude from Yale and subsequently enrolled in Yale Law School but was expelled for shooting out a police car siren with a shotgun.

			Like I said – we’re kindred spirits. Maybe that’s why he lets it be known to the production team early on that my character Farnum must be in every episode. That’s precisely what will happen. Only Ian McShane and myself will appear in all thirty-six installments over the show’s three seasons, something of which I’m quite proud.

			David was a writing instructor and professor of English literature at Yale when he crafted a spec script for Hill Street Blues in 1982. That launched his television writing and producing career and led to his co-creating NYPD Blue with Steven Bochco in ’93. It made him one of the most respected writers and producers in television and a very wealthy man.

			Now, it seems, I’m something of Milch’s alter ego on Deadwood. Early on, he nicknames me his quintessential Imp of the Perverse, a term that sends me scrambling for the internet to figure out what the hell he’s talking about.

			It turns out “Imp of the Perverse” is the title of a Nineteenth Century short story from the great but tragic author and poet Edgar Allen Poe. It alludes to the narrator’s self-destructive impulses as embodied in the symbolic Imp of the Perverse handle.

			The metaphor is defined as the urge to do exactly the wrong thing in a given situation, for the sole reason that it’s wrong. Certainly, this has been true of me throughout the whole of my life. And yet I’ve succeeded by every measure as a character actor in spite of myself and all forms of stupidity.

			“You are my Imp of the Perverse,” David assures me.

			“Does that mean you expect me to do something that will sabotage this production,” I ask, “simply because I can?”

			“I hope that you will resist that temptation,” he replies, “overpowering though it may be.”

			Milch might as well be talking about himself. But I make no claim to being anywhere close to the man’s intellectual level. Most of what he says when he’s in philosophical mode goes straight over my head, such as his desire to circumvent what he calls “the processor of my consciousness, which is not well-adapted to constructive behavior.”

			All I can think is, “Uh, yeah, me too.” While David is referring to himself in that quote from an article in The New Yorker, he could have been talking about me.

			In another piece from the Associated Press, he praises my character Farnum as a blend of “the voraciously selfish with a kind of sweet-spiritedness” and an example of “obstinate finality. He is irreducibly himself.”

			Yes, this is the kind of mind that runs Deadwood. Milch gives everyone in the cast tons of creative room to roam, me included. Farnum is a real-life character, but there’s no question David tweaks him to draw on my own anxieties.

			What seems to happen repeatedly is, David will pull me aside and pretend just to be talking to me. Yet some of the insecurities that come out in these casual conversations wind up in the script.

			Milch: “Hi Bill. How are you feeling? Traffic OK? Everything good at home?”

			Sanderson: “Uh, sure David. It’s all fine. Why do you ask? Is there something I’m not understanding in the dialogue?”

			Milch: “Oh no no, everything’s fine. I know it’s hard for an actor to keep his energy up at the same level playing the same character for so many weeks in a row. It’s understandable. You’re a genius, just do the best you can.”

			Sanderson: “Wait, are you telling me I’m seeming tired?”

			And on it will go like this, with me thinking it’s an unofficial discussion but at the same time David is fishing to strike the right tone for Farnum. Apparently, myself and the man I’m playing are inextricably linked in his mind. 

			“I don’t know why he went and made Farnum so greedy,” I think. “How does he know that’s how I am?”

			We also have a tremendous writing staff on this show. One, a gentleman named Jody Worth, is especially good at looking out for Farnum and me. Another excellent staff writer is Regina Corrado. But no one harbors any illusions that Deadwood is anything other than Milch’s singular vision.

			David’s personal issues have been well-documented, so I don’t feel the need to go into too much detail. But his demons are legion. He’s a former heroin addict and longtime compulsive gambler who always conducted an internal battle with his dark side. It’s even rumored that he’s manic-depressive, though every writer is manic-depressive in my opinion.

			One time, an article comes out talking about how David has given up his gambling habit and he responds, “I did? That’s news to me.”

			That David is such a free spirit and force of nature also makes for some rough sledding in the production. You can never relax when you’re a writer or performer in a Milch project, because the pages written on Tuesday are liable to be completely different on Wednesday before having to be memorized on Thursday.

			We are kept in a state of constant hyper-vigilance and apprehension. We’re always being fed new lines at the last-minute due to David’s obsessive need to change, improve, alter and otherwise modify.

			This is especially difficult in my case because much of my dialogue is written in Shakespearean iambic pentameter. It’s a much bigger challenge in my sixties than it would have been in my thirties.

			I’m reading something in rehearsal and suddenly I’m told, “Nope, that’s the wrong Page 18. Didn’t you get the new one?”

			“I thought so,” I reply, a bit confused. “You mean the one that came through three hours ago?”

			“Oh no, that was two Page 18’s ago. So, I guess that means you also probably don’t have the new 29, 33 and 47, either.”

			“Nope, probably not.”

			This kind of confusion goes on constantly. The way David runs the set, you can’t make plans, you can’t commit to an interview, you can’t even make dinner arrangements because you don’t know when you’re going back to work. It could be at one in the afternoon. It could be at eight at night. He’s changing up the call time in addition to constantly modifying the script.

			Sharon’s father comes to visit one day. I’m supposed to start shooting at six that night. But I get a call at 1 p.m. telling me I have to report to the set immediately. It wreaks havoc with our plans.

			Such are the vagaries of creative genius. The man likes to live on the edge.

			Yet if David has a dual-personality, I don’t see the morose part. He’s always up and engaged. In fact, he’s fond of acting out the scenes himself before we start in on rehearsal – doing the dialogue and gestures like a whirling dervish. It’s kind of a micromanaging thing.

			Then there is Friday night.

			Every single Friday night, David hands out money. I mean real money, $100 bills. Not to the actors but the crew, as thanks for a job well done after wrapping the episode, including for going overtime without complaint.

			He draws a name out of a hat and gives that person $100. Then he draws three or four more names, and one of them gets $500. It’s a tradition that goes back to his days on NYPD Blue. If there are fifty people on the crew, maybe twenty of them get money. But it’s not like one or two or three. It’s nearly half of the people.

			I’ve seen Milch hand out as much as $5,000 in a single night. I don’t know how the unions might view this. It’s just an eccentric guy reaching into his own pocket, so you really can’t gauge it.

			Unofficially, David also directs every episode. I mean, we have someone nominally named as director, but it’s really him. He’s in charge, and the actual director naturally defers to him.

			We shoot the series at a place called Melody Ranch in a town about thirty-five minutes north of Los Angeles without traffic. The place was formerly owned by the great cowboy actor Gene Autry. I’m grumbling one time about something and one of the Teamsters shoots back, “Come on. How difficult is it, Bill?”

			He’s right. I should spend more time counting my blessings than trying to find things that irk me. I’ve got it pretty good.

			Just working on a set with such amazing professionals as I have on Deadwood is a singular joy. They’re all esteemed actors and good people – well, most of them, anyway.

			It all starts with our star, Tim Olyphant. He’s our leader on the set, and we’re lucky because the tone of the show filters down from the lead. So, it’s great that he’s a particularly decent and respectful person who carries himself lightly. No star trips, no self-importance.

			Tim isn’t in many of my scenes, but we do have one particularly memorable one where he beats the crap out of me, to the edge of death. Fortunately, it’s much more traumatic for my stunt double, Bobby Burns, than it is for me.

			As I’ve said, my primary partner in crime on the show is McShane, who is as good a villain as I’ve ever worked with. We get into it while we’re working but practice great professional respect. A lot of it is like family squabbling. I might glance at a script before a scene to be sure I know my lines and he’ll snap, “Put that thing away!”

			But Ian is good company and consistently fun to be with. You always put up with a lot more when you know you’re working with a pro.

			What works well for the two of us is the mutual sharing of frustrations. It’s nothing major, just the usual griping. I guess Ian thought that our castmate Powers Boothe was somewhat bitter because Powers had the impression he was going to be cast in Ian’s much bigger role. He fell ill before the pilot was shot and had been, in the meantime, replaced by Ian. Once he recovered, he was given a different lead role.

			Actually, the Al Swearengen part was – as legend has it – originally offered to Ed O’Neill. But HBO nixed it because O’Neill was so connected to his Al Bundy role on Married…With Children.

			Powers was an awfully good villain but could be annoying. One day just before doing a scene, he called loudly over to the script supervisor, “What’s Sanderson’s cue?” – as if I’m somehow too stupid to remember it. I don’t appreciate this. It’s patronizing. Knowing my place in the pecking order, I keep my mouth shut. I want to say, “I’m right here, MF, ask me.”

			Later that day, Ian says of this incident with Powers, “Aww, he’s just a big girl.” That makes me feel better. This also becomes our private name for Boothe: Big Girl.

			I’ll never complain about what I get to do on Deadwood. One scene in particular stands out. It’s directed by Ed Bianchi and finds me delivering a monologue while I’m obliged to furiously clean blood from a fresh kill off of my hotel floor.

			Farnum scrubs and scrubs while bemoaning his fate.

			“You have been tested, Al Swearengen. And your deepest purposes proved there’s gold on the woman’s claim. You might as well have shouted it from the rooftops! That’s why I’m jumping through hoops to get it back. Thorough as I fleeced the fool she married, I will fleece his widow, too, using loyal associates like Eustace Bailey Farnum as my go-betweens and dupes. To explain why I want her bought out, I will make a pretext of my fear of the Pinkertons.

			“I’ll throw Farnum a token thief. Why should I reward E.B. with some small fractional participation in the claim? Or even let him lay by a little security and source of continuing income for his declining years? What’s he ever done for me except let me terrify him every goddamned day of his life till the idea of bowel regularity is a forlorn fucking hope? Not to mention ordering a man killed in one of E.B.’s rooms. So every fucking free moment of his life, E.B. has to spend scrubbing the bloodstains off the goddamned floor to keep from…having to lower his rates. Goddamn that motherfucker!”

			Anyway, Bianchi doesn’t yell “Cut!”, so I keep going, keep acting. I begin to ad-lib and escape myself a bit, as David always talks about. I’m on a roll.

			The director finally cuts it and runs around saying, “I got him in a tantrum! I got him in a tantrum! I’m gonna use it!” And I’m like, “What?” I’m not in a tantrum. I’m acting. I’m playing a character. I’m not losing my focus.

			Evidently, he can’t tell I’m performing. It’s psychodrama to him. I suppose I should be flattered. I always assume that at the end of a take, if the director doesn’t yell “Cut!”, keep going.

			It all kind of irritates me. But I get some of the best feedback for any scene I’ve ever done. So, there’s that.

			It’s difficult to mess it up when you’re written the greatest dialogue on television. I also just love working with this cast. The only one with whom I have any tension is Molly Parker, who plays Alma Garrett. She’s always gracious to me but seems extra-nervous the few times we work a scene together. I push to keep things loose.

			One time in the makeup trailer, I assure Molly, “For every thirty people who don’t like me, there are fifty who have never heard of me.” This gets her to crack a smile.

			Working with Paula Malcomson (who plays Trixie the whore) is also a pleasure. A very sweet woman, she’s nothing at all like her character and is simply fearless in her acting. It’s people like her who make me excited to come in to work every day.

			Critics take a notice, too. David Bianculli of the New York Daily News writes on March 5, 2005, “Deadwood has such bench strength and well-developed characters that when (Al) Swearengen isn’t there, I don’t miss him. Actors like William Sanderson, as Deadwood Mayor and Swearengen toady E.B. Farnum, can walk by Seth, mock his swollen and beaten face with two well-chosen words (“town pugilist”) and make me laugh out loud.”

			But wait, there’s more. To wit:

			• Roger Caitlin, Hartford Courant, 3/5/05: “William Sander-son, whose best-known role on TV has been as Larry, brother of the Darryls, on Newhart, is so funny as hotel owner and would-be schemer E.B. Farnum – with his fumbling and overly-flowery oratory – he could practically carry his own comedy.”

			• Susan King, Los Angeles Times, 6/11/06: “The Memphis-born Sanderson is a scene stealer as the oily – and often creepy – E.B. Farnum, the default mayor of the lawless western town and operator of the Grand Central Hotel.”

			• Sam Adams, Indie Wire, 6/13/13: “Part of running a successful show is knowing how best to take advantage of the many talents at your disposal. That David Milch deliberately wrote long monologues for Deadwood actor William Sanderson, whose discomfort with extended speeches fed the constant anxiety of his perpetually ill-at-ease character E.B. Farnum, hardly contradicts Milch’s influence. In fact, it’s a prime example of a creative force turning a potential negative into a positive, seeing something no one else saw.”

			The truth is that I’ve never received better notices for my work than I consistently do on Deadwood. Perhaps partly for that reason, I’m able to generate scads of PR and press for the show. 

			It gets to the point where the other actors take notice of all the press I’m generating and hint at a certain jealousy, as has happened in the past.

			“Who’s your publicist?” one will ask.

			“There goes Mr. Promo,” Ian says. “Make way for Mr. Promo.”

			But I agree with P.T. Barnum, who said, “Without promotion, something terrible happens: Nothing!”

			We also win a lot of awards: A Golden Globe for Ian’s performance and Primetime Emmys for Walter Hill’s direction of the pilot as well as for makeup, cinematography, sound editing, art direction and for Janie Bryant’s costumes. We also receive a Screen Actors Guild nomination for the ensemble, which includes me. I’ve never been on a series so highly praised and decorated.

			Cracked.com also votes me as one of the fifteen funniest people of 2006. I come in fourteenth. Number one on that list is Jack Black, followed by Sacha Baron Cohen, Steve Carell, Stephen Colbert, Jeremy Piven, Seth Green and Matt Seinreich, Tina Fey, Opie & Anthony, Ricky Gervais, Jimmy Kimmel, Rainn Wilson, Andy Samberg & The Lonely Island Guys, and me!

			 • • •

			In 2006, coinciding with the launch of the third season, Milch puts together a very impressive hardcover book entitled, “Deadwood: Stories of the Black Hills” that features various factoids, biographies of the characters, genuine info about the time and about the real people depicted in the series and all sorts of other nuggets – all pulled together by David’s sublime way with words.

			He waxes eloquently and with great insight about my character’s journey in the series:

			“When I began writing Deadwood, E.B. Farnum was a more unreflective kind of oily type. There was none of the lavish self-contradiction and doubt that lie at the heart of the character that you see now. Part of Billy’s process is to sort of tear himself down before he allows himself to act. So, I incorporated that dimension of fearful uncertainty and self-doubt into the character, to make Farnum more fully accessible to Billy, and we got on with the show.

			“I encouraged him to submit the whole of his process to the character, rather than to go through his debilitating anticipation of how he would mess things up.”

			Does this man know me better than I know myself, or what?

			There’s more: “In Farnum, one humor is continuously in the ascendant, an obsequiousness, a need to please, which is based in an absolute resentment and a sense of inadequacy. Because that obsequious humor is so constant, the extravagance of Farnum’s language is absolute and unqualified. He resents purely, and in an exalted fashion. There is nothing more self-denying or frightened, and at the same time more billowing and grandiose, than Farnum in full sail.”

			Wow. Can you tell David Milch has quite the imagination? He certainly has a colorful way with words. To be sure, no one has put more thought and energy into a character I’ve played.

			In the same book, David describes a conversation I have with the disheveled, eccentric cook Richardson (played by Ralph Richeson) during the third season, after Farnum is beaten nearly to death by Seth Bullock (Timothy Olyphant) and Richardson tries to treat his wounds:

			FARNUM: “Could you have been born Richardson, not egg-hatched as I’ve always assumed? Did your mother hover over you, snaggle-toothed and doting, as you now hover over me?”

			RICHARDSON: “I love my mother.”

			FARNUM: “Puberty may bring you to understand what we take for mother-love is really murderous hatred and a desire for revenge.”

			That is indeed some grand prose.

			An interview I gave about my experience and my character on Deadwood is included in that same book. Here it is:

			E.B. FARNUM – Proprietor, Grand Central Hotel

			(As interpreted by WILLIAM “BILLY” SANDERSON)

			“They say this Farnum’s a weasel or a sycophant. David Milch calls him a buffoon, and that’s all right with me. Everybody hates my character, so they treat me like I’m contagious or infectious on the set. I heard directors on the early episodes we shot tell Keith Carradine, ‘You don’t like this guy.’ And Brad Dourif, Doc Cochran, says, ‘I hate this guy,’

			“What I have to say means about as much as a bent coin coming out of a Coke machine. But I can tell you how it is. David has given me – they tell me – somewhat flowery or pseudo-Shakespearean language for my character. I think he has elements of the real Farnum, and a lot of David’s beautiful imagination. The real Farnum was the mayor, and he dispensed justice out of the thoroughfares.

			“I can’t allow myself to think everybody hates me. I don’t think Farnum’s as pure as the falling rain. I’m not that out of touch. What’s good about him? That he survived this long in a town where brute force is the main thing. I wouldn’t say he has a lot of friends. I don’t think he wants friends, he wants sycophants.

			“Farnum, he’s smart. But it would have been nice if he was intelligent. He’s not as smart as he thinks he is. That’s one thing for sure. Farnum has lots of self-doubt, and that’s no problem for me to play. He’s scamming and trying to make money. He’s greedy. And I fight that in my life. He likes Al. It’s unrequited love. He probably would change loyalties to Hearst or Tolliver, or pretty much anybody, like a prostitute, but he’s very fond of Al. He wants to be Al. The heart has its reasons that reason doesn’t know.

			“The only person I’ve ever met who talks like Farnum is David. It comes trippingly off his tongue sometimes, and he’ll say Hawthorne says this and that, you know, and that we’re all imposters. I had some English professors that were pretty eloquent, and some law school professors that lost me. But not like this, no. I’m just learning how to speak the language.

			“You work many years to get a role like this, and then you’re afraid of losing it. So I’m at David’s mercy, but I feel he’s been very generous with me. If somebody says, ‘What do you think about David?’, I’ll ask, “Which one?’ ‘Cause I think he’s been very benevolent to me, but I’m ready for that ax to fall. You don’t know quite what you’re going to do from week to week. I suppose like other shows, you can be killed off – there’s no guarantee. I just choose to practice a little self-deception and say, ‘Well, David is fond of me.’

			“What I have learned from playing this character is that miracles happen. Farnum’s still alive! He’s got a hundred thousand dollars! He’s got some very strong friends! It’s a miracle that he has a hotel.”

			I’ll also add here that I will be forever grateful to David Milch and E.B. Farnum for permitting me to express myself in a way I never could in real life.

		

	
		
			Chapter 20

			‘TRUE BLOOD,’ ‘BAR KARMA,’ NERDISM – AND ROBIN

			Long Beach, California – August 2007

			With the breakout success of Deadwood, I’ve done it. I’ve beaten the dreaded “Newhart Curse” that Bob Newhart had talked about and supposedly prevented anyone on the show from being in a second hit series.

			I figure that while I’m at it, maybe I should really press my luck and go for a third one.

			Not much more than a year after Deadwood wraps, True Blood falls into my lap. I get a call from my agent, Harry Gold, that HBO is interested in me for a role on this new vampire series based on the The Southern Vampire Mysteries series of novels by Charlaine Harris.

			I’m a little surprised that I still have to audition, since the show has the same casting director I’ve just worked for on Deadwood in Libby Goldstein. Why not just hand me the job? Maybe because I’ve never met Alan Ball, the brilliant creator, executive producer and head writer who won an Oscar for writing American Beauty and took home an Emmy for his great mortuary family drama on HBO, Six Feet Under.

			Before doing my reading for the producers, I read several of the Harris novels and note that the character I’m reading for, Bud Dearborne, has appeared in all of the books up until that time.

			After I come in and audition, Alan gives me a short note. I read the part again. We make some small talk about bigots and I make the point, “It doesn’t matter, they don’t see themselves as bigots.”

			Alan agrees with me about bigots. But I leave the reading feeling unsure, especially after he tells me he’s never seen Deadwood. Fortunately, it’s not long before I discover that I’m hired, likely because Libby talks Alan into it. Whatever works, I always say.

			True Blood details the co-existence of vampires and humans in Bon Temps, a fictional small town in northwestern Louisiana, and the adventures of a telepathic waitress named Sookie Stackhouse when she enters this supernatural world and meets a Southern gentleman (and vampire) named Bill Compton.

			My character, Sheriff Bud, is a quiet, provincial man. He’s shown to be a bit lazy and set in his ways. Bud remains suspicious of vampires throughout the show. He doesn’t understand all of the interest and fascination in them and believes things were easier in Bon Temps before they “came out.”

			(In this series, vampires are something of a stand-in for gay people. It’s an interesting analogy.)

			I’m excited to be doing a show with Ball and equally so to be working with star Anna Paquin, who was only eleven when she won an Academy Award for The Piano. When the show starts, she’s twenty-five and a very talented young woman. She will also fall in love, marry and have two children with her British co-star, the gifted Stephen Moyer (The Starter Wife), who plays Bill.

			While True Blood is very much a star vehicle for Anna, it has some other gifted performers as well, including Chris Bauer (Third Watch, The Wire) as Sheriff Andy Bellefleur and Ryan Kwanten (Summerland) as Jason Stackhouse. The cast is mostly young and generally very easy to get along with, but Chris and Ryan are two of my favorites.

			When we start filming the pilot, there’s immediately a wardrobe issue, which for me is sadly the biggest issue of all. I can’t get them to take seriously the need for a genuine cowboy hat like I see described in the Harris books. I’m looking for a Resistol or at least a Stetson.

			The costume designer instead throws me a half-dozen cheap knockoffs. Most of them don’t fit. I am not a happy actor.

			I ultimately call in Alan to arbitrate. He’s directing and frankly isn’t interested in niggling details like this. He ultimately sides with the designer, Danny Glicker. But Danny finally acquiesces and I get to wear the hat that I want.

			Now I’m happy, but I guess I’ve generated some resentment on literally day one. Nice going, Sanderson.

			Shreveport, Louisiana and Long Beach – 2008-10

			It takes a little getting used to that I’m the old geezer of this cast and crew. Deadwood was a much older show in terms of its orientation. True Blood is comparatively young and hip. Don’t get me wrong, I like that youthful energy. But at the same time, I feel like I’m viewed as the cranky codger.

			Maybe it’s because I am.

			Mind you, it isn’t as if I’m not shown plenty of respect. That’s especially true of Chris Bauer, who not only is a fantastic actor but also a magnificent person, husband and father. He attended Yale Drama School and has a great theatre background. He works constantly and even logged a season on the superb HBO drama The Wire.

			Chris puts up with all of my geezerly ways and my bitching and my boring him with tales of the good ol’ days. He sits and patiently listens and even seems interested. I’ve never met someone on a project with his set of interpersonal skills. Just a tremendous guy.

			I also love working with Ryan, an ex-boxer who loves to jabber with me about my past projects and accomplishments.

			I’m talking here as if I’m a thousand years old. Compared to these whippersnappers, I am. That’s especially true of Anna, our star, a top-notch actress who also likes to keep things light on the set.

			The part of Sookie that Anna is playing originally was I believe written as a buxom blonde. But Alan says he wasn’t interested in casting stereotypes, and it doesn’t hurt to land an Oscar winner in the bargain.

			Anna will never miss a line of dialogue when I’m in a scene with her and is always in control. Here’s an example of a nice exchange between us:

			SOOKIE: “I take it you heard what happened last night with Bill?”

			SHERIFF DEARBORNE: “Kenya told me. She also told me you gotta hint out of line with her.”

			SOOKIE: “If anyone was outta line, it was her! The man I’d be engaged to right now if I gotta chance to say yes, was kidnapped last night and Kenya wouldn’t even file a missing person’s report.”

			DEARBORNE: “Well how the hell can she, Sookie, when the person missing ain’t even a real person?”

			SOOKIE: “Okay, tell me you did not just say that. ‘Cause if you did, I might have to forget that I was brought up to respect my elders. We are all supposed to respect our elders. And since Bill Compton has got about a hundred years on you, I think he deserves at least a hint of your respect…There’s a woman, a vampire actually. Her name is Lorena Krasiki and I think she’s the one who took him. I need your help to find her.”

			DEARBORNE: “You have to understand, Sookie. I got dead bodies pilin’ up on me. Dead bodies and I can’t be spending this department’s limited resources followin’ up on hunches about vampire-nappings.”

			SOOKIE: “See, I don’t think I should have to understand that because I love Bill just like you love your wife and your children and your grandchildren. So to my mind, that makes him worth following up on.”

			Anna will deservedly receive great notices, winning a Golden Globe for the part. And she gives me a little sister-like kiss on the cheek during a party at her house, so I feel an affection from her.

			But I sense the generation gap one time when I walk in for a table read dressed colorfully as I often am, with black jeans, a pink shirt and pink tennis shoes with Mickey Mouse on them.

			With the cast gathered around Anna, she takes one look at me and yells, “Are you gay?”

			Now I’m completely embarrassed. I’m not sure if she’s serious about it, if it’s a real question or just some way to call me out for my flamboyant fashion choice. I’m sure she isn’t really questioning my sexual orientation.

			“Uh, I don’t know what to say,” I admit haltingly.

			My flummoxed state inspires some nervous laughter in the room. I hate drawing this kind of attention, though I guess I sort of put it on myself with the way I dress.

			The room moves on. But the moment stays with me.

			There will be another interesting exchange where Anna makes a joke about my habit of constantly apologizing, no doubt a remnant of my Southern upbringing.

			“Oh,” I explain, “I hate myself.” 

			“Don’t we all?” comes her reply. I take this as empathy.

			It isn’t long after we premiere that word comes back: True Blood is a hit with critics and audiences alike.

			Robert Bianco writes in USA Today: “Sexy, witty and unabashedly peculiar, True Blood is a blood-drenched Southern Gothic romantic parable set in a world where vampires are out and about and campaigning for equal rights. Part mystery, part fantasy, part comedy and all wildly imaginative exaggeration, Blood proves that there’s still vibrant life — or death — left in the ‘star-crossed lovers’ paradigm. You just have to know where to stake your romantic claim.”

			My agent exults, “Do you know how many actors get two hit series in a row?”

			The answer is very few. So, I feel extremely lucky. We also get nominated for several Screen Actors Guild Awards for Outstanding Ensemble and win one. Lots of Golden Globe and Emmy nominations, too (and one Emmy win in 2009 for the casting of Junie Lowry-Johnson and Libby Goldstein).

			I’m also making a much healthier salary on True Blood than I did on Deadwood or really anything else I’ve done. I have a guaranteed number of shows to be paid for, whether I’m in them or not.

			This isn’t meant to be boasting but indicative of what drives actors no matter how successful or how many projects they have under their belt. It’s all about survival. Yesterday is gone, tomorrow a pipedream. All performers have is today, and we need to earn as much as we can because we never know when our next job will come – if ever.

			Yet while the compensation is first-rate, I feel underutilized. I just don’t get enough time in the scripts. Even Charlaine Harris will comment in the press, “I wish they’d give William Sanderson more to do.” To be fair, there isn’t all that much more of Sheriff Bud in her books, either.

			Instead of giving me more, though, the show gives me less. Much less. In fact, nothing. They retire me from the show after three seasons even as the show continues forward. Why this happens, I haven’t really a clue.

			I can’t say I’m devastated by it, however. I’m honestly looking for new challenges. And providence will quickly deliver one my way.

			Brooklyn, New York – 2010-11

			An opportunity comes for me to be a regular on my third series in less than a decade. It’s a sci-fi show entitled Bar Karma, I’m one of three leads, and it will be shooting in New York.

			As happens so often in my life, whenever there’s a disappointment or setback, something better invariably comes along. Since I’m not in the fourth season of True Blood, I’m handed an opportunity to go home again, in a sense.

			I’m centering my own rags-to-riches story: starving actor leaves New York City for the big time of Hollywood after living in the Seventies in a $90 a month cold water flat in Greenwich Village and returns thirty years later as some version of a conquering hero.

			I like it.

			My wife knows how much I want to take this gig so I can, in a sense, tie up any emotional loose ends I feel after making my escape from New York.

			“I don’t want you to have any regrets,” Sharon tells me, generously.

			So, we rent a furnished apartment in the Turtle Bay area of Manhattan, subletting from my old law school buddy, Mike Long. The place is across the street from where Katharine Hepburn and Bob Dylan lived for years. Stephen Sondheim is my neighbor. Very cool.

			Meantime, the show I’m going to work on sounds positively revolutionary. Bar Karma is a kind of newfangled Twilight Zone being produced for the Al Gore-owned experimental network Current TV. It’s also described as the first online community-developed network TV series, where internet users pitch their own ideas for scenes and plot twists. Storyline by committee.

			The general plotline of the show centers on an interdimensional bar that serves as a kind of way station for lost souls, a cosmic fix-it shop rather similar to the real ones where I used to work in Manhattan as a bartender.

			And talk about coming full circle. In Bar Karma, I’m playing a bartender, though this one (named James) happens to be 20,000 years old. My co-stars are Matthew Humphreys (Big Love) as the bar owner, Doug, and Cassie Howarth (Deranged High) as the spunky waitress, Dayna.

			Unfortunately, the reality of what I’m led to believe the situation will be turns out to be far different. After shooting the low-budget pilot in Brooklyn, we’re told we’ll actually be filming the series itself in Manhattan near where I’m living. Instead, we do it in Newark, New Jersey.

			There is, in fact, nothing first rate about the production. But the year we spend making Bar Karma (it isn’t renewed) isn’t a catastrophe by any means. For one, it gets me back to New York. For another, the show winds up generating a story on the front page of the New York Times Arts section – with my picture!

			Hollywood – 2012

			Surprise! I get called back to do two more episodes on True Blood for the fifth season. It seems they want to wrap up the Sheriff Bud arc, put me in an Obama mask, transform me into a full-on villain and kill me off – all of which is just fine by me.

			I’m feeling somewhat passive-aggressive about the whole thing, however, so I decide on a whim to get a crewcut. I don’t ask permission in advance. I just do it, hoping they’ll think it a good choice. I figure I just want to do something different with my character.

			When I show up for the first script read-through, you can tell everyone is checking out the hair. All I care about is what Alan thinks. Will he write me out because I look so radically different?

			The fortunate answer is no. All Alan does is smile and run his fingers through my hair like I’m his dog, like a cur.

			What can I tell you? I’m an anarchist at heart. Wouldn’t be an actor otherwise.

			 ToplessRobot.com – May 10, 2012

			Why am I putting something from a website called Topless Robot in my book? Because I’m so honored that this publication has seen fit to choose and debate The Ten Nerdiest Roles of William Sanderson.

			Here is what it came up with:

				10. Skeets in The Rocketeer (1991)

				9. Joe Slaader in Beyond the Wall of Sleep (2006)

				8. Carl Mueller in Sometimes They Come Back (1991)

				7. Ray in Man’s Best Friend (1993)

				6. Deuce in Babylon 5 (1994)

				5. Edward Funsch in The X-Files (1994)

				4. Dr. Karl Rossum in Batman: The Animated Series (1992-94)

				3. Sheriff Bud Dearborne in True Blood (2008-2012)

				2. Oldham in Lost (2009)

				1. J.F. Sebastian in Blade Runner (1982)

			OK. This is rather glorious for many reasons. Firstly, I’ve been embraced as an iconic nerd by the nerd community, which is comprised of the most awkward, sensitive and intelligent outcasts in the world. These are my people, baby!

			Secondly, I have had a sufficiently colorful and varied career to justify the ranking of a breadth of roles, ranging from features to made-for-TV movies to episodic to animation voiceover.

			When I say it honors me to have my own career nerd grading, I’m not joking. It requires a lot of thought, a lot of assessment and a giant investment of time and energy in the career of William Sanderson. It means a lot to this crowd to be taken seriously because they take their entertainment seriously.

			Moreover, I appreciate not only the list but the commentary that follows the post in which the rankings inspire debate about both the roles on the list and those omitted.

			• “Nerdy or not (you decide), his role as E.B. Farnum in Deadwood should have made the list – and not just a mention. Seriously the best character Sanderson has ever portrayed. J.F. Sebastian is a close second.” -Christopher Seavey

			• “I heard a radio interview with Sanderson a while back, and when the host asked him whether he felt good about his career, Sanderson replied, ‘I’ve had gargoyles of insecurity on my shoulders my whole life.’ Just hearing him say a line like that in his awesome drawl, I thought to myself, holy crap, this guy can be self-deprecating and still make it sound badass!” -Jim Culver

			• “How about Dicky Crowe in Maximum Bob?” -Arival Scientist

			• “Am I the only one who’s a little pissed that his role on True Blood made the list, and not his E.B. Farnum from Deadwood? Deadwood is clearly more nerdy, because of its historical ties. True Blood is just vampire porn.” -Amy Jean

			No, Amy Jean, you aren’t the only one. But I can never choose among my alter egos. As an old guy traipsing down memory lane, I’m just thrilled to be talked about at all.

			Atlanta, Georgia – April 2013

			One of my last unfulfilled career dreams is to work with the great Robin Williams (Dead Poets Society, Good Morning, Vietnam). I finally get my wish – and, as it happens, just in time – on a lackluster, low-budget holiday feature entitled A Merry Friggin’ Christmas.

			It sounds great on paper – though paper, unfortunately, never made a movie. Besides Robin, it stars Joel McHale (Community, Ted), Lauren Graham (Gilmore Girls), Candice Bergen (Murphy Brown, Boston Legal) and Oliver Platt (The Big C, Huff).

			My take is that the other names in the cast are also here mostly for the opportunity to work with Robin. The film ultimately won’t even have a theatrical release, going straight to video. And most of my scene winds up on the cutting-room floor.

			It’s quite a nosedive for Williams, who I’m sure got paid peanuts for it after being a $20 million-per-film man at his height. He doesn’t even have a dressing room for this movie. Like the rest of us, he’s staying in a stranger’s suburban house – while the family is at home! It’s like we’re high school kids being put up by host families.

			But Robin doesn’t seem at all discouraged. He passes out embroidered baseball caps to cast and crew and eagerly poses for pictures with fans.

			As production begins, it’s only sixteen months before Robin will make the tragic decision to take his own life. He’d go for another stint in rehab that summer. But now, he’s extremely affable and easily approachable on the A Merry Friggin’ Christmas set – just a complete gentleman.

			When I meet him, consistent with my unfortunate habit, I freeze up. Robin says to me, “I really liked you in Blade Runner…and Deadwood.” And I say…nothing back. I basically dig my toe in the dirt once again, “Aw shucks”-style. I’m simply struck mute to be speaking to this idol of mine.

			In my head, this is how the conversation goes:

			Me: “Robin, it is just the biggest honor to work with you. I loved you in Mork & Mindy and Good Morning, Vietnam and Dead Poet’s Society and The Fisher King and a bunch of other stuff I can’t even remember right now.”

			Robin: “Oh thank you, William. You’re very kind.”

			Me: “Bill, please.”

			Robin: “Bill? Did I serve you food without being aware of it?” 

			Me: “No, I’m saying you can call me Bill.”

			Robin: “Oh that’s a relief. I was worried I was starting to wait on people unknowingly.”

			Me: “No, you’re fine.”

			Robin: “You know, Bill, I really liked you in Blade Runner and Deadwood.” 

			Me: “Oh thank you for that. That’s awfully good of you to say.”

			Robin: “Not so much in Lonesome Dove and Newhart.” 

			Me: “Oh, well…”

			Robin: “And even less in Nash Bridges.” 

			Me: “No, that was Tracey Walter.”

			Robin: “Oh thank God. Well, it’s great to meet you, Bill. Merry Christmas in April!”

			Me: “Merry Christmas in April to you too.”

			Robin: “Oh, and just kidding about Lonesome Dove and Newhart. You were great in everything.”

			Me: “Thank you for that.”

			If only my conversations with big stars could be conducted entirely in my mind.

			Robin dies on August 11, 2014. The film will hit video two months later. I feel blessed to have had a chance to spend a few days with him. But I’m devastated that he was in too much pain to want to continue living.

		

	
		
			Chapter 21

			BACK TO ‘DEADWOOD’

			Melody Ranch, Santa Clarita – October 2018

			From probably the moment we stopped shooting Deadwood in 2006, we’d heard the rumors of a revival. But the more years that pass without it becoming a reality, the more convinced you are that it’ll never happen. Then I started thinking, “Well, even if it does happen, I may already be dead.”

			So I’m still not necessarily giving it all that much credence when purportedly serious talks began in 2017 and the HBO programming chief, Casey Bloys, told a gathering of press that the script David Milch had turned in was “terrific.”

			Mind you, they had already been in talks for two years at that point. After a while, you just stop getting your hopes up.

			Finally, in July of 2018, the green light comes, more than a dozen years after the Deadwood series had concluded. Bloys confirms it at the Television Critics Association press tour gathering in L.A.: A Deadwood movie was indeed coming.

			Now the only question, of course, is if this reboot would include a fella named William Sanderson as E.B. Farnum.

			I hear from my agent to leave October, November and December open. Then the head of the show’s makeup department calls in July to tell me I should start growing my beard.

			All systems are go, save for one minor detail: I have no script. I have a beard, but nothing to read and no deal. Then I find out I won’t be seeing any script until I sign on the dotted line. 

			Now I’m wondering what’s going on. Are they going to kill me off, is that why they won’t let me see the pages? Are they turning Farnum into a child predator? I can’t figure out what’s up. Am I just too old? Do they expect me to beg? No script, no preparation. It makes for a lot of fitful nights.

			Then I discover that the following conversation has ensued:

			HBO: “Isn’t William retired?”

			Agent: “No, he just did a job in Canada. He turns work down.”

			HBO: “Oh.”

			To make a long story longer, while all of this is going on, my agent Sue Wohl leaves the country for two weeks. This sends my level of paranoia into overdrive. Would she leave the country if I were an A-lister?

			So anyway, my agent returns from vacation, and the contract negotiations between HBO and my agent continue apace – a bit protracted. Finally, the contract arrives. I take a chance, roll the dice and sign. I’m glad I did. The script is good. It includes a decent part for me. None of my worst fears are confirmed.

			However, now that I know I’m in the movie, it sparks a whole new set of questions for me: I was in my late fifties and early sixties when I worked on Deadwood the last time. Now I’m pushing seventy-five. Will I lose some cognitive ability? Will I be able to learn my lines and deliver them with the necessary conviction? Do I still have the stamina to shoot late nights and make four a.m. work calls?

			Plus, given Mr. Milch’s propensity to give the actors new lines on the morning we shoot, how will that work? I don’t want to let anyone down or make a fool of myself.

			As one graybeard actor once said to me, “I can’t hear, can’t see, can’t pee.” I mean, you know, I can relate to that.

			Finally, the big day arrives for Sharon and me to travel to California from Pennsylvania. Things don’t get off to the best start. The limo company calls to tell us they don’t have a driver to pick us up and take us to the airport. So we have to scurry around to find a ride. Then once we get to the hotel in L.A. where we have our reservation, they have no verification that HBO is supposed to be paying.

			Alas, these are high-class problems. The shoot itself could not have gone better. It’s like a giant family reunion where you like everybody. There are warm greetings all around. Everyone is happy to be there. It’s like this giant exhale after all of these years of holding our breath as to whether it would happen at all. 

			The director, the script supervisor, the first assistant director and the costume designer return from the original series. Dave Klein, our superb director of photography, also has joined us. They’re all thrilled to be there. So are cast members Timothy Olyphant, Ian McShane, Molly Parker, Paula Malcomson, John Hawkes, Anna Gunn, Dayton Callie, Brad Dourif, Franklyn Ajaye, Robin Weigert, Kim Dickens, W. Earl Brown, Gerald McRaney and myself.

			Sadly, Ralph Richeson and Powers Boothe are missing, having passed years before. But the surviving cast has such trust and respect for each other that being on the set is a high point of my acting career.

			Though I’m not at liberty to say much about the movie if I want to continue living – those non-disclosure agreements are serious business – it follows the ten-year reunion of the camp in 1889 to celebrate South Dakota’s statehood, picking up a decade after the Deadwood series ends.

			There is a lot of conflict, a lot of poignancy, a lot of terrific acting as well as great work from the director, Daniel Minahan. I can also tell you that Farnum is more of a cockroach now than ever. He has a key role in the movie, and he does it without a beard. Yes, I shaved off the beard before boarding the plane to Southern California, leaving my scraggly sideburns and long hair. Why shave the beard? I decide to go with my gut, that I would look better without it and hair/makeup won’t insist on putting a fake one on me.

			It turns out to be a good move. See, in my research, I saw photos of men both with and without beards in late 1880s Deadwood, South Dakota.

			So being sans beard is just as historically accurate.

			I work at Melody Ranch for four weeks on the Deadwood shoot. And as I said, filming is a joy. One of my speeches, I discover, is more than a page long. This is where I’m able to answer the question, “Have I passed my ‘Sell By’ date?” As always, Milch – a genius and a master motivator – helps me tremendously with details he gives me about Farnum that bring tears to a lot of people (including me).

			I have no trouble getting back into character nearly thirteen years later. I guess it’s like climbing back on a bicycle, like muscle memory. The insecurities that I draw on naturally help bring Farnum back to life. Not that I’m ever totally pleased with my own work. Self-doubt continues to cloud my reality. I suspect it always will.

			For this movie, I’m obliged to shoot four twelve-hour days in a row. One night, we finish at two a.m., and I’m still standing and not on the verge of collapse. I’m tougher than I think. I thought I might implode if I didn’t get my daily nappy, but it’s inspiring what you can do when you set your mind to it. Sometimes, you can surprise yourself. I surprised me. 

			I survive.

			When I return to Pennsylvania from the Deadwood movie shoot, I assume I’m all done. We’d wrapped my part. There’s nothing else to do. But Sharon warns me not to do anything to my hair or sideburns just in case.

			“You never know,” she says. Actually, I do know. If it’s me, it probably won’t go completely smoothly.

			Sure enough, I’m back for a few weeks when the phone rings. It’s executive producer Gregg Fienberg on the line. He tells me I have to come back to Santa Clarita, as they’re adding a brief scene to wrap up my character’s story.

			This is one of the things people don’t understand about working in show business. You have your life all planned when suddenly it’s not your own anymore. They needed me back, and I had twelve hours to get there. So, I had to drop everything, pack, plan and get my butt to L.A. I do, on December 5.

			Now I don’t expect anyone to feel sorry for me. It beats the heck out of shoveling coal for a living. But it’s disruptive nonetheless.

			On the second shoot, I have only one line – one line! – and ninety minutes of active set time. But I wind up being there for five days, as the weather isn’t cooperating and we need to wait for a break in the rain.

			I’m left to wonder: Is this my last hurrah? If it is, I’m fine with that, as it’s a pretty good hurrah. Considering how things started for me in my life, it’s been quite a career, and I’m grateful for every minute of it.

			But wait, there’s more.

		

	
		
			Chapter 22

			HOORAY FOR HARRISBURG

			Harrisburg, Pennsylvania – January 2019

			In seventy-five years of life, you can learn a lot of things about yourself. One I know about me is, I love to complain. The Jews have an even more descriptive Yiddish word for it: Kvetch. I can kvetch with the best of them.

			However, if you catch me in an unguarded moment, I’m liable to demonstrate genuine appreciation for what I’ve got. It’s not quite as interesting as griping about everything, but it has the added benefit of being true.

			I’m a closeted quasi-contented soul.

			I’m going to take a chance on boring the hell out of you here in the last chapter to give it to you straight. I never thought I could ever be happy living in a sleepy little city with fewer than 50,000 people where everybody seems to know everybody.

			But I am. Against all odds, I’ve turned into a family man in my elder years.

			I’m one of those grandpas who brags about his kid and grandkids and helps his wife with the chores. I fold clothes and turn the bed down. I load and even unload the dishwasher. During the summer, I’m the official pool boy charged with checking the skimmers and pulling out any trapped critters. I pull weeds until my back gives out, which is after just a couple of minutes. I also take the trash out.

			I’m reminded of a story Bob Newhart told of his wife when she asked him to take out the trash. “If I were Robert Redford, would you ask me to take the trash out?”

			“If you looked like Robert Redford, I wouldn’t ask you to take the trash out,” Ginny shot back.

			Rather than looking constantly in the mirror, I have duties now. I’ve discovered happiness in helping other people. The self-righteousness has begun to melt away. It’s all left me rather shocked. Who knew there could be excitement in walking away from Hollywood? Maybe Sharon did. Certainly not me.

			Of course, I haven’t walked away entirely. I’m still called for the occasional TV guest role or independent film. But on the whole, I’m quite happy being (mostly) retired.

			Domestic bliss? I think this actually could be. My life today is centered in Harrisburg. And let me just state for the record that I like Pennsylvania; I adore Pennsylvania, in fact.

			Sorry Los Angeles. We had a good run. But my heart has been stolen away.

			From whence did this person whom I’ve become emerge? I’m a Hollywood film and TV guy. I can’t be happy living in a small town where the local high school football games are the center of fun on a Friday night. Yet I’m as close to blissful and satisfied as you’re ever likely to find me. Just don’t let word get around. It’ll kill my reputation.

			We now return to my regularly-scheduled rant.

			I like to joke that I’ve been exiled to the island of Elba like Napoleon, living in my wife Sharon’s hometown after thirty-six years in Los Angeles. We had bought, when it came available, the house right next-door to her parents in 2005 and would then jet back-and-forth between the Harrisburg house and our L.A. place in beautiful Uptown Burbank, using PA mostly as our summer home.

			But as we grew older, it became tougher to constantly travel back east. Sharon’s father and grandfather (who was in his late nineties) started to have greater health challenges. I no longer needed the work to survive.

			I got hired on a pair of low-budget films in 2014 – one in Arizona, one in Alabama. It was fun, but it felt like I was starting over somehow. There seemed little point to sticking around L.A.

			So, in 2015, after my wife said “It’s time,” we sold our townhouse in sunny Southern California and took the big plunge, making the move to Central Pennsylvania permanent. Naturally, I was scared. Just because I don’t have to work didn’t mean I didn’t want to work. Acting is a drug, and I was an addict.

			Acting was my entire identity. Who would I be without it? William isn’t nearly as fun or fascinating as the characters I play. What would I talk about? Where would I get my opiate of praise, applause and flattery? How? When? Why?

			It seemed it was time to finally grow up.

			Predictably, it’s been an adjustment. It isn’t easy growing accustomed to a much lower cost of living, significantly cleaner air, far less traffic and a much more agreeable pace. We’re in a peaceful suburb. Plus, when we want sugar, Hershey’s Chocolate World is just a couple of miles away.

			I’ve even taken to writing poetry. I crafted this on the tenth birthday of my magnificent grandson, William Michael Sanderson (a.k.a. Will):

			SIPPIN’ & DREAMIN’

			Sippin’ my life away

			What I do every day

			Dreamin’ I’m ten again

			Reflectin’ on what might have been 

			Watchin’ Will smile

			As we take a walk 

			Even if I can’t hear him 

			When we talk

			Sippin’ my life away

			What I do every day

			I’m becoming the doting dad and grandpa I’d always aspired to be. I love to spoil them all: Andrew and his wife Michelle, Will, Jax, Ben and Maddie.

			I’m sure that people in the show business community think of Harrisburg as a different planet, if they think of it at all. There’s definitely a snobbery when it comes to Small Town USA or anyplace where the entertainment industry doesn’t thrive. But I’ve found there’s a lot to recommend about this area.

			It isn’t that I haven’t spent time in places that weren’t urban or cosmopolitan. My grandfather owned a farm in Kentucky. Memphis was only really about a half-million people when I grew up there. It isn’t the area as much as whom you’re with. And I’m with the right people. You can be happy anywhere when that’s the case.

			I wanted to get back to real people. I like them more than I do those who are posing and trying to act cool, or who give you all of that fake praise and back-slapping that means nothing. Here I find peace and reality.

			There are a lot of fellow veterans with whom I’ve made friends here, which is nice to have in case of the Apocalypse. These are salt of the earth folks who love their country and their God. They like their sports, too.

			We’re in a little suburb of Harrisburg called Swatara Township. Harrisburg itself is the state capital, and it’s actually quite beautiful. But the main thing is that it’s a very livable area, very laid-back.

			The city sits along the Susquehanna River, in the middle of which is City Island where Harrisburg’s baseball team, the Senators, play. Sharon and I enjoy going to games. Sometimes, we even watch from a suite with our friends and family.

			The Susquehanna is certainly no Mississippi River. However, to the locals, it might as well be. There is something of a friendly rivalry between residents on either side of the river. It’s East Shore vs. West Shore. (We’re on the East Shore.)

			Sharon has most of her family and friends right here. I primarily had rivals in L.A., or at least that’s the way it often felt. In Hollywood, it’s tough at any given moment to know who is poised to stab you in the back if you turn around.

			Even though Harrisburg is Sharon’s hometown, she too missed L.A. initially. She lived there with me for twenty-six years, and it had become her home. But as she points out, Los Angeles is different when you get older. Friends move away. Your needs and tolerance levels change.

			Harrisburg better suits where we are in our lives.

			“People think we’re in the middle of the sticks here, but everything is so close when you’re on the East Coast,” she says. “New York City, Washington, D.C., Philadelphia, they’re all a few hours away or less by train. People who live here talk about all of the Broadway plays they attend.”

			I’m enchanted by some of the quaint small-town touches in our neighborhood. There’s a little burger joint and bar nearby and when the waiter or bartender gets a good tip, they ring a bell. It’s old school and charming.

			Our church, Paxton Presbyterian, is just a few blocks away. It’s the second-oldest Presbyterian church in continuous use in the United States, and Sharon’s grandfather was its pastor for thirty-five years. It’s one more thing that really makes this place our home.

			Because it’s me, I was worried that I’d get here and no one would like me. That I’d be out of step with everyone like I usually am. Sometimes I’m actually happy to blend in, though I won’t pretend that being recognized by fans when I’m out and about doesn’t boost my ego.

			“Actually,” my sister-in-law Cindy tells me, “you get recognized here more than you know. All they really need is to hear your voice and they’ll do a double-take. And there are still a lot of people who want your autograph and to have their picture taken with you.”

			“There was also a giant line when you signed autographs at a fundraiser for the church,” Sharon adds. “And the American Legion Post 998 asked you to judge a chili cookoff contest this past spring. You’re really still a celebrity in Harrisburg, even though you probably won’t admit it.”

			She’s right. I won’t admit it. Sometimes, someone will stop me and say, “Hey, you look just like that guy from Deadwood!” And I might say, “Yeah, I get that a lot.”

			The big shocker so far about living in Pennsylvania is that my eccentricities don’t seem to bother anyone. They don’t pay it any attention. Or perhaps they accept me in spite of my character defects and/or flaws. Therefore, I will continue to wear my cape made from the Tennessee flag out by the backyard pool.

			It still surprises me to learn that anyone here actually likes me. My wife says I’m crazy and that her family in particular loves me.

			“The family and neighbors love you,” she points out. “You even learned how to play bingo to be a help when visiting my grandfather.”

			You know, it really has been my honor to grow close to these wonderful people. It’s all about doing the right thing, which is my wife’s unstated motto. And I know where she gets it from.

			I know all of the jokes about mothers-in-law, but let me state unequivocally that her mother, Harriet, is a saint. She sees right through my narcissism, too.

			It reminds me of a story from back when it was still early in my courting of my wife. Sharon’s grandfather had given her a camera, we had a little disagreement, and I decided after too many drinks to hurl said camera out the window.

			I still wasn’t quite sober when I decided to give Harriet a call in Harrisburg.

			“Do you know where Sharon went?” I inquired delicately.

			“Well,” she said, “I believe she went to stay in a hotel because you weren’t behaving yourself.”

			Thinking fast, I explained to Harriet that the reason I had done this is that I was trying to get into character for my next project, an episode of the series Dangerous Curves, “and I tend to overdo it sometimes. I’m very sorry.”

			“Well then, when I see that show,” Harriet replied, “you had better be pretty damn good!”

			The woman drives a hard bargain. Her daughter certainly takes after her.

			No one needs to tell me how fortunate I am that these people took to me so quickly and so completely. As soon as Cindy found out Sharon and I were getting married, she sent me a book called, “How to Speak Dutchified English.”

			How do you speak it? Here’s an example: When a box or a jar of anything is empty, you say, “It’s all.” I, in turn, sent Cindy a book: “How to Speak Southern.” 

			Turnabout is fair play.

			As for my wife, she stuck it out with me in L.A. for better than a quarter-century. So, it’s payback time. I walked away from showbiz to be with the woman I love. It was the right move in so many ways.

			My primary adjustment has more to do with interpersonal relationships than geography. I’d always been used to me-me-me, so I’ve had to shift my thinking to focus instead on we-us-our. Vanity in an actor’s courage. But I’m living proof that an old dog can learn new tricks.

			Living here, I get to see my grandkids more now that we live less than a day’s drive away from them in North Carolina. My wife built me a mancave in our basement as soon as we moved in permanently, a facility that contains all of the necessities to sustain life: a big TV, a Lay-Z-Boy and shelves for my books.

			When I emerge from the cave, I’ve rediscovered the joys of walking (which you do all the time in New York City, never in L.A.). My route takes me across a small bridge, where I stop briefly to see if there are any minnows in the creek, then by a Greek-owned bar-restaurant called The Tops and a local convenience store.

			I’ve had to learn some new skills, too. To say that I’m not the most handy guy in the world would be a radical understatement. So, when I used a tiny hammer to pry old nails out of the living room floor of one of our investment rental properties, the contractor laughed at me, handed me a tool and said, “Here, use a man’s hammer.”

			After four decades living in Southern California, I learned a lesson on shoveling snow the hard way. When I see a layer of snow coating our lawn and sidewalk, I tell Sharon that I’m going to head outside to shovel.

			“Don’t worry about that,” she says, seeing that the sun is coming out.

			But I am determined to fulfill this duty as a husband. I mean, I’m kind of fond of Sharon. So, I go outside and begin “shoveling” the one-inch dusting of snow on the driveway. I should have caught on when I noticed there wasn’t a single other person outside, but I continued anyway.

			After forty minutes – with the sun now shining brightly – I see that the entire block is clear of snow. It’s all melted away. I shouldn’t be surprised that, once again, Sharon is right.

			Who needs performing when there’s snow melt to keep track of? Speaking of which…Here are my reasons for being done with acting:

			It’s a young man’s game. The family needs me more than Hollywood does. I’ve had enough work. Flying is too difficult and my stamina’s not as good. And it’s time to step aside and let the younger generation have its turn. As they say, “Don’t stay too long at the party.”

			Besides, I wouldn’t want to miss our weekly dinners with my brother-in-law Charlie, (a real hero, PA State Trooper and SWAT team leader), Cindy, friends Bob and Dierdre, and of course Sharon. I often prefer to meet somewhere without cloth napkins, which have always made me nervous.

			We like going to the Paxtang Grill on Wednesday nights. It’s a mom-‘n’-pop little hole in the wall, run by the same family for fifty-four years. Spiro, now eighty, still comes in to make his famous homemade crab cakes. We like the laid-back Cheers-style atmosphere, and we’re always happy to see our favorite waitress, Kacy. Of course, I get a kick out of seeing my autographed photo hanging on the wall in the bar.

			Probably the thing that’s taken the most getting used to in PA is the fact I have to park my own car even at nice restaurants – no valet! “May I park your car?” is how they say “Hello” in L.A. Not here.

			What makes it all worth it is something that happened during Memorial Day Weekend of 2016. My son Andy came to visit with his friend and business associate, Tom. Tom had promised to bring venison and cook a glorious meal in our kitchen, which he did.

			The meal was magnificent, and it made me so proud to see my son doing so well and being so happy.

			I’m doing pretty well, too. The reason for that is, I think I’ve learned to take myself less seriously. At least a little bit less. I keep waiting for that mellowing thing to happen that I’ve heard so much about when you get older. In case it isn’t abundantly clear, relaxing is not my strong suit.

			This is still as close to a happy ending as William Sanderson is ever likely to get. If there’s a happier character actor out there, I’d like to meet him.

			It was never supposed to happen for me. Those really weren’t the cards I got dealt. Yet I’ve managed to pack more experiences and adventure into my life than anyone ever expected, least of all me.

			And it’s not over yet.
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